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Today can be perceived in two ways: As a culmination
of the past, or as a starting point for the future. In
Schibsted we apply the latter perspective.
Schibsted is a company in motion – in an industry in
motion. Even if our history goes back 166 years, we are
in many ways a young company. Today’s Schibsted has
primarily been built over the last two decades. At the
same time the media industry is going through large
and radical changes. New media channels emerge and
create new user preferences and new criteria for
success.
We are proud of our achievements and our significant
position in the Scandinavian media industry. But more
than anything else, this is a starting point for what we
are going to create in the future.
Today is not enough.

THIS IS SCHIBSTED
Schibsted is one of Scandinavia’s leading media players. The corporate
head office is in Oslo. Most of its operations are related to Norway and
Sweden, but the Group has operations in nine European countries –
Denmark, Finland, Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, France and Spain, in addition
to those previously mentioned.
From the start in 1839 until 1999, Schibsted was a family-owned newspaper
and publishing company. After 1966, it consisted of Aftenposten, VG and
Chr. Schibsteds forlag. The company had revenues of approximately NOK 2
billion (1989), around 2 000 employees and had operations only in Norway.
In 1989, the company was converted into a limited company with a Group
structure. It was listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange in 1992.

Today, Schibsted has established products and rights in the fields of newspapers, TV, film, publishing, multimedia and mobile services. Content, in the
form of news, information and entertainment, is imparted via paper, the
Internet, TV, cinema, video, DVD and wireless terminals, such as mobile
phones.
In 2004, the Group achieved revenues of NOK 9.7 billion. At the year-end, it
had 5 276 employees, 2 983 of whom are outside Norway.
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Newspapers
No. of people who read
Schibsted’s newspapers each day

8 500 000

Multimedia
Share of the operating
profit in 2004

18 %

5

15 000 000

3 000 000
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Publishing
No. of books printed by
Schibsted Forlagene in 2004

This is Schibsted

TV/Film
No. of viewers of Schibstedproduced TV programmes each week

1
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Schibsted increased its stake in 20
Min Holding AG from 41 per cent to 98
per cent Schibsted acquired 67 per cent
of the shares in Lithuania’s largest
magazine company Zurnalu Leidybos
Group (ZLG) Aftenposten decided to publish the morning newspaper in a tabloid format from the beginning of 2005 Aftonbladet made an operating profit
(EBITA) for the 1st quarter of SEK 56 million, which
is an all-time high Schibsted’s total operating profit
for the 1st quarter came to NOK 182 million. This is
Schibsted’s best-ever 1st quarter result.
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Key Figures

Eight small book publishers were merged to
form one: Schibsted Forlagene Aftenposten AS
and Schibsted Multimedia AS acquired 100 per
cent of Retriever AB, a media intelligence company The Board of Aftenposten agreed to implement an improvement programme for the period 2005-2008.
After it has been carried out, this programme will provide an
annual effect of NOK 180 million Most Norwegian journalists
went on strike following the breakdown of wage negotiations.
The strike lasted for 10 days and cost Schibsted just over NOK 5
million per day TV 2 sold its stake in TVNorge to SBS
Broadcasting for NOK 260 million.

2004
9 690
(8 432)
1 258
(374)

2003
8 555
(7 422)
1 133
(354)

2002
7 872
(6 948)
924
(375)

2001
7 972
(7 309)
663
(391)

2000
8 270
(7 349)
921
(408)

884
326
412

779
701
681

549
494
271

272
56
(387)

513
537
950

Operating margin:
EBITDA margin (%)
EBITA margin (%)
EBIT margin (%)

13.0
9.1
3.4

13.2
9.1
8.2

11.7
7.0
6.3

8.3
3.4
0.7

11.1
6.2
6.5

Profit ratio (%)
Equity ratio (%)
Return on equity (%)
Return on total assets (%)
Net interest bearing debt / EBITDA

1.8
32.7
7.5
6.9
1.0

5.5
36.6
21.5
11.3
0.7

2.0
34.1
7.6
5.8
1.1

(5.4)
32.0
(18.1)
(3.4)
2.1

7.3
37.8
24.2
14.6
1.3

2.55
15.40
1.21

6.92
14.53
3.27

2.26
9.25
1.19

(6.28)
5.44
4.79

8.78
15.15
1.68

(NOK million)
Operating revenues
Operating expenses
Operating profit (loss) (EBITDA)
Depreciation and amortisation
Operating profit (loss) before goodwill
and other revenues and expenses (EBITA)
Operating profit (loss) (EBIT)
Profit (loss) before taxes

EPS and EPS diluted (NOK)
Cash flow per share (NOK)
RISK per share

Operating revenues (NOK billion)

Operating profit (NOK million)
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Newspaper/Multimedia
Schibsted owns the two largest, most widely read daily newspapers in Scandinavia.
Aftonbladet in Sweden is the Nordic region’s biggest newspaper, and VG in Norway,
which is this country’s biggest newspaper. In Norway, the Group also owns the
second-largest newspaper, Aftenposten, publishes avis1 and has stakes in the largest
regional newspapers. In Sweden, Schibsted also owns Svenska Dagbladet.
Schibsted’s international free-newspaper concept, 20 Minutes, was published in 17
towns in three countries – Switzerland, France and Spain – at year-end. These newspapers are among the most widely read in the locations where they are published and
are in total one of the most read newspapers in Europe. They have achieved huge
success in all markets in 2004.
In Estonia, Schibsted is the majority shareholder in the Eesti Meedia Group. This
publishes the country’s two largest newspapers, Postimees and SL Öhtulecht (50%),
as well as several local newspapers and owns a 50 per cent stake in Estonian Magasin
Group, which publishes a number of magazines.
In total, Schibsted’s newspapers (excluding the regional newspapers in Norway) are
read by 8.5 million readers each day. Including the online activities, they have more
than 10 million daily users. The multimedia operations accounted for 18 per cent of
Schibsted’s profits in 2004, based on six per cent of the total revenues. Finn, VG Nett
and Aftonbladet’s online activities were the biggest contributors to this.
From a financial point of view, 2004 was a record year for Schibsted’s newspapers.

OPERATIONS
Aftenposten AS
Verdens Gang AS
avis1 AS
Schibsted Trykk AS
Tidningstryckarna Aftonbladet Svenska Dagbladet AB
European Media Ventures AS
20 Min Holding AG
Svenska Dagbladet Holding AB
Scanpix Scandinavia AB
Blocket AB
Aftonbladet Hierta AB
Harstad Tidende Gruppen AS
Adresseavisen ASA
Stavanger Aftenblad ASA
Tidningarnas Telegrambyrå AB
Fædrelandsvennen AS
Bergens Tidende AS
NTB AS

100 %
100 %
100 %
100 %
100 %
100 %
100 %
99 %
75 %
73 %
50 %
50 %
32 %
31 %
30 %
25 %
24 %
22 %

Estland
AS Kanal 2
AS Eesti Meedia

100 %
93 %

Litauen
UAB Zurnalu Leidybos Grupe (ZLG)

67 %

Advertising volumes
(column meters)
Aftenposten
Verdens Gang
Aftonbladet
Svenska Dagbladet

2004
70 588
7 203
14 633
18 366

2003
66 152
7 489
11 281
19 891

2002
60 366
7 186
9 638
20 271

2001
60 735
7 416
9 930
19 965

2000
61 599
7 690
10 054
28 514

3

/04

4

1

/04

Warner Home Video
gave notice that it would
be taking over the videodistribution operations
in all Nordic countries
that Sandrew Metronome had carried
out since 1999/2000 The Group’s online activities continued to expand
sharply and achieved a 3rd quarter
operating profit (EBITA) of NOK 44
million, equal to 27 per cent of the
Group’s operating profit.

/05

A new reader survey
showed that 20 Minutes
had 2 029 000 readers
each day in France Rolv
Erik Ryssdal was appointed VG’s new CEO following Aslak Ona,
who resigned after 15 years in this job
Carl Gyllfors was appointed the new
CEO of Aftonbladet Schibsted became a
major shareholder in Sweden’s TV4 when
it increased its stake in this company to
20.1 per cent Schibsted ASA announced
that it was going to make a bid for all the
shares in Alma Media.

Aftenposten’s morning newspaper was published in tabloid format Aftonbladet Hierta AB acquired 100 per cent of the directory
enquiries service www.hitta.se
Schibsted entered into an options contract to
purchase further 5.9 per cent of the shares in
Sweden’s TV4 20 Min Holding AG sold its
50.5 per cent stake in 20 Minuten (Schweiz)
SG to Express Zeitung AG Schibsted Mobile
merged with Sweden’s Aspiro. Schibsted is the
major shareholder in the new company,
owning 44.5 per cent Schibsted sold
Tidningstryckarna AB in Stockholm.

2003

2002

2001

2000

7 487
858
405
11.5

6 511
628
587
9.6

6 082
474
379
7.8

6 263
239
91
3.8

6 637
450
463
6.8

BALTICS
Operating revenues
Operating profit (loss) (EBITA)
Operating profit (loss) (EBIT)
Operating margin (EBITA) (%)

327
26
13
7.8

288
28
15
9.7

242
16
(2)
6.6

220
0
(25)
0.2

198
(20)
(39)
(10.1)

TV/FILM
Operating revenues
Operating profit (loss) (EBITA)
Operating profit (loss) (EBIT)
Operating margin (EBITA) (%)

1 282
23
(59)
1.8

1 258
66
50
5.2

1 131
26
10
2.3

1 107
52
26
4.7

1 076
78
66
7.3

PUBLISHING
Operating revenues
Operating profit (loss) (EBITA)
Operating profit (loss) (EBIT)
Operating margin (EBITA) (%)

344
34
24
9.9

349
35
26
10.1

339
34
25
10.1

320
19
5
5.9

277
18
19
6.3

Operating revenues per
business area

CIRCULATION
NEWSPAPERS
TV/FILM
PUBLISHING
BALTICS
OTHER

Aftenposten morning edition, weekdays
Aftenposten Aften, afternoon edition, weekdays
Aftenposten, Sunday

2004
2003
2002
2001
2000
249 900 256 600 263 000 262 632 276 429
148 000 155 400 163 900 167 671 175 783
220 100 232 900 234 700 229 857 235 441

Verdens Gang, weekdays
Verdens Gang, Sunday

365 266 380 190 390 510 387 508 375 983
315 103 314 730 314 422 317 051 313 261

Aftonbladet, weekdays
Aftonbladet, Sunday

444 100 442 100 435 900 401 500 379 933
504 300 489 400 489 800 468 000 454 917

Svenska Dagbladet, weekdays
Svenska Dagbladet, Sunday

179 200 184 600 184 600 172 945 175 771
190 800 194 600 194 300 185 816 190 041

TV/Film

Publishing

Schibsted is one of the leading Scandinavian media companies in the TV and film sector. The Group is a majority
shareholder in Metronome Film & Television, the largest
independent player in the field of Scandinavian film and TV
production. Sandrew Metronome is a leading purchaser and
distributor of films for the cinema, videos, DVDs and TV. In
addition, the company takes part in Scandinavian film productions as a producer and investor.
Schibsted also owns 33.34 per cent of TV 2, Norway’s biggest commercial TV channel, 20.1 per cent of Sweden’s
TV4 and 100 per cent of the second-largest Estonian TV
channel, Kanal 2. 2004 was a challenging year for the TV
and Film operations.

The Group’s publishing operations have grown over the past few
years and in 2004 eight publishing houses were merged to form
one company – Schibsted Forlagene – Norway’s fifth-largest
book publisher, which consists of five divisions:
• Bladkompaniet, which publishes Norwegian and translated
entertainment literature, comics and crime novels.
• Chr. Schibsteds Forlag, which publishes fact books and translated fiction.
• Schibsted Internasjonale Bøker (SIB), which imports and
stocks literature that has not been translated.
• Spesialbladforlaget, which publishes the magazines Maison,
Tique and 4U.
• Dine Penger, which publishes the magazine of the same name.
Revenues in 2004 were the second-best in the history.

OPERATIONS
Metronome Film & Television AB
Sandrew Metronome AB
TV 2 Gruppen AS
TV4 AB

OPERATIONS
65 %
50 %
33 %
20 %

Schibsted Forlagene AS
Full Stop Media AB
Svenska Förlaget AB
Boknöje AB
Manga Media AB
Dagens Medisin AS

Definitions

EBIT margin

Operating profit (loss) / Operating revenues

Return on total assets

Operating margin:
EBITDA margin

Profit ratio

Net income (loss) attributable to majority
interests / Operating revenues
Equity / Total assets
Net income (loss) attributable to majority
interests / Average equity excl. minority
interests

EPS

EBITA margin

Operating profit (loss) before depreciation
and amortisation, goodwill and other
revenues and expenses / Operating
revenues
Operating profit (loss) before goodwill and
other revenues and expenses / Operating
revenues

Equity ratio
Return on equity

Cash flow per share

100 %
100 %
100 %
100 %
50 %
50 %

(Profit (loss) before taxes + interest expenses) / Average total assets
Net income (loss) attributable to majority
interests / Average number of shares
(Profit (loss) before taxes + depreciation
and amortisation +/- net changes in
pensions +/- income from associated
companies – taxes payable) / Average
number of shares

Schibsted Annual Report 2004
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Key Figures and Highlights

(NOK million)
NEWSPAPERS
Operating revenues
Operating profit (loss) (EBITA)
Operating profit (loss) (EBIT)
Operating margin (EBITA) (%)
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METRONOME FILM &
TELEVISION
The Nordic region’s largest
independent company in the
field of TV programmes, drama
series, feature films and advertising films. The company achieved revenues of SEK 743 million
in 2004.

65%

HANNAH

BOKKILDEN

SANDREW METRONOME

The series about Hannah has
spellbound readers. It now has a
circulation of 800 000. A colourful
saga of a family, set in the middle
of the 19th century. Published by
Schibsted Forlagene.

One of Norway’s leading online
bookshops. Offers more than 1.6
million books, mostly in English.
Achieved revenues of NOK 32 million in 2004.

Sandrew Metronome’s business
concept is to create, buy and
manage film rights for all present
and future forms of distribution.

100%

100%

50%

NORA ROBERTS

4U

POSTIMEES

BLOCKET.SE

She is repeatedly on the world’s
best-seller lists, has been translated into 25 languages and has sold
85 million copies of her books.
Nora Roberts has also won several
awards for her authorship.
Published by Schibsted Forlagene.

One of Norway’s leading magazines for 11-16-year-old girls.
Published in an “A5” format. 132
pages full of articles for girls in the
target group.

The largest serious newspaper and
newspaper with the highest circulation – 59 100 – in Estonia. It has
232 000 readers and is wholly
owned by Schibsted.

Classified ads web site that is the
market leader in Sweden for private cars, other vehicles and other
objects.

100%

100%

100%

73%

SCANPIX

AFTENPOSTEN

FINN.NO

VG

TV2

Scandinavia’s largest picture agency. Operations in Norway, Sweden
and Denmark, as well as a subsidiary in the Baltic. Produces and
sells news, file and illustration
images.

The Oslo area’s biggest newspaper,
the second-largest on a nationwide basis and one of Norway’s most
important marketplaces. Advertising revenues of NOK 1.1 billion
and a circulation of 250 000.

Norway’s leading online marketplace
for classified ads. The traffic increased to 1.4 million towards the
end of the year. 1.6 billion page
displays in 2004.

Norway’s biggest newspaper, with
a circulation twice that of its closest competitor. An average of 1.3
million readers each day. Operating
margin 21 per cent.

Norway’s biggest commercial TV
channel and a supplier of news,
information and contents services
on electronic media platforms.

75%

SVENSKA DAGBLADET
Stockholm’s second-largest morning newspaper has been greatly
improved over the past few years.
Circulation of 181 000 in 2004.

99%

100%

HVEM HVA HVOR
(WHO WHAT WHERE)
An annual overview of the news in
Norway and abroad, with monthly
cavalcades and relevant articles.
More than 4.5 million copies of this
book have been sold since it was
first published in 1935. Published
by Schibsted Forlagene.

100%

62%

100%

33%

20 MINUTEN

DINE PENGER

AFTONBLADET

The most-read daily newspaper in
Switzerland, with 782 000 readers.
This free newspaper is distributed
in four cities and has a total circulation of 390 000 copies.

Norway’s biggest financial magazine,
with consumer articles on personal
finances and sound, and not least
independent, personal-finance
advice. Circulation 70 000.

The Nordic region’s largest newspaper. The largest circulation in 28
years in 2004 – 452 300 per day,
an increase of 4 100.

100%

100%

50%

SVD.SE

20 MINUTES

AVIS1

MAISON

VG NETT

Svenska Dagbladet’s online newspaper has relaunched and improved its product. A large increase in
both traffic and advertising revenues. 845 000 unique users in
December.

With more than two million
readers daily, 1.5 million of whom
are in Paris, this is France’s second
most widely read newspaper. This
free newspaper is distributed in six
French cities.

Free newspaper in the Oslo area.
Distributed to all households that
do not subscribe to the
Aftenposten evening edition.
Circulation of 174 000 and advertising revenues of NOK 22 million.

A well-established Norwegian interior-design magazine with an average circulation of 25 700. The
magazine for anyone interested in
design, interiors, food and wine.

Norway’s largest online newspaper
820 000 readers per day during
the fourth quarter of 2004, more
than Aftenposten’s and
Dagbladet’s print editions. The
number of users were up by
50 per cent on 2003.

99%

100%

100%

100%

TIQUE

AFTENPOSTEN.NO

20 MINUTOS

KANAL 2

A leading fashion and trends
magazine with an average
circulation of 16 000.

Increased its user figures per
month by 18 per cent to 1.8 million
in 2004. The fourth largest of the
Norwegian online newspapers.

Spain’s largest free newspaper, it is
distributed in seven cities and read
daily by 1 862 000 readers, most
of whom are young urbanites with
an active lifestyle.

Estonia’s second-largest commercial TV channel. Has a strong position with the commercially important target group – the 18-49 year
olds. Fully owned by Schibsted.

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

GUINNESS BOOK OF
RECORDS
The world’s best-selling book of
records is now 50 years old. Sales
increased by 17 per cent in 2004.
Published by Schibsted Forlagene.

100%

9

INPOC

AJAKIRJADE KIRJASTUS

DRAGONBALL

The story of Petter’s speedy road
to the world championship rally
driver title. Full of pictures from
rally driving events and interesting
pictures from his family album.
Published by Schibsted Forlagene.

Supplies mobile-phone contents
services. Has almost 1 million
members in Norway and Sweden.
www.inpoc.no is one of the 30
most-visited web sites in Norway.

Estonia’s leading magazine publishers, with a 65-70 share of the market. Publishes 14 magazines, of
which the TV magazine Teleleht is
the biggest with a circulation of 50
300. The celebrity magazine
Kroonika has a circulation of 38 200.
Operating margin of 13.9 per cent.

The most successful comic ever,
with more than 200 million copies
sold worldwide. Dragonball has since
the launch in 2004 become the biggest manga-product in Norway.
Published by Schibsted Forlagene.

100%

100%

50%

100%

Mediekategorier

AVIS

MULTIMEDIA

FILM/TV

FORLAG

AFTONBLADET.SE

SL/ÕHTULECHT

PONDUS - FLAT FIRER

Absolutely the most visited media
web site in Sweden. Had 7 338 245
unique visitors in December and a
revenue of SEK 115 million in 2004.

A nationwide tabloid newspaper in
Estonia and the newspaper in this
country that has the largest number of readers – 281 000.
Circulation 57 400. Operating margin 18.7 per cent. Schibsted owns a
50 per cent share of this company.

This year’s best-selling comic,
written by Frode Øverli. 49 000
copies of this book have already
been sold. Published by Schibsted
Forlagene.

50%

50%

50%

% EIERSKAP
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PETTER SOLBERG
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President and CEO
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Kjell Aamot
President and CEO

“There is little doubt that we
are in the midst of a revolution characterised by the fact that
changes are taking place more
quickly and products are being
developed faster than we have
been used to so far.”

13

The national newspaper company has become
an international media company. We have
moved from local competition among a few to
international competition among many. The
market has changed from a traditional newspaper market to a multimedia reality.
Since 1995, Schibsted’s strategic development
has been based on building further on our core
activities. Our foundation has been our knowledge of newspaper and publishing operations.
With the help of strong brands, good content,
marketing capacity, a strong cashflow and great
ability to carry things through, thanks to good
managers and a strong organisation, it has been
possible for us to develop continuously towards
the new platforms.
Some fundamental trends have influenced the
media industry since the mid-1990s:
There are now more channels and changes take
place more quickly. In addition, various channels
are merging. The number of young people reading the printed newspapers has steadily declined. Classified ads have increasingly moved
from paper to the Internet and the mobile phone
has become a new media channel.
The rising number of people who have broadband has accelerated the use of the Internet.
A European survey shows that the time people
spent on the Internet doubled from 2003 to
2004. More than 2.8 million Norwegians used
the Internet in January 2005.
So there is little doubt that we are in the midst of
a revolution - characterised by the fact that
changes are taking place more quickly and products are being developed faster than we have
been used to so far.
Some of the measures implemented by
Schibsted in this changed market have been:
The free newspaper 20 Minutes was launched in

December 1999 and by the year-end 2004 it had
4.6 million readers in 17 towns in Switzerland,
Spain and France. This newspaper particularly targets younger readers. In Switzerland, 25 per cent
of 10-13-year-olds read newspapers more than
once a week before 20 Minutes was launched.
In 2002, this figure had increased to 85 per cent
and our free newspapers are making money.
FINN.no and blocket.se have been the answer to
the classified ads’ shift to the Internet. During its
short lifetime, FINN has managed to become
Schibsted’s most profitable company. It has
developed technology that is in international
demand. Blocket is absolutely the biggest
Swedish website in the e-commerce sector. The
online newspapers are also achieving good
results. In total, our online activities accounted
for 18 per cent of Schibsted’s operating profit in
2004. Online activities will continue to be a
growth area for us.
Inpoc, Schibsted Mobile, which has now become
Aspiro, represents our offer to mobile-phone
users. Mobile telephony as a media channel is
expanding rapidly in areas where there is a high
density of mobile phones, ie, all the areas in
which we operate. And new services for young
people are popping up with increasing frequency.
It is too early to say what the media world will
look like after the ongoing revolution. Many people predicted the demise of the paper newspapers a long time ago. They are not necessarily
right. We see that these newspapers are still
developing and still creating a financial basis for
Schibsted’s operations.
However, one special feature of the current
developments is that they are taking place extremely quickly. The media channels are not only
increasing in number, they are also merging with
each other to an increasing extent. Opportunities
to respond using text messages, the telephone
and Internet are closely integrated with TV programmes. Newspapers, TV and radio continue
debates on their own websites. Online radio is
growing, as is “chatting” on TV.
In such a situation, it is important to have an organisation that can turn around quickly in order to
keep up with developments. Our focus is on developing our organisation and management. It will be
important for us to have employees who are up-todate with developments. Developing the expertise

of our managers and employees has taken on a
new dimension, and Schibsted is making active
efforts to recruit new, talented employees and further develop those who already work for us. This
takes place through, among other schemes, the
Schibsted Management Trainee Programme and
other management development programmes.
Those who are best at adapting to change will be
the winners.
Schibsted’s management philosophy can be
characterised by two key words: “independence”
and “cooperation”. We believe in allowing our
companies to develop on the basis of their traditions and distinctive qualities. And we believe in
the benefits that being part of a large group of
companies can provide.
Schibsted has wanted to grow in the Nordic TV
market for a long time. This was also the starting
point for our offer to buy Alma Media before
Christmas 2004. Although we did not achieve
our main goal, we have secured a position in
Sweden’s TV4 that may be an important card to
hold in the future structural changes taking
place in the Nordic TV market.
We also managed to make a structure that has
been fixed for many years more dynamic. This
process will continue in the future. We have
completed this project but are utilising the experience we have gained in our further work.
After two years of focusing on our core activities
and profitability, growth was a key word for
Schibsted at the start of 2004 - and we have
managed to grow. 2004 was the best year in
Schibsted’s history. Our revenues increased by
13 per cent to NOK 9 690 million, and our operating profit (EBITA) rose by 13 per cent to NOK 884
million.
These results will allow us to continue growing.
And Schibsted’s strategy will continue to be to
strengthen and further develop our traditional
media while also seeking growth and development in new media. We want to utilise our position as a key supplier of contents in the major
change processes that are taking place in the
media industry. Through our strong brands and
organisational culture, we have laid the foundation for further growth, irrespective of which
growth opportunities we choose to realise in the
time to come.
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It is 16 years since I became President and CEO
of the Schibsted Group. As a newly established
limited company that had been a family-owned
media company, two newspapers and a small
publishing house was the basis for the small
Group management. The Group consisted of
Aftenposten, VG and Chr. Schibsteds Forlag. We
were a large national newspaper with a small
publishing house on the side. Major changes
have taken place since then.

President and CEO

In the midst of a revolution

The Schibsted Group

T DAY
TV/Film

Newspapers
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Today
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Multimedia

Publishing

The founder of the Schibsted Group,
Christian Michael Schibsted, came
from a poor family. He was orphaned
at an early age and, at the age of nine,
was placed in one of Oslo’s orphanges,
Christiania Opfostringsanstalt. This
had bought a printing house that had
the right to publish the newspaper
called “Christiania Intelligentssedler”.
Christian Michael Schibsted was trained as a typographer and printer at
this institution and gained some
insight into newspaper operations.

Christian M Schibsted thus suddenly
lost a good source of income. As a
countermove, he quickly launched a
new newspaper, Christiania
Adresseblad, which was first published on 14 May 1860. It had been renamed Aftenposten by the end of the
next year, and that is when things
really started to take off. Thus,
Bjørnstjerne Bjørnson’s brief period as
an editor was the cause of the creation of what was to be a large media
group.

That is the background for what in
1839 became the start of the
Schibsted Group. At that time, 35year-old Schibsted entered into a
partnership with Johan J Krohn and
started his own printing house, after
having worked at several of the capital’s printing works.

Over the years, Schibsted was run as
a family-owned newspaper and
publishing company consisting of
Aftenposten and Chr. Schibsteds forlag. In 1966, VG joined the Group.
Things carried on like this until 1989,
150 years after the start, when the
family-owned company was converted into a limited company with a
group structure. It was listed on the
Oslo Stock Exchange in 1992.

This printing house produced small
books and brochures, and gradually
Schibsted started to print some magazines. He won the order to print a
humorous newspaper called Krydseren,
which became a success and gradually
developed into a liberal daily newspaper
called Aftenbladet. In 1859, the poet
Bjørnstjerne Bjørnson was hired as
Aftenbladet’s editor, but his political
line soon caused conflict and the
newspaper lost subscribers. Bjørnson
had to leave and the newspaper was
sold to the printer Fabritius in Kristiania
(now Oslo) in the spring of 1860.

wireless terminals, such as mobile
phones. Revenues in 2004 amounted
to NOK 9.7 billion.
One of Schibsted’s main strategies has
been to build further on the Group’s
strengths. Online newspapers and
online advertising operations have
developed from print newspapers that
have a strong brand name. The free
newspaper 20 Minutes is based on the
publishing traditions that form the
foundations of Schibsted’s operations.
With this strategy, it has been possible to utilise the Group’s strong positions to create development and
growth in, among other things, new
media.
Scandinavia has been defined as
Schibsted’s domestic market. It is true
that Norway and Sweden have been
its primary markets, but Schibsted
has also aimed to become gradually
more international. Its operations in
the Baltics, Switzerland, France and
Spain are examples of this.

Since then, Schibsted and the rest of
the media world have undergone huge
changes. From being a company with
one book publisher and two newspapers with total revenues of NOK 2 billion 15 years ago, Schibsted has now
established products and rights in the
fields of newspaper, TV, film, publishing, multimedia and mobile services.
The news, information and entertainment content are communicated in a
variety of formats: paper, the Internet,
television, cinema, video, DVD and

”Schibsted’s vision is to be a leading
Scandinavian media company, as a
content provider for consumers and
advertisers, irrespective of their choice
of media.”
This vision has to a large extent been
achieved. In the light of the media revolution that is currently taking place,
Schibsted is working on new goals. A
new vision will be prepared in 2005.
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Newspapers

Multimedia

TV/Film

Publishing

Aftenposten

Aftenposten WAP

Aftenposten.no

Schibsted Forlagene

VG

VG WAP

VG Nett

Dagens Medisin

Dine Penger Online

Dine Penger

Schibsted Mobile

TV2.no

TV 2

Bokkilden

Finn.no

Sweden

Svenska Dagbladet

Aftonbladet

Nordic

Scanpix

SvD.se

Aftonbladet WAP

TV4

Full Stop Media

Aftonbladet.se

Manga Media

Blocket.se

Boknöje

BytBil.se

Svenska Förlaget

Inpoc

Metronome

Sandrew
Metronome

Baltics

Postimees

Kanal2

Ajakirjade Kirjastus

Zurnalu
Leidybos
Grupe

SL Õhtuleht

Scanpix

France and Spain

20 Minutes

20 Minutes.fr

20 Minutos

20 Minutos.es
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Create
New technology and new products create new media habits - and vice versa. Schibsted is
in the midst of this dynamics and a clear goal is to be a leading player in the development of new solutions, products and brands. We do this by linking our creativity and
innovation with the best of our experience and expertise.
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Established brands have a high value even in a changing media world. But only those
that develop will survive. At Schibsted, we work systematically to renew and revitalise our
products. The key to success lies in utilising the Group’s overall knowledge – in everything
from strategic management to brand building and product development.

Schibsted Annual Report 2004

Today

Revitalise
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”Those who have both feet planted firmly on the
ground stand still,” wrote Norwegian author Tor
Åge Bringsværd. His well-known book title is an
important reminder to all those who work on
strategic challenges - not least in the media
industry. Few industries have changed so quickly
over the past decade.
The changes have been enormous and are
taking place more quickly now than before. New
products are being developed more rapidly. And
new media habits are being established over a
shorter space of time. There are many examples
of this – here is one: It took 20 years to achieve
one million telephone users in the USA. It took
two years to achieve the same number of digital
TV users. The rapid growth of the Internet, free
newspapers and mobile telephony has brought
about extensive changes in media habits, especially among younger age groups. This trend
has created new opportunities for Schibsted.
The increased rate of development creates a
need for both good insight into the market and
flexibility in the organisation. Those that most
quickly manage to adapt in line with the market’s
requirements win. “It’s not the strongest species
that survives, nor is it the most intelligent, it is
the species that most quickly adapts to change,”
said Charles Darwin.

within new media. Its growth ambitions include
all Schibsted’s companies – both old and new.
In Schibsted, we believe that each individual
company performs best when allowed to cultivate its individuality and build further on its own
traditions. We are concerned not so much about
streamlining but rather about utilising the
advantages of being part of a large group in
natural areas of cooperation, such as the
exchange of ideas, development and the flow of
expertise. Freedom and acting together are the
key words for our management philosophy.

Brand management as core expertise is another
key area. Tougher competition and a high rate of
change create a need for a wider variety of products. Whether it is a newspaper, a TV channel
or a publishing house, the product will always
come on to the market as a brand. Strong, clear,
relevant brands are becoming more important
and the ability to develop and build strong
brands is therefore one of Schibsted’s strategic
core areas.
Changes in the media industry are leading to
increased requirements regarding the expertise of
our employees. We make our living to an extreme

NOT E

Tackling the new market challenges will place
great demands on us. In Schibsted, we have
identified four elements that are especially
important for success:
• Innovation
• The correct management philosophy
• Brand management
• Finding and developing clever people
These may well be called our foundations for the
future.
An increased ability to be innovative will be crucial to our competitive ability in the future. New
media create new media habits and force existing
channels to change. Schibsted aims to utilise its
strong position to seek development and growth

FINN
This is Schibsted’s most profitable company, with an operating
margin of 40 per cent. Its launch in 1999 was an example of
innovation. FINN.no has reinforced its position as Norway’s biggest marketplace in the field of online classified ads and all
markets are experiencing increasing traffic. Towards the end of
2004, FINN had almost 1.4 million unique users, a growth of
more than 50 per cent compared to the year before. This puts
FINN in 11th place on the list of Norway’s biggest web sites.
Measured in number of page displays, FINN is number three,
with 1.6 billion page displays in 2004. FINN has grown by an
average of 42 per cent over the past five years. During this
same period, its operating result has gone from a loss of NOK 17
million to a profit of NOK 70 million.
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We’ve come far in Schibsted, but we’re going
much further. Through innovation, brand management and the development of talents, we intend
to lead the developments in our industry. Through
the right management philosophy and demonstrating responsibility as a media player, we aim to
ensure a clear, underlying direction for our work.
These are our foundations for the future.
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AFTENPOSTEN
Norway’s second-largest newspaper and the biggest in the
Greater Oslo area. Published twice a day from Monday to Friday
and once a day on Saturdays and Sundays. It has developed an
editorial concept that is adapted to suit modern readers. All its
editions are in tabloid format as from 1 January 2005.
Aftenposten has adapted to changes in the media sector.
It is one of Norway’s most important marketplaces. Despite a
decline in circulation, Aftenposten’s morning and Sunday editions
saw a rise of 6 300 and 20 200 respectively in their number of
readers in 2004. A growth in circulation is expected following the
introduction of a new format. Aftenposten’s online editions are
experiencing sound growth. Aftenposten Multimedia had 1.8 million unique users per month in 2004. www.aftenposten.no
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One major consideration, of which Schibsted is
aware, is the huge power to influence various
parts of society that a media company has. We
wish to carry out this role in a responsible manner. The publishing tradition that has developed
in Schibsted over 166 years is core to this.

Schibsted’s major shareholder, Tinius NagellErichsen, has established a trust that aims to
provide a guarantee for editorial freedom and
independence in the future too.

Not enough

extent from clever people. There are many examples of individuals who, either alone or in a group,
have lifted a product or organisation due to their
own talent and skills. It is important for us to find
them, develop them and give them opportunities.
Expertise and management development comprise one of the foundations for the future.
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MORE INNOVATIO
Schibsted aims to increase its revenue by seven
per cent each year. This is an extremely demanding ambition since our core products are mature and operate in markets that are in partial stagnation. Growth in revenue is not necessarily an
important goal in itself, but our companies’ and
organisations’ ability to be innovative will be crucial to our long-term competitive ability.
Innovation has been a part of Schibsted’s history
ever since Amandus Schibsted developed
Aftenposten into a newspaper for the merchant
classes in Kristiania (now Oslo) at the end of the
19th century. VG’s developments over the past
35 years are one continuous story of innovation.
Aftonbladet’s newly won position as the leading
newspaper in Sweden, the renewal of Svenska
Dagbladet, Aftenposten’s launch of FINN, the

INPOC
Schibsted’s own brand aimed at mobile-phone users. This is
one of two Schibsted Mobil business areas that were established
in the spring of 2000 under the name Schibsted Telecom – a
new creation in the Schibsted Group. In addition to Inpoc,
which delivers products to end-users, Schibsted Mobile also
plays a role in the Application Service Provider (ASP) operations as the supplier of mobile-phone infrastructure and applications to media customers – mainly newspapers, TV channels, magazines and Internet operators.
In February 2005, Schibsted Mobile was merged with
Sweden’s Aspiro AB. Schibsted is the dominant shareholder
in this new company, with a 44.5 per cent share - an adaptation based on the changes taking place in the media market.
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launch of 20 Minutes and more and more new
TV concepts from Metronome are all examples of
the fact that innovation has been given high priority over the past decade too. International analysts often claim that Schibsted is one of the traditional media companies that have best mastered the challenges and opportunities provided by
the new media reality.

these markets and have established important
marketplaces for buying and selling. Our organisations have considerable experience and the
ability to constantly develop their products. This
means that Schibsted looks on the rapid changes now taking place in the media market as primarily opportunities to further develop its existing operations and create new ones.

However, we do not intend to rest on our laurels.
We are going to significantly increase our focus
on our organisations’ ability and willingness to
be creative. Schibsted’s position in the current
market gives us huge opportunities for growth in
the future. Our companies are in daily contact
with 10 million media users in Scandinavia,
Estonia, France and Spain. They have good relationships with the most important advertisers in

Innovation is not only important for creating new
revenues and profitability. Innovation is important for creating organisations that have the ability to survive. New products are crucial for creating the opportunities that employees and organisations need in order to further develop.
Organisations that are developing will also
attract new talent.

5
4
3

20 MINUTES
When this free newspaper was launched in December 1999, it
was an entirely new concept in Schibsted’s media world – an
innovation. Right from the start, the brand was clearly defined
with distinct definitions, ambitions, target groups and the functions the newspapers were to fill in the target group’s lives.
At the end of 2004, this newspaper was published in 17 cities in
three countries. Its success is continuing. 20 Minutes has taken
over as the most widely read newspaper in Switzerland, the
second most widely read newspaper in Spain and the third most
widely read newspaper in France. In total, the newspaper has
around 4.7 million readers each day. From a financial point of
view, the newspapers achieved a profit in Switzerland and Spain
in 2004 and improved greatly in France.
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MANAGEMENT PHILOSOPHY BA

INDEPENDENCE

BLOCKET.SE
Sweden’s biggest buy&sell website made huge progress in 2004.
Blocket was started in 1996 as a local marketplace for private individuals in Skåne, Sweden who wanted to buy, sell or exchange
things with each other. As the number of advertisements and hits
increased, it was extended to cover the whole of Sweden. The
company has grown gradually, both in size and technologically
speaking. In December 2003, blocket.se was bought by
Aftonbladet in collaboration with Finn.no, Svenska Dagbladet,
Helsingborgs Dagblad and Gota Media. The company continues to
be run according to the same ideas.
In January 2005, Blocket was awarded the Stora Internet (Big
Internet) prize, which is awarded annually by the association for
online service and contents suppliers in Sweden. www.blocket.se
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AND COOPERATION
Some groups of companies are solely focused on
about streamlining: one common production
system, one common customer-support system,
one common switchboard, etc. We are not like
that. We believe extensive centralisation and
detailed directives will rob Schibsted of some of
what is best about the Group.
It would rob us of our internal diversity and pride
in each individual organisation. It would lessen
the vigour that thrives in the absence of weighty
bureaucracy. It would impede the entrepreneurship in each of our companies that ensures
involvement and new growth and which means
that clever people want to work for us. So we are
cautious about using words like synergy and
centralisation. That is why we have just as much
faith in economies of small scale as economies
of large scale. Freedom is a key word in our
management philosophy.
Just as obviously, there are clear advantages in
being a large group in the media industry too. Our
companies can develop managers, employees and
products better, and exchange expertise more
efficiently within the frameworks of a large group
like Schibsted. In many areas – business development, product development, expertise development and manager and talent development – we

have an advantage in being a large, international
group. That is why acting together is also a key
word in our management philosophy.
We have not been good enough at exploiting the
advantages represented by our acting together,
but we are doing something about this. This
work will be even more important in the years to
come. We are going to develop even better
managers by giving them the opportunity to
move between Schibsted’s companies. We will
make sure that our advertisers notice we have
many strings to our bow: newspapers, the
Internet, mobile phones and TV. The users of our
media will notice that experiences and ideas flow
between the Schibsted companies in a better
way than before.
However, that still does not mean we are going
to streamline our operations. We have greater
faith in the exchange of ideas, flow of expertise,
cross-careers and common meeting places. This
is how we will utilise our advantages as a major
international group while still retaining some of
the best things about our Group: its diversity and
local freedom to act.
The balancing point between freedom and acting
together is the key to our management philosophy.

EESTI MEEDIA
Schibsted’s investments in Estonia started with the
Kanal 2 TV channel in 1995, but it was the acquisition of
the Postimees newspaper that led to the creation of Eesti
Meedia in 1998. For Schibsted, the experience gained
from the Baltic countries has been a new departure. The
company met a different culture in many areas linked to
media operations. Both the Norwegians and Estonians
who have taken part in the project have gained useful
experience. Eesti Meedia now runs its operations independently and is the biggest media group in Estonia. It
owns, among others, Estonia’s largest serious newspaper, Postimees (100%), and the tabloid newspaper SL
Õhtuleht (50%).

Schibsted Annual Report 2004
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BRAND MANAGE
AS CORE EXPERTISE
Schibsted has always buIlt brands. However,
intense competition and the high rate of change
in the media market mean that strong, clear,
relevant brands are becoming more and more
important. Strategic brand management has
therefore been given increased priority.
This issue has been more systematically on our
agenda since the end of the 1990s. Our goal has
been to contribute to customers, readers, viewers and users experiencing our products as clear
and in accordance with their needs.
Aftonbladet was the first to establish a uniform
brand strategy. This strategy was first defined at
the end of the 1990s and acts as the foundation
for the operational and strategic development of
the brand. The strategy is revised every 1 000
days. All the employees take part in this work
and contribute to laying the guidelines for how
the brand strategy is to be realised.
Svenska Dagbladet established its brand strategy in connection with its transition from a fullformat to a tabloid-format newspaper in the

autumn of 2000. The newspaper’s editorial staff
were in the driving seat when the strategy was
prepared. This strategy has created the basis for
the orientation towards the readers, the repositioning of the brand and internal cultural changes. It has laid important guidelines for the development of both the paper and online versions of
the newspaper.

the establishment of
these newspapers.

In 2004, Svenska Dagbladet was awarded the
Signum Prize. This is awarded to the Nordic
company that best manages its brand. Volvo and
Statoil are among the previous prize winners.
The jury states that Svenska Dagbladet has
brought tradition and history with it over into a
new format and “clearly defined and documented
what the brand stands for”.

Building a brand for products that change their
contents 365 days a year
is a challenge. It requires
different approaches and
methods than for other consumer goods. For example, a
newspaper is created as a
brand by a number of factors,
including its articles, layout, pictures, advertising content, publicity,
delivery quality and product development. Very many employees help to
influence how the brand is perceived.

The 20 Minutes newspapers are a newly established brand that has penetrated markets in which
established newspapers dominate. Well-considered brand strategies that clearly define the brand,
the ambitions for it, the target groups the brand
is aimed at and the functions that 20 Minutes are
to fill in the target groups’ lives form the basis for

This is why brand management is important in
media companies. Who are we here for? What do
they want? Insight into and knowledge of the
market are key in a brand perspective. Brand
management in Schibsted is not limited to the
commercial aspect of each individual company.
It covers the entire company. Whether you are a

VG
Norway’s biggest newspaper. Its circulation is twice that
of its closest competitor. VG Nett – www.vg.no - is
Norway’s biggest web site and VG Mobil is the leading
supplier of news and entertainment to mobile phones.
VG’s developments over the past 35 years can be characterised as a continuous story of innovation. VG carried
out brand building before anyone really knew what this
was. The paper version has a 67 per cent share of the
single copy sales market. Its reader coverage is 35.2 per
cent. Each week, 60 per cent of all Norwegians read at
least one copy of VG. VG Nett had 820 000 readers each
day in the 4th quarter of 2004. In total, for the paper and
online versions, VG has 1 754 000 daily readers.
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journalist or an
editor, a photographer or a
typographer, a
salesperson or an
accounts clerk – it
does not matter.
Everyone in the
organisation must
be involved. What
brand potential does
this newspaper or that
magazine have? How
must it position itself in the
market in order to meet
readers’ needs and desires? The
most important thing is the end
product that reaches the reader.

Schibsted Annual Report 2004
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MENT
management responsibility. The complexity of
media products means that the commitments to
strategic brand management and to developing
managers and talents are closely inter-linked.
At a Group level, Schibsted has intensified the
work on brand management. Collaboration
across company boundaries has been facilitated,
to ensure the exchange of knowledge of market
trends and best practices. Through brand seminars and Schibsted’s senior-management, middlemanagement and trainee programmes, strategic
brand management is seen as a necessary skill
in order to create development and cope with
rapid changes.

Brand management cannot be delegated to
the marketing department - it is a senior

SVENSKA DAGBLADET

AFTONBLADET

Svenska Dagbladet (SvD) is Stockholm’s second-largest morning
newspaper. Over the past few years, SvD has undergone considerable
changes, with a transition to a tabloid format and a number of editorial improvements. The newspaper’s primary target group now consists of inquisitive, well-educated people in the Greater Stockholm
area. Its brand strategy was developed in connection with the transition to a tabloid format. The newspaper’s three sections, News,
Business and Culture, rapidly provide an all-round picture. SvD not
only reflects current news, it also provides guidance and ideas to all
those who want to decide on something, do something or use something. The online newspaper, SvD. se, has been relaunched and is
expanding rapidly – with 845 000 unique visitors in December.
www.svd.se

The Nordic region’s largest newspaper. The online newspaper aftonbladet.se is by far media Sweden’s most visited web site. Aftonbladet became the leading newspaper
in Sweden after developing its brand strategy at the end
of the 1990s. The strategy is revised every 1,000 days
and all the employees take part in this work.
Aftonbladet’s circulation is now the highest it has been
for 28 years. The newspaper version is maintaining its
leading position with a circulation of 452 300 copies.
www.aftonbladet.se had 7 338 245 unique visitors in
December, compared to 5 145 804 in the same month in
2003. From a financial point of view, Aftonbladet achieved record results in 2004.
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OUR SUCCESS IS
DETERMINED BY

METRONOME

TV2

The Nordic region’s largest independent producer of TV programmes, drama series, feature films and advertising films.
New concepts for TV or film are created all the time. The production work takes place in subsidiaries in Sweden, Norway,
Denmark and Finland. Many productions were completed in
2004. The TV series Hotel Cæsar continues to be popular in
Norway. Since 2000, a total of 1 140 episodes have been produced. Yet another series of Big Brother has been produced
in Sweden. Since 2000, the Metronome Group has produced
10 such series. On the feature-film side, “Hip Hip Hora” was
one of the most-seen cinema films in Sweden. This film has
also received a lot of attention at film festivals around the
world.

Norway’s biggest commercial TV channel and at the
same time a nationwide broadcaster with a wide range of
news, current affairs programmes, sport and entertainment - a challenging combination. TV 2 has a share of
around 1/3 of the total viewer-time market in Norway.
More than two million Norwegians above the age of 12
years watch TV 2 daily. This is the most popular TV
channel among 12-52 year olds. It has a share of approximately 2/3 of the commercial market. TV 2 is a key player in the Norwegian media market and wants to play an
important role in Norwegians’ media lives. Surveys have
shown that the channel’s reputation is one of the best,
irrespective of sector.
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Talented people can make the difference between
a success and a fiasco. Schibsted’s managers
and employees are the most important source of
its development, growth and profitability.
Finding, attracting, motivating and keeping
employees are therefore some of our companies’
most important tasks.
In the 1990s, Aftenposten had 1 500 employees.
Today, this number has been halved – and the
newspaper is improving all the time. Aftonbladet’s
success has been driven forward by strong
managers. SvD’s impressive turnaround operation
was brought about jointly by strong managers
and skilled employees, as was VG’s enormous
success. Finn has become Schibsted’s most profitable company thanks to clever people and professional organisational work. These are just a
few examples of the fact that clever people are
especially important in our sector.
The hunt for talented, skilled employees starts
early at Group level too. The work of finding
them starts in the most important academic
institutions where Norwegian and Swedish students are educated. Schibsted’s Management
Trainee Programme recruits twice a year and its
goal is to develop some of our companies’ mana-

gers of the future. In Norway, this programme is
ranked as number two among economics students. The trainees complete a two-year programme. Many of those who have completed the
programme since 1997 now hold key positions in
our companies.
Since the autumn of 2003, Schibsted has also
intensified the work on management development at Group level. Schibsted’s MiddleManagement Programme and Schibsted’s
Management Programme both aim to increase
the individual’s awareness of personal leadership
and his or her knowledge of Schibsted. Network
building and knowledge of important strategic
issues, such as brand management and innovation, form part of this work.
Another area on which Schibsted focuses is
increased internal mobility within each company
and between the companies. Skilled employees
and managers that have accrued expertise and
experience should perceive the whole of
Schibsted as a platform for their career and
development. It is costly to lose good expertise
and experience, and correspondingly expensive
to recruit and train new people.

Schibsted is and will continue to be a leader within
its areas of commitment. We can only achieve
this through continuously developing skilled
managers and employees. Without clever people,
Schibsted will not achieve any of the ambitions
it has set for itself. This is why developing talent
and managers is a fundamental part of our operations.

Employees in differnt countries
Norway
Rest of Europe

SCHIBSTED FORLAGENE
Eight small publishing houses were merged in April 2004 to form
one publisher that is the basic foundation for further growth in
the years to come. New common functions have been established
and one of the effects will be that it will become easier to create
opportunities for growth. Schibsted Forlagene currently consists
of five divisions: Bladkompaniet, which publishes Norwegian and
translated entertainment literature, comics and crime novels; Chr.
Schibsteds Forlag, which publishes fact books and translated fiction; Schibsted Internasjonale Bøker (SIB), which imports and
stocks foreign language literature; Spesialbladforlaget, which
publishes the magazines Maison, Tique and 4U; and Dine Penger,
which publishes the magazine of the same name. Schibsted
Forlagene is Norway’s fifth-largest book publisher.

Sweden
Baltics
Rest of the Nordic area
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OUR RES

THE TINIUS TRUST
The Tinius Trust was founded by
Schibsted’s principal owner, Tinius NagellErichsen, in order to ensure that Schibsted’s
newspapers and other media can continue
to maintain their positions as free and independent bodies in the future. This trust was
established by a deed of gift on 8 May 1996
and has a capital base of NOK 10 million.
On Tinius Nagell-Erichsen’s death or at a
time decided by him, the only voting share

in Blommenholm Industrier AS will be transferred to the Trust. This company owns 26.1
per cent of the shares in Schibsted ASA and
is its largest shareholder.
According to Schibsted ASA’s articles of
association, any changes to these require a
three-quarters majority and no shareholder
can own or vote for more than 30 per cent of
the shares. Schibsted ASA’s articles of
association also ensure that important reso-

lutions in the Group’s subsidiaries require a
three-quarter majority at the Annual General
Meeting of Schibsted ASA.
As long as the 26.1 per cent shareholding is
held as one single unit, these provisions
thus have considerable influence over the
ownership of Schibsted. The strength of this
block of shares is so great that any takeover
would also be difficult. At the 1996
Schibsted Annual General Meeting, Tinius
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AS A MEDIA PLAYER
The trust of its readers, viewers and listeners is
crucial to a media company. We also need the
trust of the authorities. Trust is not given unless
responsibility is demonstrated. Acting properly
and responsibly is thus crucial both to each of
our companies and to Schibsted as a group.
Schibsted is built on the publishing tradition that
grants freedom to newspapers and other media
and underlines the assumption of editorial independence.
The editorial work takes place in accordance
with the legislation and ethical guidelines for the
media in each country. In Norway, these principles have been stipulated by the Norwegian
Press Association in its Code of Ethics. In
Sweden, newspapers are edited in accordance
with the Act relating to the freedom of the press
and the ethical code that applies to the Swedish
press. In addition, each newspaper has internal
regulations intended to ensure its editorial integrity, protect its sources and ensure it maintains

Nagell-Erichsen spoke about why he had
founded the Trust. He said:
”Ownership is much more significant to a
newspaper than a normal industrial company. A newspaper is not a standard product,
but rather a forum for essential social information and debate, on which our democratic society rests.
In addition to its long-term nature, newspaper ownership should openly pledge itself to

an ethical standard. The editor-in-chief is personally fully liable for the newspaper’s contents
according to the ethical guidelines for editors.
This also applies to advertisements. The editor
reports to the company’s board, but is in independent charge of the editorial work on the basis
of the company’s articles of association and
memorandum of association. The newspapers
have developed special delegation routines and
routines for how the work is to be carried out
throughout the 24-hour media day. The objective
of this is to ensure quality and integrity.
Schibsted’s largest newspapers, Aftonbladet, VG,
Aftenposten and Svenska Dagbladet, make the
”editorial control of the operations” clear in their
annual reports, as does the Scanpix picture
agency.
Schibsted’s major shareholder, Tinius NagellErichsen, has been and is concerned about ensuring that the newspapers will continue to be free
and independent editorial bodies in the future.

This is why he established a trust in 1996 that
has this objective in mind. (Read more about the
Tinius Trust below.)
Nowadays, Schibsted has a variety of new media
channels that impart editorial content to society
in various arenas. It has been important for
Schibsted to apply the basic requirements
regarding media ownership to these new media
channels too.
Schibsted greatly appreciates the main shareholder’s interest in the company’s basic values
and that he has taken steps to maintain these in
the future too. Some people may claim that this
is a hindrance for a listed company. We believe
that, on the contrary, the Tinius Trust helps to
safeguard our responsibilities to society and to
maintain the Group’s basic values.

the values which the newspaper represents.
At times it may be called upon to defend
these values so that the newspaper can
retain its freedom and independence. This is
when it is an advantage to own a majority.”

credibility and quality are to be guiding for
all media and publishing businesses owned
by the Schibsted Group. The Trust is also to
work for the long-term, sound financial
development of the Schibsted Group.

The Tinius Trust’s articles of association
specify that the Trust is to work to ensure
that the Schibsted Group continues as a
media group, run in accordance with the
same editorial and business guidelines as at
present. The principles of editorial freedom,

The Board of the Trust currently consists of
Tinius Nagell-Erichsen, Per Egil Hegge, John
A. Rein and Ole Jacob Sunde. After NagellErichsen’s death, the Board will consist of
three members. Each member will appoint
his own successor.
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Newspapers
2004 was a record year for Schibsted’s newspapers. The company achieved its best-ever
operating result (EBITA). The online activities
provided a considerable contribution to the company’s profitability. Single copy sales of the
newspapers produced strong results. Aftonbladet
achieved record results and VG attained an
operating margin of 21 per cent. 20 Minutes
continued to be successful and Aftenposten’s
product restructuring at the beginning of the
year was well received by the market.
VG continued to be biggest contributor and presented strong financial results despite the decline
in circulation. However, for the first time
Aftonbladet’s nominal result in the fourth quarter
was better than that of VG. Aftonbladet’s record
result was due to a combination of increased
advertising revenues, higher circulation figures
and a profitable investment in Blocket.se, a classified online company.
The changes in people’s media habits are reflected in the results of Schibsted’s online activities.
In total, these accounted for 15 per cent of
Schibsted’s operating result (EBITA) for the
fourth quarter, compared to two per cent the
year before. This is based on a share of six per
cent of the Group’s total operating revenue.
FINN.no’s, VG Nett’s and Aftonbladet’s online
activities make the biggest contribution to the
result, but all the online newspapers have been
profitable and have maintained or strengthened
their market positions.

182%%
12%
44%

In February 2005, Aftonbladet added to its online
products by buying the directory enquiries service hitta.se. aftonbladet.se has maintained its
position as by far the largest of the Swedish online newspapers and is still as big as all other
competitors combined. vg.no has a leading position among the online newspapers in Norway. VG
Nett increased its advertising revenues by 43 per
cent and achieved an operating margin of all of
29 per cent.
20 Minutes, the free newspaper which has been
launched in a number of new towns since it was
started in December 1999, was distributed in 17
towns in three countries at the year-end and its
success is continuing. 20 Minutes has taken over
as the most widely read newspaper in
Switzerland, the second most widely read in
Spain and the third most widely read in France.
The operations in Switzerland and Spain were
profitable in 2004 while those in France improved considerably.

Schibsted online newspapers’ operating result
(NOK million)
2004
2003
2002
Advertising revenues
471
269
188
Other revenues
97
83
49
Operating revenues
568
352
237
Operating costs 1)
(409)
(301)
(241)
Operating profit (loss)
(EBITA)
159
51
(4)
These figures are also included in the individual
newspaper’s results

36%

1)

Includes all costs apart from those relating to
editorial content

Distribution of revenues Newspapers
Subscription
Advertising

Single copies sales
Other

Exchange rates
(NOK million)
SEK/NOK
EUR/NOK

2004
91.74
8.37

2003
87.69
8.00

2002
82.00
7.51

In March 2004, Schibsted bought shares and a
loan from Apax Funds and Swiss investors and
thereby acquired 20 Min Holding AG. The agreement previously entered into regarding the sale
of the operations in Switzerland came into effect
in January 2005. 50.5 per cent of 20 Minuten
(Switzerland) was sold to Express Zeitung AG, a
subsidiary of the Swiss media company “tamedia”, at a profit of around NOK 200 million.
Svenska Dagbladet has lost considerable revenues as a result of the competition created by
new products for advertising real estate in
Stockholm. Increased circulation revenues and
continued cost-efficiency measures have not
been able to compensate in full for this loss.
Towards the end of the year, Aftenposten was
preparing for its major product restructuring –
the road towards a tabloid newspaper. The process was not made any simpler by the fact that
the change took place on a day when the news
picture was really extraordinary due to the tsunami
disaster in South East Asia. The transition took
place with no particular problems and both the
preparations and implementation of it were successful. The new product was well received by
both the readers and the advertising market.
The restructuring process in Aftenposten has
continued in an effective fashion and contributed to a considerable improvement in the results
in 2004. Finn has also made a contribution here,
with its profit for the year of NOK 70 million.

Operating result NEWSPAPERS
(NOK million)
2004
2003
2002
Subscription revenues
909
865
803
Single copy sales
revenues
2665
2677
2506
Advertising revenues
3272
2456
2307
Other revenues
641
513
466
Operating revenues 7 487 6 511 6 082
Operating expenses
(6 629) (5 883) (5 608)
Operating profit (loss)
(EBITA)
858
628
474
GW and other revenues
and expenses
(453)
(41)
(95)
Operating profit (EBIT) 405
587
379
Operating margin
(EBITA) (%)

11.5

9.6

7.8

NOK million

NOK million
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Distribution of advertising revenues in Aftenposten
Classified

Brand/Display

Aftenposten is the largest newspaper in the
Greater Oslo area and the second largest newspaper in Norway. Aftenposten publishes two editions of the newspaper each day from Monday to
Friday and one edition on Saturdays and Sundays.
Aftenposten.no publishes news, consumer, finance
and lifestyle articles on the Internet. FINN.no, in
which Aftenposten has a stake of 62 per cent, is
the dominant player in Norway in the online classified ads sector. The other activities in the
Aftenposten Group comprise multimedia activities
and the development of new technological solutions for the distribution and sale of electronic surveillance and filing services.
Aftenposten maintained its position as one of
Norway’s most important marketplaces in 2004.
Adjusted for losses due to the strike in May, the
adverdtising revenue was more or less the same as
that of the year before. Aftenposten is still by far the
dominant marketplace for real estate in the area it
covers.
The print edition circulation figures fell in 2004.
Despite this, the latest reader survey conducted by
TNS Gallup shows that the number of people who
read Aftenposten’s morning and Sunday editions
has increased by 6 400 and 20 200 respectively
compared to 2003.
FINN.no reinforced its position as Norway’s largest
online classified ads marketplace and all markets
are experiencing good and increasing traffic.
Towards the end of 2004, FINN had almost 1.4 million unique users, placing FINN 11th on the list of
Norway’s largest web sites. Measured in the number of page displays, FINN is number three, with 1.6
billion page displays in 2004.
Aftenposten’s online editions have seen solid
growth throughout the year and Aftenposten
Multimedia’s advertising revenue rose by 65 per
cent from 2003 to 2004. The online brand advertising market increased by around 35 per cent
during the same period and Aftenposten
Multimedia has increased its market share. The
number of unique users of Aftenposten
Multimedia’s web sites each month rose by 18 per
cent from 2003 to 2004, while the number of page
displays increased by 17 per cent. Aftenposten
Multimedia had 1.8 million unique users per month
in 2004.

0
Aftenposten

VG

Aftonbladet

SvD

Distribution of revenues Newspapers
Other
Single copies sales

Advertising
Subscription

The margins in the print edition of the newspaper
have been under pressure over the past few years
owing to the fall in the advertising revenue and in
the number of subscribers. Due to this, an extensive restructuring programme has been implemented, with a framework of NOK 400 million, to ensure improved profitability and competitiveness. On
the costs side, the move to new premises, downsizing and focus on simplification and rationalisation have led to a considerable reduction in costs
over the past three years. Earnings showed clear
signs of improvement in 2004.

Aftenposten Group – operating result
(NOK million)
2004
2003
623
653
Circulation revenues 1)
Advertising revenues
1 303
1 277
Other revenues
200
151
Operating revenues
2 126
2 081
Operating expenses
(1 976)
(2 015)
Operating profit (loss) (EBITA) 150
66

The FINN Group has experienced extremely positive
developments. It has achieved an average growth
in revenue of 42 per cent over the past five years,
and during the same period its operating result has
improved from a loss of NOK 17 million to a profit of
NOK 70 million. Aftenposten Multimedia, too, has
turned losses into profits over the past two years.
Other activities are to a large extent in a start-up
phase and their results are according to budget.

Number of employees

As part of the product development, the morning
edition was changed in 2003 in that some sections
were printed in tabloid format. In the spring of 2004,
it was decided that the entire newspaper was to be
printed in tabloid format as from January 2005.
Preserve and renew were the key words for the
editorial staff’s work to change the morning edition’s format. Aftenposten must as a tabloid newspaper continue to be known as a serious newspaper that covers a wide range of topics and builds
knowledge, based on core values such as seriousness, credibility and importance. At the same time,
the newspaper is to be renewed through the further development of its articles aimed at new target groups. Both its content and presentation must
contribute to the newspaper being experienced as
surprising, important, interesting and useful.
Parallel to the change in the morning edition’s format, efforts were made to give the evening edition’s various categories of articles a more modern
design and clearer structure; local news, lifestyle
articles and experiences.
Aftenposten.no focuses primarily on news. In order
to expand its range, work has been carried out in
2004 on designing two major new products that
will be launched in 2005. A separate organisation
has been established for consumer and lifestyle
articles, organised in a separate subsidiary.
In addition, the news service will be enhanced

Operating margin (EBITA) (%)
7.1
3.2
1)
) Circulation revenues consist of subscription
and single copy sales

Circulation
- morning edition
- evening edition
- Sunday edition

863

877

249 900
148 000
220 100

256 600
155 400
232 900

through considerable improvements to the editorial content of the stock-exchange and financial
articles. The latest addition to Aftenposten
Multimedia is the niche web site called golf.no.
As part of the work of improving its position in the
field of electronic media surveillance and archives,
Aftenposten bought the Retriever company together
with Schibsted Multimedia in 2004.
Mediearkivet.no and Mediearkivet Svenska are now
subsidiaries of Retriever and have made this company very competitive in the market.
The positive trend continued for Distribution
Innovation. This company offers electronic distribution channels that improve information
handling and make deliveries of physical products to consumers more efficient. The distribution product has continued to be developed in
2004 and it has been decided to spin these operations off into a separate subsidiary.
The positive effects of the profitability-enhancing
measures that have been implemented in the
paper version of the newspaper over the past few
years are expected to increase in the time to come.
Costs have been cut considerably and the basis for
increased revenues is present due to improvements in both the advertising market and the subscription side. The new format has provided a
basis for increasing the number of subscribers
once more. The subsidiaries’ positive developments are expected to continue.
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Circulation of Norwegian single copy sales newspapers
VG

Dagbladet

The operating profit came to NOK 335 million,
producing an operating margin of 20.7 per cent.
Verdens Gang AS publishes VG, Norway’s biggest
newspaper. Its circulation is twice that of its closest competitor. VG Multimedia is a wholly
owned subsidiary of Verdens Gang AS and
publishes VG Nett and VG Mobil. The online version is Norway’s largest web site and VG Mobil is
a leading supplier of news and entertainment to
mobile phones.

VG Multimedia AS developed positively in 2004
and achieved its best operating profit so far –
NOK 19.2 million. This led to an operating margin
of 28.9 per cent. The main reason for the improvement in results is the positive trend in online
advertising. VG Multimedia’s advertising revenues rose by 43.2 per cent to more than NOK 60
million.

Norway was once again a world leader in newspaper circulation per capita, with an average of
2.9 million newspapers sold every day. VG has a
strong position in this market as it is by far the
largest newspaper in Norway, with a 13 per cent
share of the total market and a 67 per cent share
of the single copy sales market. VG has 1 334 000
readers on an average day. This results in a reader coverage of 35.2 per cent. In any one week,
around 60 per cent of the population have read
one or more copies of VG.

In March 2004, VG launched a major improvement to its weekend newspapers. The number of
pages was increased to 80 on Fridays, Saturdays
and Sundays. Several new article sections and
products were launched.
• The Friday edition added a personal finances
section aimed at the weekend. In addition, it
got a larger TV section.
• The Saturday version’s feature section was
relaunched. Changes were also made to the
other sections.
• The Sunday edition was expanded. There are
now more features, a separate section on
health and a separate section on cars and
motoring. In addition, the newspaper focused
on printing quality and more news articles.

VG’s online edition has seen positive traffic
developments throughout 2004. For the year as
a whole, VG Nett had an average of 664 000
readers each day, while 820 000 read VG Nett
each day in the fourth quarter 2004. This means
that more people now read VG Nett each day
than read Dagbladet’s and Aftenposten’s print
edition. In 2004, the number of users of VG Nett
increased by just over 50 per cent compared to
the year before. In total, VG has 1 754 000 daily
readers of its print and online versions – an alltime high.
The VG Group produced sound results in 2004
too, with an operating margin of 21 per cent. The
VG print edition saw a 4.5 per cent decline in
revenue compared to 2003. Weekday circulation
figures came to 365 266, a reduction of 14 924.
The Sunday circulation figures came to 315 103,
an increase of 373. However, the journalists’ strike, which lasted for 11 days in May 2004, helped
to reduce the revenue. Advertising revenue was
2.7 per cent less than in 2003. After adjusting for
the strike, it was on a level with that of 2003.

VG Nett has worked systematically to develop
and start using advertising formats that better
exploit the fact that more and more of its users
now have access to broadband. This has been
particularly visible in the field of film advertising,
where VG Nett has increased the advertising significantly. Editorially speaking, the film articles
have been strengthened by the development of a
film database. New editorial services have also
been developed for TV and computer games. In
total, this has strengthened the editorial focus
on entertainment.
VG Mobil has been given a visible facelift in that
a new publication solution has been implemented, automatically optimising the presentation
according to the type of terminal used by the
user. An advertising control system has also
been developed and implemented for showing
advertisements on mobile phones.

VG Group – operating result
(incl. VG AS, VG Multimedia AS and Avisretur AS)
(NOK million)
2004
2003
1 230
1 300
Circulation revenues 1)
Advertising revenues
434
426
Other revenues
31
27
Operating revenues
1 695
1 753
Operating expenses
(1 339)
(1 398)
Operating profit (loss) (EBITA) 356
355
Operating margin (EBITA) (%) 21.0
20.3
1)
Circulation revenues consist of subscription
and single copy sales revenues
Number of employees
Circulation
Weekdays
Sundays

529

521

365 266
315 103

380 190
314 730

New challenges await the VG Group in 2005. The
media world is changing extensively and rapidly.
The reduction in circulation figures is not dramatic but it is a challenge. Continued product development and renewal will be important key
words in the time to come.
VG Multimedia will launch several new services
in the first half-year 2005 and is expecting continued growth in both advertising revenue and
the number of users. The company will reinforce
its work to increase its revenue from sources
other than advertisements.
The paper version of VG will continue to be
strengthened and further developed at the same
time as a financially and market-related sound
position for VG Multimedia is developed.
All reader figures stated for VG and VG Nett are
taken from TSN Gallup’s Forbruker og Media
(Consumer and the Media) survey.
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Circulation of Swedish single copy sales newspapers
Aftonbladet

Expressen (since 2000 incl. Kvällsposten and GT)

Aftonbladet Nya Medier AB

Aftonbladet is the largest newspaper in the
Nordic Region. The online newspaper, aftonbladet.se, is Sweden’s absolutely most visited
media web site and is run by the subsidiary
Aftonbladet Nya Medier AB. The parent company, Aftonbladet Hierta AB, also owns a stake in
the Blocket AB web site and in BytBil Nordic AB,
a web site for the sale of used cars.
Aftonbladet achieved the highest circulation in
28 years in 2004. The newspaper retained its
leading position with a circulation of 452 300
copies on each publication day, an increase of
4 100 compared to 2003.
2004 was a news-intensive year, which had a
positive effect on the circulation figures. The
events in Knutby, the escape from Sweden’s Hall
high-security prison and the tsunami disaster in
South East Asia dominated the news. In addition,
it was an intense sporting year, with European
Championships in football and Olympic Games in
Athens, where the Swedes achieved very good
results. The circulation figures were also positively affected by the new investments in the
Sunday edition, which was implemented
towards the end of the year and resulting in an
increase in circulation of between 28 000 and
54 000 during the last three months of the year.
The competition between Sunday newspapers is
hard in the Swedish market. The gap between
Aftonbladet and Expressen, GT and Kvällsposten
has been slight during some months of the year
– only 9 100 copies in July. The gap between
Aftonbladet and the other newspapers on all
days was cut by 5 900 copies per publication
day in 2004 and equalled 89 300 copies.
2004 was yet another record year for the
Aftonbladet Group – the best in the company’s
174-year history. The profit after financial items
came to NOK 315 million, compared to NOK 235
million the year before. This was mainly due to
increased advertising revenues for both the print
and online versions. In addition, the newly acquired Blocket and Byt Bil companies have made a
positive contribution.

The Nya Medier (new media) business area, with
its subsidiary Aftonbladet Nya Medier as its largest player, made a profit for the year. Its operating revenues increased by SEK 30 million to SEK
115 million. www.aftonbladet.se had 7 338 245
unique visitors in December, compared to
5 140 804 in the same month in 2003.

Blocket AB
In cooperation with Finn.no, Svenska Dagbladet,
Helsingborgs Dagblad and Gota Media,
Aftonbladet bought blocket.se in December 2003.
This is a classified ads web site that is the market
leader in Sweden for private cars, other vehicles
and other objects. Aftonbladet has a 50.96 per
cent stake in this company, which is consolidated in the Aftonbladet Group. Blocket’s developments have been extremely positive in 2004.

Byt Bil Nordic AB
In 2002, Aftonbladet Nya Medier AB and Finn.no
AS bought the majority shareholding in Byt Bil
Nordic AB, which runs Sweden’s biggest web
site for the sale of used cars. Their stake was
enlarged as from 1 July 2004 and Aftonbladet
Nya Medier now owns 61.3 per cent of the shares
in Byt Bil, which is thus consolidated in the
Aftonbladet Group. Byt Bil’s developments have
been extremely positive in 2004, from both a
commercial and a results point of view.
After several years of decline in the advertising
market, 2004 showed signs of improvement.
During the period of negative developments,
Sweden’s “evening press” went in the opposite
direction and captured new market shares. The
Swedish advertising market’s total growth in
2004 is calculated to be 3.4 per cent. For the
evening press, the growth has been 28 per cent
according to IRM (Institute for Advertising and
Media Statistics). Aftonbladet’s advertising revenues increased by 33 per cent.
The single copy newspapers took most of the
growth in the Swedish advertising market, with
free newspapers (22 per cent), online newspapers
(19 per cent) and outdoor advertising (12 per cent)
coming second, third and fourth respectively.
Major challenges await the Aftonbladet Group in
2005. From a journalistic point of view, there is
increased competition from TV, morning news-

Aftonbladet Hierta Group operating result
(SEK million)
2004
2003
1 463
1 457
Circulation revenues 1)
Advertising revenues
622
380
Other revenues
66
55
Operating revenues
2 151
1 892
Operating expenses
(1 828)
(1 681)
Operating profit (loss) (EBITA) 323
211
Operating margin (EBITA) (%) 15.0
11.2
1)
Circulation revenues consist of subscription
and single sale copy sales
Number of employees
Circulation
Weekdays
Sundays

567

504

444 100
504 300

442 100
489 400

papers and other single copy sales newspapers
over the past few years. More and more players
are being inspired by the journalistic style of the
single copy sales newspapers. There will therefore be a strong focus on the traditional news
work in all areas and on implementing new measures to appeal to more and more groups of
Sweden’s population. The goal is to increase the
circulation once again in 2005, despite the fact
that this will be compared to record high circulation figures.
Commercially speaking, Aftonbladet has created
new opportunities for continued progress in
2004. The acquisition of Blocket and Byt Bil has
strengthened Aftonbladet’s role as a clear market leader in the new media area - an area that
has strong growth opportunities.
Within the new media area, work started in 2004
on developing the opportunities to produce high
quality TV (IP-TV). This is assumed to be a commercially interesting area in the future.
Aftonbladet’s TV operations are expected to
employ around 20 people within a year.
There are many indications that the single copy
sales newspapers will continue to take a considerable share of the advertising growth in 2005.
Aftonbladet’s advertising departments, in both
the print and online versions, are well equipped
for the fight for advertising revenue.
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Circulation per 1 000 inhabitants
Source: WAN 2004

Shares French advertising markets newspapers
Le Figaro
20 Minutes

Svenska Dagbladet is Stockholm’s second-largest morning newspaper and is mainly based on
subscription sales. Over the past few years, it
has undergone considerable changes, with a
transition to a tabloid format and a number of
editorial improvements. Svenska Dagbladet is
now a newspaper that appeals to inquisitive,
well-educated urbanites.
In 2004, advertising conditions improved and
the advertising market expanded for the first
time in three years. Sweden’s city press, of
which SvD is a part, nonetheless continued to
experience negative developments, especially
due to less revenue from real estate advertisements. The competition in Stockholm has become
tougher with the establishment of new players.
This has led to falling advertising prices in other
market segments too.
Svenska Dagbladet’s operating result was made
worse in 2004 by developments in the advertising market. Advertising revenues fell by 21 per
cent to SEK 329 million. Work to further reduce
costs was started early on in the year and led to
the operating expenses being cut by SEK 27 mil-

The company avis1 AS was established in
December 1998 and publishes the free newspaper avis1. This newspaper was first published on
16 April 1999. It is distributed by Aftenposten’s
delivery personnel to households in the Oslo area
that do not subscribe to Aftenposten’s evening
edition. In addition, avis1 is distributed in Oslo
city centre via self-service boxes and directly to
a number of cafés, hairdressing salons, shopping
centres, etc.

lion, but this was not enough to compensate for
the disappearance of revenues. The profit made
in 2003 has therefore been turned into a loss of
SEK 21 million in 2004.
The circulation revenues rose by seven per cent to
SEK 384 million. This increase has been achieved,
despite falling circulation, due to an average increase in the subscription price. The total circulation
fell by around 5 000 copies to 179 200. The circulation in Stockholm fell by 3 400 copies to 121 300.
In order to safeguard Svenska Dagbladet’s competitiveness in a tougher market, products have
been improved in 2004. A stronger SvD was
launched in November – with a higher news
tempo both in form and content and a stronger
link between the print and online versions.
Earlier in the year, the Business section was
upgraded by, among other things, being published
on Sundays.
The work of relaunching the online newspaper
SvD.se, which started in 2003, continued in 2004.
This has resulted in a considerable increase both
in traffic and in advertising revenue. The traffic
reached its highest level ever in December, with
845 000 unique visitors. Advertising revenues
increased by 57 per cent compared to 2003.

Le Monde
Metro

Le Parisien
Liberation

Svenska Dagbladet Group’s operating result
(SEK million)
2004
2003
384
359
Circulation revenues 1)
Advertising revenues
340
424
Other revenues
73
72
Operating revenues
797
855
Operating expenses
(816)
(843)
Operating profit (loss) (EBITA) (19)
12
Operating margin (EBITA) (%) (2.4)
1.4
1)
Circulation revenues consist of subscription
and single copy sales revenues
Number of employees
Circulation
Weekdays
Sundays

355

367

179 200
190 800

184 600
194 600

The advertising market is expected to continue
developing positively in 2005. The advertising
market for the largest newspapers in Sweden’s
three largest cities, which includes Svenska
Dagbladet, is also expected to grow. SvD’s goal is
to capture a larger share of this market and once
again make a profit.

The company made an operating loss of NOK 7.0
million in 2004, as against a loss of NOK 11.4 million in 2003. This operating loss is less than that
budgeted for and is in line with the Group’s strategy. avis1’s operations contribute to the rest of
the Group’s profit developments and, on this
basis, company is more or less breaking even.

avis1 operating result
(NOK million)
2004
Operating revenues
22
Operating expenses
(32)
Operating profit (loss) (EBITA) (10)

2003
18
(30)
(12)

Operating margin (EBITA) (%) (45.5)

(63.4)

In January 2004, avis1 downsized slightly. Two
man-labour years were cut through voluntary
redundancies. Following this, avis1 consists of a
small managerial and editorial staff that produces the newspaper mainly on the basis of articles bought in from agencies.

Number of employees

Until 2002, avis1 was published twice a week.
Since then, it has been published on Thursdays.
Forty editions of the newspaper were published
in 2004 and it has had a circulation of 174 000.
The company’s revenues come on the whole
from the sale of advertisements in collaboration
with Aftenposten AS and Oslo og Akershus
Samkjøringen AS.

The competitive situation in the free-newspaper
market in Oslo changed considerably when
Osloposten was closed down in the summer of
2002 and avis1 became the only free newspaper
distributed in Oslo. avis1’s strategy since then
has been to maintain a barrier to the creation of
any new free newspapers in the Oslo market.

Its operating revenues in 2004 were NOK 22.1
million, compared to NOK 18.6 million in 2003.

Despite this, Orkla ASA started a free newspaper
through Nordstrand Blad in January 2005. This is

11

11

called “Lokalavisen Groruddalen” and is distributed in four districts of Oslo. Its circulation is
approximately 60 000. According to the newspaper itself, it plans to publish 39 editions each
year. There is reason to believe that this forms
part of Orkla’s plans to increase its involvement
in the newspaper market in Oslo.
Aftenposten’s new advertising management
agree that avis1 has an unexploited sales potential. The goal is for sales work to be intensified in
2005.
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20 Minutes circulation
Figures in 1 000

20 Minutos, Spania
20 Minutos is Spain’s largest free newspaper. It
has seven editions and is distributed in these
cities: Madrid, Barcelona, Seville, Saragossa,
Valencia, Alicante and Malaga. There are plans to
distribute it in the towns of Murcia and Granada
in the first half of 2005. This newspaper is read
daily by 1 862 000 Spaniards. Most of its readers
are young urbanites with an active lifestyle.
20 Minutos has become the leader in an extremely difficult Spanish newspaper market. There
are now three free national daily newspapers: 20
Minutos, Metro and Qué!, which in total have a
daily circulation of 2.5 million newspapers.
20 Minutos is attracting more and more readers
and advertisers and is now by far the most read
newspaper in Madrid, with the well-established
El País as number two. The newspaper’s number
of readers in its main target group – young urban
people with an active lifestyle – make 20 Minutos
the preferred advertising medium for major
brand advertisers. 2004 was also a very good
year from a financial point of view.
2004 was the year when 20 Minutos became the
most-read newspaper in Madrid and reinforced
its position as Spain’s largest free newspaper.
The newspaper improved its product thoroughly
last autumn, with a new design, improved paper
and printing quality and greater adaptations to
suit its target group. January 2005 saw the
seventh launch of 20 Minutos in Spain, this time
in Malaga. Less than a week later, Spanish media

TIDNINGSTRYCKARNA
Tidningstryckarna Aftonbladet Svenska Dagbladet
AB is one of the largest newspaper printing works
in Sweden and has had considerable external
printing assignments in addition to the printing of
Aftonbladet and Svenska Dagbladet.
Tidningstryckarna’s operating result (including
depreciation) for 2004 was down mainly due to a
reduction in the operating revenues from
Aftonbladet and Svenska Dagbladet and to increased operating expenses.
The production volume, measured in number of
printed tabloid pages, has fallen by seven per
cent compared to 2003. This is mainly due to the
disappearance of Svenska Dagbladet’s second
edition in May and the production of

group Recoletos launched the third free national
newspaper: Qué! In the spring of 2004,
Schibsted increased its stake in 20 Minutos
España S.A. to 99.8 per cent. The product improvements, increased circulation, launch in Malaga
and launch of a completely new web site –
20minutos.es – were part of 20 Minutos’ answer
to the stiffer competition.
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20 Minutes daily readership
Figures in 1 000

20 Minutes, pro forma
(EUR million)
2004
Operating revenues
78
Operating expenses
(70)
Operating profit (loss) (EBITA)
8

2003
50
(59)
(9)

Operating margin (EBITA) (%) 10.3

(18.9)

Number of employees

279

250

20 Minuten, Switzerland
In Switzerland, 20 Minuten has four editions and
is distributed in Zurich, Bern, Basel and Lucerne.
The newspaper was launched in Lucerne in the
second half of 2004. 20 Minuten is the only national (German-speaking Switzerland) commuter-based free newspaper in Switzerland.
20 Minuten is the most widely read daily newspaper in Switzerland, with 782 000 readers. The
second most widely read newspaper in
Switzerland is Blick, which has 736 000 readers.
These official surveys do not include the readership figures from Lucerne since the newspaper
must have been on the market in each individual
local market for one year before the figures can
be taken into account. 20 Minuten’s readership
figures also confirm its extremely strong position
among young, urban, female readers compared
to other newspapers in Switzerland.
20 Minuten’s web site, 20min.ch, has 215 000
unique daily users and is the second-largest
media web site in Switzerland. 20 Minuten’s
share of the advertising market in Switzerland is
continuing to increase sharply. In January 2005,
the Schibsted company 20 Min Holding AG sold
20 Minuten in Switzerland to Tamedia,
Switzerland’s largest newspaper company.

Aftonbladet’s insert called “Puls”.
The printing of Metro and other external printing
assignments has produced an overall poorer
result than in 2003. The external printing assignment market is characterised by an extreme
pressure on prices. The production volume, measured by the number of printed tabloid pages,
increased compared to the year before.
On 24 September 2004, Tidningstryckarna’s
board decided that the company was to be
restructured, sold or liquidated. This decision
was due to the fact that major investments were
necessary in order to modernise the 15-year-old
printing works so that it could meet customer
requirements and due to a desire to reduce the
newspapers’ printing costs. In February 2005, an

20 Minutes, France
In France, the 20 Minutes six different editions
are distributed in Paris, Marseille, Lyon, Lille,
Toulouse and Bordeaux. Total circulation is
745 000 copies. This newspaper is the second
most widely read both in Paris and nationally,
with 1 536 000 and 2 029 000 readers respectively. EuroPQN, the official readership surveys in
France, refuses to include free newspapers in its
official survey. The readership figures stated here
for 20 Minutes were thus arrived at in the late
autumn of 2004 through a readership survey
20 Minutes itself had had conducted using more
or less the same method and selection as the official survey. This readership survey also confirms
that 20 Minutes has a particularly strong position
among young, urban, female readers compared
to French newspapers for purchase.
In 2004, 20 Minutes’ advertising sales have
improved considerably and are developing as
expected in the business plan. The newspaper
was launched in Paris in the spring of 2002. It
was then launched in Lille, Lyon and Marseille in
2003, in Toulouse and Bordeaux in 2004, and in
Nantes in March 2005.

Tidningstryckarna operating result
(SEK million)
2004
Operating revenues
395
Operating expenses
(413)
Operating profit (loss) (EBITA) (18)

2003
430
(440)
(10)

Operating margin (EBITA) (%) (4.6)

(2.3)

Number of employees

227

229

agreement was signed to sell Tidningstryckarna
to the JMS Mediasystem Group. This sale ensures
continued jobs for around half of the workforce,
which was an important factor in the assessment
of whether to sell or close down the company.

Schibsted Annual Report 2004

500

Business Area Report: Newspapers

0

37

38
Business Area Report: Newspapers

Schibsted Annual Report 2004

are being made to improve the company’s output
capacity and stabilise the quality of the work.

Schibsted Trykk AS is Norway’s biggest newspaper
printing plant and has a modern production facility
of around 41 000 sq m at Nydalen in Oslo. This
facility started ordinary production work at the
year-end 1998. Seven million copies of newspapers/publications are printed each week.
In 2004, Schibsted Trykk printed newspapers for
Aftenposten, VG and Dagsavisen. In addition, there
has been a considerable increase in external production assignments. The revenues from printing
advertising newspapers and weekly newspapers
came to NOK 70 million in 2004, an increase of
almost NOK 30 million compared to 2003. There is
generally stiff competition for printing assignments
and Schibsted Trykk has to continually enhance its
productivity in order to remain competitive.
The quality of the company’s work is high, but
there is still room for improvements. Active efforts

Scanpix is Scandinavia’s largest picture agency,
with operations in Sweden, Denmark and
Norway. It also has a subsidiary in the Baltic. Its
operations include the production and sale of
news and file images and illustration photos.
The market for pictures is relatively stable.
Scanpix has a good market position in all countries as regards sales for editorial usage. Most of
these sales are to newspapers, the weekly press,
publishing houses and web sites.
Scanpix is a major player in that part of the market where images are sold for commercial usage.
Sales to advertising agencies form an important
part of this market.
In 2004, Scanpix continued to focus on the sale
of pictures for commercial usage. Scanpix
Creative was established in all the countries and
marketing activities were carried out to promote
Scanpix as a major player in this part of the market. The work of developing a Scandinavian database for illustration photos is an important part
of these efforts.

Aftenposten’s decision to change the morning
edition into a tabloid newspaper with three sections led to NOK 33 million being invested in
modifying the printing works. This project started in April and was completed in December. The
project was completed according to plan and
within the cost framework specified, and must
be characterised as extremely successful. VG
was increased to 80 pages on Fridays and
Sundays as from April without this causing any
production problems.
Schibsted Trykk was affected by the journalists’
strike and made a loss of around NOK 3 million as
a result of this. The sickness absence rate in the
company is still too high and efforts are being
made to reduce it. The average sickness absence
rate in 2004 was 16.7 per cent, compared to 17.0
per cent the year before. This work will be given
additional priority in 2005 and the goal is to achie-

The company achieved a total improvement in
its operating profit of around SEK 1 million.
Scanpix Norge had a good year, with a growth in
revenue in important market segments.
In 2004, a project was carried out to scan and
index historical pictures. The Arts Council
Norway provided funding of NOK 800 000
towards this. This project’s goal is to better take
care of historical pictures and make these more
available to customers. This project is continuing
in 2005.
Scanpix negotiated and signed important agreements in 2004, of which the most important are
the cooperation agreements with Reuters and
the European news image agency EPA. These
ensure access to a wide range of daily international news coverage in all three countries. In
addition, Scanpix has entered into a new cooperation agreement with Associated Press relating
to Norway.
Scanpix’s future developments will be characterised by a continued focus on the sale of pictures
for commercial usage. At the same time, emphasis is being placed on further developing Scanpix
as the preferred supplier of pictures to editorial
customers.

Schibsted Trykk operating result
(NOK mill.)
2004
Operating revenues
668
Operating expenses
(657)
Operating profit (loss) (EBITA) 11

2003
662
(649)
13

Operating margin (EBITA) (%)

1.6

2.0

Number of employees

290

295

ve a rate of 10 per cent in the space of a few years.
The average age of the employees is 50 years.
Schibsted Drift achieved revenues of NOK 667.4
million in 2004, despite the fact that the price
charged to its owner newspapers, Aftenposten
and VG, was reduced by a total of NOK 21 million.
When this is taken into account, there has been
an improvement of NOK 15 million compared to
2003. The budget for 2005 aims at further
improvements.

Scanpix Group operating result
(SEK mill.)
2004
Operating revenues
138
Operating expenses
(129)
Operating profit (loss) (EBITA)
9
Operating margin (EBITA) (%)
Number of employees

2003
139
(130)
9

6.5

6.3

96

98
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Eesti Meedia is Estonia’s largest
media company, with operations in the fields of newspapers, magazines, printing
works, the Internet, radio and
infrastructure. No major changes took place in
the Estonian newspaper market in 2004. Eesti
Meedia owns Estonia’s largest serious newspaper, Postimees (100%), and the tabloid SL
Õhtuleht (50%).
The most important battle for market shares is
taking place in Tallinn, where three newspapers
(SL Õhtuleht, Eesti Päevaleht and Postimees)
have almost identical readership figures.
The launch of a number of new magazines in
2004 led to a reduction in our market share, but
the Ajakirjade Kirjastus magazine company (in
which Eesti Meedia owns a 50% stake) still has a

Schibsted Baltics operating result
(EEK million)
2004
Operating revenues
611
Operating expenses
(563)

2003
562
(507)

Operating profit (EBITA)
GW and other revenues
and expenses
Operating profit (loss) (EBIT)

48

55

(24)
24

(25)
30

Operating margin EBITA (%)

7.8

9.8

65-70 per cent share of the magazine market.
Increased competition in the printing-works
market has resulted in more pressure on prices,
and this was particularly noticeable in the spring
and summer. Prices improved slightly towards
the end of the year. Eesti Meedia had many problems with the printing works, Kroonpress, in
2004. These were caused by unforeseen difficulties in installing new equipment in the company’s production facility at Tartu. This led to
irregular deliveries and thus problems for the
Group’s own newspapers. It also led to the printing
works losing commercial magazine assignments.
The technical situation stabilised during the
second half-year and is now regarded as being
under control. The outlook for commercial printing is, however, affected by the stiffer competition in the market.

Exchange rates
EEK / NOK

2004
53.50

Eesti Meedia Group operating result
(EEK mill.)
2004
Operating revenues
499
Operating expenses
(443)
Operating profit (loss) (EBITA) 56
Operating margin EBITA (%)
Number of employees

2003
51.13

2003
474
(417)
57

11.2

12.0

729

732

Eesti Meedia’s most important challenge in 2005
is to further strengthen Postimees’ position in
Tallin. The work on improving products is continuing in order to reinforce the newspaper’s position
as the leading quality newspaper in both Tallinn
and Estonia as a whole.

Kanal 2 is Estonia’s second-largest
commercial TV channel. Major
investments were made in new and
improved programmes in the autumn
of 2004 in order to improve viewing figures and
increase the market share in 2005.
The most important investment has been the
creation of an extended, news-based programme
that has been very well received. This investment had a negative effect on the 2004
accounts, and the result was weaker than that
for the previous year despite a seven per cent

increase in revenue. The outlook for 2005, on
the other hand, looks more promising. The
changes to the programming have, as planned,
improved the channel’s position with the commercially most important target group, the 18-49
year olds. This has led to a response from our
major competitor, but the gap between this company and Kanal 2 has nevertheless diminished.
Kanal 2’s collaboration with commercial TV
channels in the other Baltic countries has been
reinforced in order to improve the channels’

Operating margin EBITA (%)

ZLG, Îurnalu Leidybos Grupe, is
Lithuania’s largest magazine
publisher, with a market share of
20-25 per cent. Schibsted acquired 67 per cent of ZLG in April 2004. In the
autumn of 2004, the company relaunched the
magazine entitled “Zmones” (People) as a
weekly magazine. This was a major investment for and the costs of this have had a
negative effect on the 2004 accounts.

However, the circulation has increased from
around 15 000 in August to almost 40 000 at
the year-end. The outlook for 2005 is good,
although there will be stiffer competition as
from the first quarter 2005. Local media players have noticed the magazine’s success in
some market segments where no strong titles
existed, and competitive magazines are now
being launched.

ZLG operating result
(EEK mill.)
Operating revenues
Operating expenses
Operating profit (loss) (EBITA)

competitive position when buying in programmes.
Kanal 2 operating result
(EEK mill.)
2004
Operating revenues
97
Operating expenses
(103)
Operating profit (loss) (EBITA)
(6)

Number of employees

Operating margin EBITA (%)
Number of employees

2003
91
(94)
(3)

(6.2)

(3.3)

57

59

2004
20
(22)
(2)
(9.2)
74
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Schibsted Baltics owns the largest Estonian media
group, Eesti Meedia (92.5%), the second-largest
commercial TV channel in Estonia, Kanal 2 (100%),
and Lithuania’s largest magazine publisher, ZLG
(100%). Developments in Estonia are characterised
by stability. There are few changes in the Estonian
newspaper market but stiffer competition in the
magazine- and printing markets can be seen.
Kroonpress, which has previously produced extremely good results, notices this in particular.
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Business Area Report:

TV, Film & Publishing
2004 was a challenging year for the Schibsted
companies in the TV and Film business area,
while the publishing operations had a good, promising year. Schibsted’s TV and film companies
increased their revenues but their profit developments were weaker than expected. The merged
Schibsted Forlagene AS and its subsidiaries – the
publishing operations – delivered in total one of
the best results ever.
2004 was more demanding than expected for
the TV and film companies. This was due,
among other things, to increasing competition
and pressure on prices in the video-distribution
market, interactive TV commitments which,
after promising results in 2003, did not produce
the expected results in 2004, and challenges
relating to the sale of the Swedish cinema operations. In addition, there were activities relating to the preparations for reorganising the
video distribution system. This took place after
Warner Home Video changed its distribution
operations strategy and cancelled its agreement
with Sandrew Metronome with effect from June
2005. For TV 2, the year was characterised by
considerable investments being made in programmes that are expected to produce a positive effect in 2005.

12%

20%

Technological and political developments in the
Nordic countries are leading to digitalised TV
channels. The major Nordic players want to capture the market using more segmented productions than their main channels can currently present. At the same time, developments are being
driven by a desire to be financed by other revenues than just advertising. With the appearance
of sub-channels, web-TV, various broadbandbased TV channels and mobile TV elements, the
need for live picture content is increasing, irrespective of the distribution platform.

strong position as a supplier of moving pictures.
In 2004, Schibsted was by far the largest independent player in the Scandinavian TV-production market. Schibsted has the organisation and
subsidiaries to be able to respond flexibly to the
increasing demand for content. Schibsted’s
TV/film companies represent a centre of professional expertise in the market for TV, advertising
and film production in Scandinavia, which also
helps to give Schibsted a good foundation for
growth in the future market for moving pictures.
For the publishing operations, 2004 was the year
when the planned co-organisation of Schibsted’s
many smaller publishing companies was to a
large extent implemented. On 1 April 2004, the
existing publishing units merged to form one
publishing company. A number of common
functions have already been established, while
some others are being prepared. The practical
merger process has gone well, with the exception of increased one-off costs relating to the
transition to a new, common warehouse.

Content development and the management of
the rights to moving pictures are therefore of
major strategic importance to Schibsted. Since
the start of its first TV-production company in
1993, Schibsted has focused on developing a

The merger has contributed to a more streamlined organisation of the publishing operations,
which is expected to provide economies of scale
in the long term. Merged common functions also
help to facilitate growth in the publishing company. The cultures in the former separate publishing companies are in the process of being unified at the same time as the specialist editorial
expertise and niche knowledge are being maintained. The publishing group’s revenues in 2004
were the second-best in the publishing house’s
history, with a margin that is sound for the
publishing industry.

Operating result TV / FILM
(NOK million)
2004
2003
2002
Operating revenues 1 282 1 258 1 131
Operating expenses
(1 259) (1 192) (1 105)

Operating result PUBLISHING
(NOK million)
2004
Operating revenues
344
Operating expenses
(310)

Operating profit (EBITA) 23
GW and other revenues
and expenses
(82)
Operating profit (loss)
(59)

66

26

(16)
50

Operating margin EBITA (%)1.8

5.2

2003
349
(314)

2002
339
(305)

35

34

(16)
10

Operating profit (EBITA) 34
GW and other revenues
and expenses
(10)
Operating profit (loss)
24

(9)
26

(9)
25

2.3

Operating margin EBITA (%)9.9

10.1

10.1

2003
87.69

2002
82.00

42%

26%

The Nordic TV and Film Production
Companies market shares
Metronome
MTV Production

Strix
Other

Exchange rates
SEK / NOK

2004
91.74
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Metronome Film & Television is the Nordic region’s
largest independent producer of TV programmes, drama series, feature films and advertising
films. Production takes place through its subsidiaries in Sweden, Norway, Denmark and Finland.
The TV advertising market improved during the
autumn and grew to a certain extent throughout
2004 in all the Nordic countries. However, the
production market was affected throughout the
year by fierce competition between the TV
channels and a continued pressure on the prices
of productions from the independent production
companies.
The revenues and result for 2004 did not match
the potential that exists in Metronome Film &
Television. Interactive TV programmes in
Norway, Sweden, Finland and Estonia did not
have the positive developments throughout the
year that were expected. In addition, the annual
results for the Metronome Group were made
worse by the first poor year for Rubicon, a
Norwegian TV production company.
At the same time, the Metronome Group experienced positive developments in many areas.
Meter Film & Television, a TV production company
in Sweden, further improved its position in the

Sandrew Metronome’s business concept is to
create, buy and manage feature-film rights for
all current and future means of distribution.
Schibsted and the Swedish foundation Anders
Sandrews Stiftelse (Trust) own 50 per cent each
in the company, which is one of three large integrated film companies in the Nordic region.
Sandrew Metronome operates in the majority of
the “windows” of the film industry’s value
chain: the distribution of films to cinemas, videos and TV, participation in film productions and
cinema operations. The company’s financial
results are to a large extent dependent on the
commercial success of the products it distributes. The profitability of the individual film projects varies widely.

Swedish market. Studios, a Danish technology
company, also established operations in Sweden
and Norway. Advertising film operations, which
in 2003 cut costs considerably, made a positive
contribution to the 2004 results in all the Nordic
countries. The Norwegian TV production company Rubicon has now been restructured and a
new management team has taken over the company’s operations.
A large number of productions were completed
in 2004. The drama series Hotel Cæsar had yet
another successful year in Norway. A total of
1 140 episodes have been produced since 2000.
Yet another series of Big Brother was produced
in Sweden, which means that the Metronome
Group has produced 10 such series since 2000.
The many TV productions in 2004 included successes such as ”Alla mot en”, ”Idol”, ”Huset”,
”Helt Solgt”, ”Norges Historie”, ”Continental” and
”Inno”.
As regards feature films, Filmlance achieved
great success with a film called ”Hip Hip Hora”,
which was one of the most-seen cinema films in
Sweden in 2004. This film has also received a
great deal of attention at film festivals around
the world.

Metronome Film & Television operating result
(SEK million)
2004
2003
Operating revenues
746
801
Operating expenses
(730)
(745)
Operating profit (loss) (EBITA) 16
56

Number of employees

1.8

7.0

507

488

100 years after the dissolution of the union between Norway and Sweden. In addition,
Metronome Finland will produce “Big Brother” for
the first time. This is regarded as something of a
breakthrough for the Metronome Group in
Finland. In Denmark, a new series of “Huset” will
be produced, among other things. In addition,
several drama productions will be produced in
Sweden, Norway and Denmark, including a new
series of films with police inspector Beck.

The orders for 2005 are good. Among other
things, a Norwegian-Swedish “Big Brother Union”
production is under way in both countries,

Technological developments mean that the costs
of distributing moving pictures are falling. This
means that we are getting even more TV channels that have to be filled with content. With this
change comes a greater need for alternative
financing for TV programmes. Even more TV projects thus become financing projects too.
In several projects, Metronome Film & Television
comes into direct contact with the consumer
and is thus moving forward in the value chain.

Among Sandrew Metronome’s biggest commercial successes in 2004 were the films Harry
Potter, Ocean’s Twelve, Uno (Norwegian), Min
Søsters Børn (Danish), Lost in Translation, The
Last Samurai and Troy.

Sandrew Metronome Group operating result
(SEK million)
2004
2003
Operating revenues
1 305
1 272
Operating expenses
(1 287)
(1 231)
Operating profit (loss) (EBITA) 18
41

The Nordic market for the distribution of cinema
films was stable in 2004. National films captured
considerable market shares in all the Nordic
markets. Sandrew Metronome has improved its
position in these markets due to its successful
focus on national film projects.

Operating margin EBITA (%)

1.4

3.2

Number of employees

439

437

Sandrew Metronome maintained its share of the
video market in 2004. The DVD format continued
to increase in popularity, while sales of films in
the old VHS format fell dramatically. By 2006, it
is expected that the VHS format will be phased
out of the market. Parallel to the increase in DVD
volume, there is a significant pressure on prices
in the market. The strong growth in value over

the past few years is therefore expected to flatten
out. As prices gradually fall and buying DVD films
becomes something people do on impulse, supermarkets will become an increasingly important
distribution channel and will in future represent a
considerable share of the sales volume.
Sandrew Metronome has cooperated with
Warner Home Video for a long time regarding the
distribution of videos in Norway, Sweden,
Denmark and Finland. As from June 2005,
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Warner has decided to re-establish its video distribution operations in the Nordic region. This
means that Sandrew Metronome will lose its
agreement to distribute Warner Home Video’s
films in the Nordic video market. From then on,
Warner will instead handle the logistics and
sales of Sandrew Metronome’s video products in
the Nordic region. This agreement ensures
Sandrew Metronome’s video products a significant position in the retail trade in future.
Sandrew Metronome operates cinemas in
Sweden, Finland and Denmark. The cinema ope-

The TV 2 Group is an established, major player in
the Norwegian media industry. The Group’s editorial products and contents services are available on TV, teletext, the Internet, web-TV, telephone and other information screens.
The results of TV 2 Group’s operations were
slightly weaker in 2004 than in the year before,
mainly due to increased costs related to efforts
to strengthen the TV 2 TV channel’s position in
the commercial viewers’ market. The most
important of these was the football European
Championships, with broadcasts from Portugal
that alone cost NOK 70 million. However, the
viewership effect of this was enormous and was
important in reinforcing TV 2’s position as the
number one football channel in Norway. TV 2
had a 37.6 per cent share of viewers in June, the
channel’s highest ever.
TV 2 also had a great deal of success with its biggest entertainment programmes. Idol, Nr. 19 and
Jakten på Kjærligheten all helped the channel to
achieve its main goal for the year to improve its
share of the commercial viewers’ market. This
share ended up at 65.3 per cent, compared to
63.8 per cent in 2003. In the overall market, TV
2 achieved a market share of 30.0 per cent, an
increase on 29.5 per cent the year before. TV 2
especially strengthened its position among

rations in Denmark and Finland currently have a
stable, profitable position in their respective markets. In Sweden, the cinema operations are not
very profitable due to increased competition and
poor access to major commercial films. The
cinema operations in Sweden are therefore in
the process of being sold. In August 2004, a
sales agreement was entered into with
Bonnier/SF. However, this transaction was stopped by the Swedish competition authorities,
which believe that this constellation will lead to
too strong a dominance of the market and therefore want to try this case in the court system.

On this basis, alternative buyers of the operations are now being sought.

younger target groups, in accordance with its
programme strategy.

TV 2 Group operating result
(NOK mill.)
2004
Operating revenues
1 776
Operating expenses
(1 601)
Operating profit (loss) (EBIT) 175

The new nationwide radio channel, Kanal 24, in
which the TV 2 Group owns 49 per cent, started
to broadcast in 2004. Its listener figures were
lower than expected and a number of measures
were implemented throughout the year to
improve the situation. As a result of the low listener figures, Kanal 24’s revenues were less than
expected and the channel debited the TV 2
Group’s annual accounts by considerable
amounts. However, the sale of TV 2’s shares in
TVNorge had a positive effect on the accounts.
In June, an agreement was entered into with
TVNorge’s majority shareholder, SBS
Broadcasting, regarding the sale of the TV 2
Group’s 49.33 per cent shareholding for a price of
NOK 260 million. TV 2 recorded a sales gain of
NOK 82.7 million.
Following a successful restructuring process, TV
2 Nettavisen produced a positive 1st quarter
result for the first time ever. Advertising revenues and the number of those using the TV 2
Group’s online services increased considerably in
2004 and both TV 2 Nettavisen and TV 2
Interaktiv made a profit. TV 2 Nettavisen had
more than three million unique monthly users
and is now established as one of the top three
editorial Norwegian web sites. TV 2 Interaktiv
has also experienced a huge growth in the number of users of and revenues from the company’s

Developments in new distribution forms, such as
“video on demand”, are being monitored and
films are being distributed to selected companies
which have this as one of their core areas.
The market for the distribution and sale of video
films is expected to continue developing positively. The market for films distributed to cinemas is
expected to remain stable. Sandrew Metronome is
currently in a good position to exploit any future
growth in the markets in which it operates.

Operating margin EBIT (%)

9.9

2003
1 618
(1 423)
195
12.1

web-TV services, and its activities relating to the
mobile-phone platform, TV 2 Mobil, have achieved good results, with the creation of the UMTS
network allowing for TV broadcasts to mobile
phones.
TV 2’s strategy is to position itself for a growing
pay-TV market, and the company took an important step in the 1st quarter when it launched an
additional channel, TV 2 Xtra, on cable and satellite TV. Fully digitised TV distribution is a key strategic goal for the TV 2 Group because it will allow
for a better utilisation of the few frequency
resources available, cheaper distribution and new
opportunities relating to pay-TV and interactive
services. The TV 2 Group owns 50 per cent of
Norges Televisjon AS, which was the only applicant for a licence to establish a digital ground
transmission network in Norway. The Norwegian
parliament agreed to this development in February
2004 and Norges Televisjon AS held negotiations
with the Ministry of Cultural Affairs during the
year to agree on final licensing conditions. Final
clarification is expected in the 1st quarter 2005.
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In December 2004, Schibsted increased its stake
in Sweden’s TV 4 from 5 to 20.1 per cent. TV4 is
Sweden’s largest, nationwide, commercial, quality channel and one of Sweden’s strongest
brands. In addition to the TV channel, TV 4 has
16 local TV stations, TV 4 Plus, Med i TV, the TV
4.se web site, and teletext. TV 4’s business concept is to be the leading, most dynamic Swedish

Kanal5

presenter of entertainment, news, sport and
social journalism. TV 4’s business model and its
breadth and expertise also allow room for activities other than just TV broadcasts.
2004 was a weak year for TV 4, among other
things due to the poor advertising market at the
beginning of the year and the costs of new
channels and programmes. At the end of the
year, TV 4’s revenues increased and the company maintained its viewer levels in important tar-

trend. Schibsted Forlagene has, however, managed to achieve good results and a certain growth
in revenue compared to the previous year.
Schibsted’s involvement in various kinds of
publishing activities has increased over the past
few years. Towards the end of 2003, it was decided to merge the various operations into one
company in order to utilise both cost and revenue synergies and to create one large publishing
house that can be the starting point and basic
foundation for further growth in the years to
come. This merger was formally implemented on
1 April 2004. The practical merger process has
taken place since then and must be said to have
been successful. At the end of 2004, the company
was a well-run publishing house and Schibsted
Forlagene AS is Norway’s fifth largest book
publisher measured by revenue.
Eight separate publishing houses were merged
on 1 April 2004. Schibsted Forlagene AS currently
consists of five divisions:
• Bladkompaniet, which publishes Norwegian
and translated fiction, comics and crime
novels.
• Chr. Schibsteds Forlag which publishes fact
books and translated fiction.
• Schibsted Internasjonale Bøker (SIB), which
imports and stocks literature that has not been
translated into Norwegian.
• The specialist magazine publisher
(Spesialbladforlaget) publishes the specialist
magazines Maison, Tique and 4U.
• Dine Penger, which publishes the magazine of
the same name.
The Norwegian book market had a downturn in
2004. This has been particularly noticeable with
regard to Norwegian fiction, but is also a general

The Bladkompaniet division represents the largest contributor of revenues, based on a total of
329 publications. Pondus Flat Firer achieved the
highest circulation figures - 50 000 copies at the
year-end. The biggest paperback book success
was a Norwegian series of novels – “Hannah – en
slektssaga” (Hannah – a family saga) – which is
published every second month and has single
copy sales of around 22 000 and subscription
sales of 8 500. The best-selling comic is Pondus,
a monthly magazine that is Norway’s second-largest comic with a circulation of around 68 000.
The Chr. Schibsteds Forlag division noticed the
general decline in the book market combined with
much greater competition in areas where Chr.
Schibsteds Forlag has traditionally been strong.
Despite this, Chr. Schibsteds Forlags’ share of the
book market increased. The Petter Solberg biography was one of the best-selling biographies of
the year, with a circulation of 20 000. The annual
publications’ portfolio was strengthened in 2004,
and sales of the Guinness Book of Records rocketed in its 50th year of publication.
The Schibsted Internasjonale Bøker (SIB) division
underwent a turbulent year characterised by its
failure to deliver on time due to unexpected
major complications related to the relocation of
the warehouse function. Resolving these problems and creating a solid foundation for SIB’s
operations in the future was SIB’s overriding
focus in the second half of 2004. These problems are now regarded as having been solved.
The specialist magazine publisher division launched the “Maison Mat & Vin” magazine in 2004.

get groups. TV 4 retained its position as
Sweden’s biggest TV channel for the commercially important target group – the 12-59 year olds.
Together with TV4 Plus, TV 4 had a viewer share
of 25.7 per cent in 2004. An aggressive focus on
new programmes, such as Idol 2004, and
changes to the broadcasting schedule have
resulted in an increase in the number of viewers
among the younger target groups.

Schibsted Forlagene AS’s operating result
(NOK million)
2004
2003
Operating revenues
285
286
Operating expenses
(253)
(254)
Operating profit (loss) (EBITA) 32
32
Operating margin EBITA (%)
Number of employees

11.2

11.2

123

120

This is an offshoot of the Maison interior design
magazine. The launch has been successful and
the magazine has achieved good circulation figures. Maison itself retained stable circulation figures in 2004, which is regarded as very positive in
a market where more and more new competing
titles have been introduced. The magazine Tique
also maintained a stable circulation and does well
in the advertising market. 4U, a magazine for teenagers, was relaunched in 2004 in a new, smaller
format, the so-called “handbag format”, and circulation figures were immediately high. Towards the
end of the year, the competition grew fiercer with
the introduction of a new direct competitor.
Dine Penger retained its position as Norway’s largest finance magazine, with a circulation of 70
000, and has once again produced sound annual
results. Its total circulation increased slightly
compared to 2003. Its number of subscribers has
increased from almost 54 000 to almost 55 000.
2005 will continue to be affected by the coordination work and the work on streamlining the
operations at all levels in the new Schibsted
Forlagene AS. Further opportunities for growth in
the publishing house’s various business areas
will also be considered. As far as products go,
the publishing house is well equipped for the
coming year, with an exciting product range in
all the important sales channels.
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Schibsted Forlagene’s Swedish subsidiaries

Full Stop Media is Sweden’s second-largest
comic publisher. Coordinated production and
shared development costs produced a considerable synergy effect for Schibsted Forlagene AS.
In addition to common licensed publications of
“Larson!” and Warner products like “Tom &
Jerry”, a number of the company’s own monthly
magazines and comic albums were published,
including Swedish versions of ”Pondus”, ”Nemi”
and ”Sago-prinsessan” - a total of 76 publications in 2004.
The outlook for 2005 is good. In order to increase
the market share, more focus is being placed on
subscriptions, which rose sharply in 2004. New
Scandinavian cartoonists and Japanese manga
products have contributed to greater interest in
comics among young people and new magazines are regularly launched to attract this group
of buyers.

Manga Media publishes Japanese comic products
(manga) in Sweden and is run by Full Stop Media.
The monthly magazines “Manga Mania” and
“Shonen Jump” are co-published in a Norwegian
and a Swedish version. With the increasing interest in manga in both Norway and Sweden,
growth is expected in this market in 2005.

Dagens Medisin is mainly an advertising financed specialist journal for the health sector, with
physicians, pharmacists and other decisionmakers as its target group. Its circulation of 19
500 copies is only distributed to people in the
target group and the journal can therefore carry
advertisements for prescription medicines.
Dagens Medisin delivered its best result ever in
2004. This is primarily due to the journal capturing market shares and having had tight control
of costs. It is now the leader in its specialised
field as regards advertisements.

Boknöje runs book-club operations and sales to
bookshops of translated Norwegian series of
books published by Bladkompaniet, mainly
Margit Sandemo’s successful series. The book
club Boknöje has around 6 000 members. The
company published a total of 26 titles in 2004. It
focuses on book series that have been successful in Norway, primarily “Hannah – en slektssaga” and new hard cover editions of older
Sandemo series. Boknöje achieves good earnings and its revenues are expected to be stable
in 2005 due to its marketing aimed at potential
book-club members and its increased focus on
Internet sales.
Svenska Förlaget is a specialist publishing company that focuses on management, personal
development, health, history, popular science
and gift books.
Book sales have increased rapidly in Sweden
over the past few years, primarily due to the
reduction in the VAT on books. However, a certain saturation of the market was noticed in
2004. The online bookshops’ low prices have
resulted in greater competition on prices and the
book clubs’ number of new members and sales
are declining. This trend is expected to continue.

Svenska Förlaget Holding Group operating result
(SEK million)
2004
2003
Operating revenues
14
16
Operating expenses
(16)
(17)
DOperating profit (loss) (EBITA) (2)
(1)
Operating margin EBITA (%)
Number of employees

(13.7)

(4.0)

8

8

club called ”Liv og Lederskap” (Life and
Leadership), is now undergoing an intensive
reprofiling phase. Its dependency on its own book
club is to be reduced in favour of an increased
focus on publications suitable for the bookshop
market.
One example of this is the popular-science gift
book entitled “Corporate Bullshit – Om språket mitt i city” (Corporate Bullshit about language in the City) by language researcher Lars Melin, which was published in
November 2004 and sold more than 9 000 copies in four weeks.
In the spring of 2005, Svenska Förlaget will
publish the Swedish translation of the wellknown French book “Bonjour Paresse”, which
will be published in more than 20 countries.

Svenska Förlaget, which has long had a strong
position in the field of management and personal
development books, primarily through its book

Svenska Förlaget is an established quality
publishing house that received a lot of attention
in the Swedish press due to its revitalisation process in 2004.

The editorial staff have a lot of professional
expertise and have been praised by the journal’s
readers in several reader surveys conducted
since the journal was first published in 1998.

Dagens Medisin operating result
(NOK mill.)
2004
Operating revenues
14
Operating expenses
(11)
Operating profit (loss) (EBITA)
3

The journal is often quoted as the source for
health news on TV and radio and, not least, in
newspapers. The printed edition of Dagens
Medisin is published every second week and is
supplemented by an updated online newspaper www.dagensmedisin.no
In 2005, a strong focus will once more be put on
what the authorities have to pay for medicines
through the drug reimbursement scheme. In

Operating margin EBITA (%)
Number of employees

2003
11
(11)
-

19.5

3.2

6

9

addition, the pharmaceutical industry has been
ordered to reduce the prices of medicines in
general. This will affect the market priorities of
our customers and represents a major challenge
to Dagens Medisin.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT
Over the past 10 years, Schibsted has developed
from what was primarily a Norwegian newspaper
company into a Nordic media group that produces content and distributes it through several
channels. This diversification spreads the
Group’s business risk over several countries and
markets while at the same time retaining the
focus on providing quality products to mass
audiences.
The Nordic countries have a strong position not
only in the development of both digital and
mobile media but also as an innovator in the

Schibsted Telecom AS was established in 2000
with the aim of developing and operating mobile
services. This company changed its name to
Schibsted Mobile AS in 2004. It has operations in
six countries – the Baltic and Scandinavian
countries.
Schibsted Mobile has two business areas:
• The ASP (Application Service Provider) business
area delivers infrastructure and applications
within the mobile sector to media customers.
• Inpoc – the second business area is the Group’s
own brand for mobile entertainment services
and communication. The services offered are
mainly aimed at mobile end users.
2004 was the company’s fourth full year of operation. It was characterised by strong growth in revenue and a considerable improvement in results.

newspaper sector. Schibsted’s knowledge and
experience may be used as the basis for expansions outside this region too.
The optimism that followed the technological
developments around the turn of the millennium
has now been followed by proven business
models. Schibsted is involved in several of these,
notably in online newspapers, online classified
ads, e-commerce, consumer- and business-oriented mobile products and in the rapidly growing
commuter-oriented free newspapers.

Schibsted has been and will continue to be active
in terms of finding, selecting and developing new
business opportunities. Priority will be given to
business ideas and products that complement
our existing portfolio and to projects in our
domestic markets, which in this context include
Spain and France in addition to the Nordic and
Baltic countries.

aftonbladet.se, vg.no, aftenposten.no, FINN.no,

The market for mobile contents services is
expanding rapidly. In Norway, it was almost
NOK 800 million in 2004, an increase of around
25 per cent compared to 2003. The two business
areas have grown considerably and the company
regards them as being leading both as regards
revenue and the services offered. Inpoc now has
almost 1 000 000 registered members in Norway
and Sweden. www.inpoc.no is one of the 30
most-visited websites in Norway.
For Schibsted Mobile as a whole, revenues rose
from NOK 120 million in 2003 to NOK 207 million
in 2004. At the same time, the company’s operating loss of NOK 6 million in 2003 was turned
into an operating profit of NOK 3 million in 2004.
With effect from 1 July 2004, Schibsted Mobile
AS acquired 100 per cent of the shares in Danish
company SMS A/S, thus reinforcing its position
as Scandinavia’s leading provider of mobile con-

will allow Bokkilden new growth opportunities
but will also lead to a more competitive situation.
Bokkilden is one of Norway’s leading purely online bookstore and offers more than 1.6 million titles, most of them in English. The turnover in
2004 was more than NOK 32 million. The number of visitors and registered customers and the
average order value are all increasing. The new
book-industry agreement signed on 1 May 2005

Adex Alliance, Inpoc, Blocket, Bokkilden, 20
Minutes and Scandinavian Online (SOL)(sold in
2001) are examples of Schibsted’s successful initiatives or acquisitions over the past few years.

E-commerce is expanding in Norway and
Bokkilden is recognised as one of the leading
players in e-commerce in general. Bokkilden
converted to a new technical platform in June
2004, and the latest traffic figures now show
more than 640 000 visitors. The e-commerce

tents services.
The company envisages further growth in 2005
too. It also believes that the telecommunications
and IT sector as a whole will improve, which will
create more dynamism and consolidation in the
segments in which the company operates.
In February 2005, Schibsted Mobile was merged
with Aspiro AB, which sells mobile contents services, mainly directly to consumers, in Sweden,
Norway, Denmark, Spain, the UK, the USA and
Canada and is the market leader in Scandinavia.
Through this transaction, Schibsted became the
major shareholder in the new company, with
44.5 per cent of the shares, and it views the
market for mobile contents services as an important part of the Group’s strategy in relation to
new media and distribution channels.

processes have been made more automated. A
unique CRM tool has been introduced and the
system is more user-friendly. In the autumn of
2004, Bokkilden introduced a new product category – DVD/Games – and became established in
B2B commerce. Both of these will be further
developed in 2005.
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Schibsted Finans AS is responsible for the Group’s
external borrowings, investments, currency and
interest-rate positions, and is the Group’s internal
bank. At the end of 2004, the Group’s interestbearing debt amounted to NOK 1.8 billion, of which
NOK 1.6 billion was with Schibsted Finans AS.
In October 2003, the Group issued bonds in the
Norwegian bond market for a total of NOK 900
million as part of the refinancing of the Group’s
long-term loans. These bonds are divided into
NOK 600 million in a four-year bond loan with a
fixed interest rate (4.98 per cent) and NOK 300
million in a three-year loan with a floating interest
rate. Through the issuance of these bonds,
Schibsted has opened up a new source of financing that can relieve the pressure on the banks.
The issuance of the bonds has also opened up
routes to the certificate market. In addition to the
bond loans, Schibsted Finans has three loans with
Den Nordiske Investeringsbank, of which two are
in Euro and one is in USD. In December 1996,
Schibsted Finans entered into a 12-year loan
agreement for USD 32 million which has been converted into NOK 206 million. In November 1999,
Schibsted Finans entered into a 10-year loan
agreement for EUR 25 million and in 2004 it entered
into a 12-year loan agreement for EUR 25 million.
In 2004, Schibsted set up a new syndicated
multi-currency loan facility with a total lending
framework of EUR 250 million. This facility was
available as from 31 July 2004 and replaced the
Group’s previous USD 180 million facility. The facility is provided by a syndicate of seven Norwegian
and international banks and consists of a five-year
drawing facility on EUR 150 million and a 364-day

SCHIBSTED EIENDOM (Real Estate)
Schibsted Eiendom manages the Group’s properties. Most of the buildings in Norway are owned
directly or via subsidiaries of Schibsted. Larger
properties are leased via Schibsted Eiendom
which sublets to sister companies.
Entra Eiendom subleases three floors of
Akersgaten 55 from Schibsted Eiendom. In addition, Schibsted Eiendom leases a total of eight
floors from Entra Eiendom in Biskop Gunnerusgt.
14. These premises are used by Aftenposten.
All the properties, owned or leased, were fully
rented out at the year-end, mainly to companies
within the Schibsted Group. The industrial property at Stålfjæra 5 in Oslo was sold in January
2005.
The day-to-day management of the properties in
Norway is outsourced. This includes reception
services, security, operations and some regular
maintenance.

drawing facility on EUR 100 million. In connection
with the 364-day facility, options have been entered into enabling the facility to be extended by
364-day periods up to four times or to be converted into a long-term loan with a term of up to five
years. The facility was entered into on favourable
market terms based on Euribor plus a margin.
When Schibsted acquired a majority shareholding
in Svenska Dagbladet Holding AB in July 1998, it
also became the majority owner of
Tidningstryckarna Aftonbladet Svenska Dagbladet
AB and Fastighets AB Tidningsfabriken. These two
companies have external leasing agreements and
loans totalling SEK 185 million. At the beginning of
2005, the Group agreed to sell the Swedish printing works so that these loans will be redeemed in
the spring of 2005.

Liquidity
Schibsted has a group account scheme with
Danske Bank that covers all the Norwegian subsidiaries and most of the Group’s subsidiaries in
Sweden and Denmark. The group account system
was established to contribute to optimal liquidity
management for Schibsted. The Group has a drawing limit under the scheme of NOK 400 million.
The surplus liquidity is mainly invested in the
Group account or in short-term interest rate instruments and money market funds. The Schibsted
Group aims for its total liquidity reserves to represent a minimum of 10 per cent of the next 12
months’ expected operating revenues. This was
complied with as at 31 December 2004, since the
liquidity reserve amounted to NOK 2.5 billion.

Financial risk management
Interest-rate risk
The Schibsted Group has both floating and fixed

interest rates on its long-term debt. When it issued
bonds in the autumn of 2003, Schibsted chose to
fix the interest rate at 4.98 per cent for a loan of
NOK 600 million over four years. In April 1997,
Schibsted Finans entered into a 10-year NOK 100
million interest-rate cap, which guarantees a maximum interest rate of seven per cent and thus partly
safeguards the Group against a possible rise in interest rates. Since the interest-rate level is currently
far below seven per cent, the interest-rate cap is
not expected to be of any value. Around 40 per cent
of the Group’s debt at the end of 2004 was subject
to a fixed interest rate.
Schibsted has substantial pension liabilities
which, unlike interest-bearing liabilities, are affected positively by an increase in the interest rate
because the discount rate increases. Correspondingly, the pension liabilities are negatively affected by a fall in interest rates. This means the
Group’s interest-rate exposure in interest-bearing
liabilities and pension liabilities will partly offset
each other in the event of interest rate changes.
This therefore reduces the need to hedge the
interest rate on interest-bearing liabilities.

Currency risk
The Group has loans or forward contracts in various currencies as a way of hedging the currency
risk run by the Group’s activities in Sweden,
Denmark, Estonia and the Continent. The foreign-currency loans and forward contracts are
managed actively, in line with the Group’s strategy, in order to reduce the currency risk. At the end
of 2004, the Group had several forward contracts
involving the sale of SEK and EUR and the corresponding purchase of NOK that has been entered
into for this purpose.

Schibsted Eiendom AS as at 31 December 2004
Addresses, owned buildings
Total sq.m.
Akersgaten 55, Oslo,
subsidiary of Verdens Gang
32 000
Apotekergaten 10, Oslo
6 400
Gildi str. 1 Tartu
1 100
Jenagade 22, København
9 600

Main tenants
VG, Schibsted Eiendom/
Entra Eiendom *), etc.
Schibsted ASA, Schibsted Mobile, Retriver
Eesti Meedia – offices
Metronome Studios, Metronome
Productions TV3 DK, etc
Schibsted Trykk
Schibsted Forlagene
Sold in January 2005
Eesti Meedia office/printing works
Tidningstryckarna

Sandakerveien 121, Oslo
45 000
Skjærvaveien 24, Strømmen
2 100
Stålfjæra 5, Oslo
2 200
Tähe str. 133 Tartu
7 800
Vandagatan 3, Akalla, Stockholm
26 700
Total
132 900
Of which Schibsted companies own
132 900
Office, production work and storage premises
Site
1.8-hectare site ready for building in Oslo. Plans approved for a building of up to 50 000 sq.m. (light, above ground)
Addresses, owned buildings
Total sq.m.
Main tenants
Apotekergt. 12/Pilestredet 12, Oslo
4 550
Schibsted Forlagene
Arenavägen - Globen City, Stockholm
7 400
Aftonbladet
Biskop Gunnerusgt. 14, Oslo *)
16 174
Schibsted Eiendom / Aftenposten
Gullhaug Torv 3, Oslo *)
7 700
Nydalen Studios, Nordisk Film, Aftenposten
Mäster Samuelsgt 56, Stockholm
5 200
Svenska Dagbladet
Maakri 23, Tallinn
3 800
Eesti Meedia
*) Schibsted Eiendom AS sublets these premises to the tenants.

Schibsted’s corporate governance is also based on
the Norwegian Recommendations regarding
Corporate Governance (”the Recommendations”).
The main principles of Schibsted’s corporate governance are to be found in this chapter of the Annual
Report. It has been more natural to discuss other
parts of the Recommendations in more specific contexts elsewhere in the Annual Report.

Shareholders
Schibsted ASA has one class of shares, with equal
rights attaching to each share.
Due to Schibsted’s publishing responsibility and role
in society as a media company, Schibsted’s impartiality and integrity have also been guaranteed by
restrictions in ownership and voting rights stipulated in the company’s articles of association.
Changes to the articles of association require the
approval of more than 75 per cent of the share capital represented at the Annual General Meeting. The
same applies to resolutions to transfer publication
rights in Aftenposten and VG. The Group’s publishing companies also have provisions in their articles
of association to safeguard their editorial freedom.
Any shareholder owning at least 25 per cent of the
shares in the company is entitled to appoint one
board member directly.
Blommenholm Industrier AS, which is owned by
Tinius Nagell-Erichsen, controls 26.1 per cent of the
shares in Schibsted ASA. The voting A share in
Blommenholm Industrier AS will be transferred to
the Tinius Trust at a time decided by Tinius NagellErichsen or upon his death. The Tinius Trust is described in more detail on pages 30 and 31 of the
Annual Report.

Central bodies
The company is organised as a public limited company, with the Annual General Meeting as the
supreme authority, a Board of Directors, an external auditor and a Chief Executive Officer reporting
to the Board of Directors. Schibsted is exempt from
the rules regarding the establishment of a corporate assembly.

Board of Directors
The Group’s Board of Directors currently consists
of 11 members. Seven are elected by the shareholders and four are elected by and from among
the employees. In accordance with protocols from
1988/89, one of the employee seats on the board
is reserved for a VG employee. In addition, VG has
a deputy member who regularly attends the meetings. Three of the employee seats on the board are
reserved for Aftenposten employees.
In 2003, it was important to achieve improved profitability and strengthen the Group’s financial position. At the start of 2004, the Group was well-positioned for further growth and growth opportunities
were also assessed and in part also utilised in
2004. This took place by the Group acquiring and
further developing its own operations within its
core areas. The growth has mainly taken place
within new media. The identification and assessment of further growth opportunities for the Group
will also be a key area in the future.
Ahead of the budget process, the Board is involved
in an extensive strategy process in which the
Group’s main long-term vision, goals and strategies
are reviewed. The status of the Group’s various
business areas is evaluated and new goals are
determined.
As a management tool, the Board receives monthly
financial reports showing the main figures for the
Group, the status of the commercial situation, financial market information and a status report for each
business area. The Board seeks to obtain a detailed
presentation of one of the Group’s central companies
at each board meeting. Furthermore, the Board
seeks to regularly combine its meetings with a visit
to one of the Group’s subsidiaries outside Oslo.
Instructions have been prepared for the Board and
for the Chief Executive Officer. The Board regularly

evaluates the factors which affect the work and
working methods of the Board. In connection with
this, the size and composition of the Board have
also been discussed.
The Board believes it is important to its work that
the Board consists of qualified members representing diversity as regards age, gender and education. A more detailed presentation of the Board
members, listing their experience and expertise, is
given on page 56 of the Annual Report.
In order to strengthen and best exploit the Board
members’ expertise and experience in the
Schibsted Group’s operations, some of them also
hold directorships in the Group’s subsidiaries.
Among the shareholder-elected Board members,
this currently applies to Ole Jacob Sunde, who is a
director of Aftonbladet Hierta AB, Cato A. Holmsen
and Tinius Nagell-Erichsen, who are directors of
Aftenposten AS, Jan Reinås, who is a director of
Verdens Gang AS, and Monica Caneman, who is a
director of Svenska Dagbladet.
The Board of Blommenholm Industrier AS,
Schibsted’s largest shareholder, comprises Tinius
Nagell-Erichsen (Chairman), Ole Jacob Sunde and
John A. Rein. Ole Jacob Sunde is the Chairman of
Schibsted ASA’s Board. John A. Rein is a secondary
deputy member for the shareholder-elected members of the Group’s Board. John A. Rein provides
legal services to Blommenholm Industrier
AS/Tinius Nagell-Erichsen through the law firm of
Wikborg, Rein & Co.
Formuesforvaltning ASA, of which Ole Jacob Sunde
is a major shareholder, has a management agreement with Blommenholm Industrier AS/Tinius
Nagell-Erichsen. Blommenholm Industrier AS has
invested in FSN Capital Fund I (1.75 per cent share).
Schibsted ASA Board member Cato A. Holmsen is
executive chairman of this fund’s management
company, FSN Capital Partners AS.
Some Board members/deputy members are also
members of the Tinius Trust’s board. The board of
the Tinius Trust currently comprises Tinius NagellErichsen (Chairman), Ole Jacob Sunde, John A. Rein
and Per Egil Hegge.

Corporate Governance

Schibsted’s corporate governance is based on
Schibsted’s publishing tradition and the value base
that has always played a key role in the Group’s
operations. This means that editorial integrity, independence, credibility and quality are the basis for all
the media and publications that form part of the
Schibsted Group’s Norwegian and foreign operations. This is regarded as so central to the exercise
of the ownership and management of the Group that
it has been stipulated in Schibsted’s articles of association.
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The Board of Directors
Ole Jacob Sunde
Chairman of the Board

Schibsted ASA
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Kjell Aamot
President & CEO

Corporate Governance
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Newspapers

TV, Film & Publishing

Economy/Finance

Birger Magnus
Executive Vice President

Jan Erik Knarbakk
Executive Vice President

Trond Berger
Executive Vice President

In 2004, Schibsted ASA’s Board established a
separate Compensation Committee to prepare
issues to be discussed by the Board relating to
remuneration to the Group’s senior management.
This work includes questions relating to salaries,
bonuses, options, severance pay, early retirement
and normal retirement. The complexity of and
requirement of thoroughness in this field have
increased over the past few years. The Board therefore saw the need to appoint a committee that
could prepare these issues for Board discussions.
The Board members do not take part in the option
programme.
The Board shares the Election Committee’s view
that the creation of committees can lead to a pulverisation of the Board’s responsibilities and that
committees should only be used where the complexity and scope of the issue so demand. The
Board has concluded that it is so far not necessary to establish a separate Audit Committee.
The Compensation Committee consists of Ole
Jacob Sunde, Monica Caneman and Alexandra
Bech Gjørv. The Secretary to the Board is also the
Secretary to the Compensation Committee. The
Group CEO attends meetings of the Compensation
Committee unless his own remuneration is being
discussed. The Compensation Committee also
makes use of internal management resources and
external expertise as required.

for many years. He is a partner in the law firm of
Wikborg, Rein & Co.
Grete Faremo was a member of the Election
Committee until the Annual General Meeting in
2004. When she was then elected a member of
the Schibsted ASA Board, Gunn Wærsted took her
place on the Election Committee. Gunn Wærsted is
the CEO of the Sparebank 1 Group. Among other
posts, she holds directorships in the Norwegian
Financial Services Association and the Norwegian
Cancer Society and is chairman of the board of the
Norwegian School of Management (BI). She is also
a member of the corporate assemblies of Orkla and
Rieber & Søn. Gunn Wærsted has no other posts in
or links to Schibsted.
Schibsted’s Election Committee has played a more
active role in Schibsted over the past few years.
The Election Committee’s chairman is present at
the Annual General Meeting and provides a verbal
report on the work the Election Committee has
carried out during the year.
The Election Committee also provides a written
report on its work, stating the issues it has
assessed during the year and its proposals
regarding fees payable to Board members. This
report is published on page 50 of the Annual
Report.

Schibsted’s Group Council
Election Committee
The company’s Election Committee is elected by
the Annual General Meeting for a two-year term.
The present Election Committee was elected by
the Annual General Meeting in 2004 and will therefore remain in office until the ordinary Annual
General Meeting in 2006.
The Election Committee comprises Supreme
Court Attorney Lars A. Christensen (Chairman),
Gunn Wærsted and Tinius Nagell-Erichsen. It was
not regarded as necessary to elect a deputy member to the Election Committee at last year’s
Annual General Meeting. This issue will be reconsidered prior to this year’s Annual General
Meeting. The Board’s Secretary prepares the issues to be discussed by the Election Committee and
normally attends meetings together with the
Group CEO.
Lars A. Christensen has been Chairman of the
Election Committee for a number of years and has
also chaired Schibsted’s Annual General Meetings

Schibsted’s Group Council was established in
2004, based on the statutory regulations regarding the Establishment of European Works
Councils.

Strategic projects and
Business Development
Sverre Munck
Executive Vice President

the Group Council. These representatives are elected from 23 constituencies, which are defined
according to job groups and business areas within
the Group. The first Group Council election was
held in April 2004, when 28 representatives were
elected for a two-year period. In addition, the
Group Council consists of six representatives of the
Group management. A more detailed presentation
of the Group Council and its work is published on
page 54 of the Annual Report.

Auditing
Ernst & Young is Schibsted ASA’s auditor. The
Company’s auditor is present when the interim
consolidated accounts are presented to the Board
of Directors, and sometimes also in connection
with the final presentation of the accounts. At
these meetings, the auditor reviews the issues
that have been assessed during the year and answers questions from the Board. The auditor is also
present at the company’s Annual General Meeting
and comments on the auditor’s report that has
been provided and invites the shareholders to ask
questions relating to the audit.
As stated on page 74 of the Annual Report, the
Group’s total auditors’ fees to Ernst & Young in
2004 amounted to NOK 4 590 000, of which NOK
708 000 related to Schibsted ASA. Other services
from Ernst & Young are invoiced separately and in
2004 these amounted to NOK 1 428 000 for the
Group, of which NOK 105 000 related to Schibsted
ASA. This assistance is mainly connected to taxation and necessary auditor’s confirmations in connection with corporate changes in the Group (capital injections, mergers, demergers, etc).

The agreement entered into stipulates that the
purpose of the Group Council is to promote development, motivation, joint responsibility and mutual trust between the management team and
employees. The Council is to ensure active cooperation and represents a forum for information, discussion and dialogue within the Group. The agreement is a supplement to the employees’ representation in their own companies.

Some of the Group’s subsidiaries use other auditing
companies. Auditors’ fees to these companies
amounted to NOK 4 985 000 in 2004, while total
fees for other services amounted to NOK 2 478 000.

The agreement also stipulates that the parties
share a common goal to make the Group Council a
centre of excellence in the Group. The Group
Council is to help strengthen the employees’ Group
identity and act as a forum for the transfer and
development of skills across national, trade-union,
organisational and company boundaries.
The employees elect up to 30 representatives to

The Board has so far seen no need to hold meetings with the auditor without the management
being present.

It is the Board’s opinion that the consulting services carried out by Ernst & Young for the Group are
mainly connected with the auditing assignments
and do not influence the auditor’s impartiality.

Otherwise, refer to note 7 to the accounts (page 74
of the Annual Report), in which the nature and
scope of the services are described in further detail.
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Management salaries in the
Schibsted Group
The mandate of the Schibsted ASA Board’s
Compensation Committee is to submit proposals to
the Board regarding the CEO’s conditions and to
propose the frameworks and guidelines that are to
apply to the remuneration of the executive vice
presidents and the management of the Group’s
major subsidiaries.
The CEO’s fixed salary has increased by around 3.5
per cent for the past few years. Like the CEO, the
executive vice presidents and managers of the
individual companies are mainly remunerated on
the basis of long-term profit creation.
The major part of this consists of a fixed salary
that is adjusted in line with general market developments.
In addition, the managers are remunerated in the
form of a bonus on achieved profit targets and a
share option scheme. On the basis of the frameworks determined by the Compensation

Committee, the CEO negotiates salary terms with
the executive vice presidents. Within the same
framework, the executive vice presidents negotiate
salary terms with the managers of the companies.
The Schibsted Group currently has pension schemes that ensure no ceiling is placed on the basis
for calculating the pension payments of most of
the senior management. In addition, many of the
senior management have individual agreements
that allow them to take early retirement and continue receiving a significant part of their salary up to
the normal retirement age. Most of the senior
management also have severance pay schemes
that ensure they will receive their salary for 18
months in addition to the period of notice (normally six months) should they be dismissed by the
company without having committed any fundamental breach of their employment contract.
The CEO is entitled, subject to the same conditions, to severance pay equal to 24 months’ salary
in addition to the six-month period of notice.

Senior employees in the Group management and
Group subsidiaries may hold paid and unpaid
directorships in the Group’s companies. The scheme involving paid directorships within the Group
for the Group’s employees is planned to be wound
up in 2005.
Otherwise refer to note 7 to the annual accounts,
which provide information on the main features of
the management’s conditions in the form of salary,
bonuses, options and pension schemes.
The Compensation Committee has reported to the
Board on certain sub-issues relating to the
management’s future compensation schemes and
aims to conclude its part of this work in 2005. The
Board’s new guidelines for determining the
management’s overall compensation schemes will
thus not be presented until the annual report and
accounts are presented for 2005.
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Schibsted’s Group management – from the left: Birger Magnus, Executive Vice President Newspapers, Sverre Munck, Executive Vice President Strategic Projects and Business
Development, Kjell Aamot, President and CEO, Jan Erik Knarbakk, Executive Vice President TV/Film & Publishing, and Trond Berger, Executive Vice President Economy/Finance.
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Statement of The Election
Committee
In order to ensure continuity among Board members, Schibsted has had an election system
according to which not all shareholder-elected
Board members are up for re-election at the
same time. This has meant that, each year, there
have been Board members who are up for reelection even though the election period is two
years. This has also meant that the Election
Committee has worked continuously on Board
recruitment and the evaluation of the Board’s
work.
This year, three of the seven shareholder-elected Board members are up for re-election:
Alexandra Bech, Monica Caneman and Grete
Faremo. The Election Committee proposes that
these three Board members be re-elected. In
addition, Jan Reinås has notified the Election
Committee that he wishes to resign from the
Board. This means that he will also leave the
board of Verdens Gang AS. The Election
Committee will have the name of the proposed
new candidate ready to the sending out of the
invitation to the Annual General Meeting.
The Election Committee carries out a continual
evaluation of the Board and prepares an annual
report to the Annual General Meeting. The
Election Committee therefore proposes that the
election period for each Board member be reduced from two years to one year. This will involve
an amendment to §8, paragraph two, sentence
two of the Group’s Articles of Association.
It is important to the Election Committee that it
ensures the continuous strengthening and further development of the Board’s expertise and
experience, and that it ensures Board recruitment that makes certain that directorships are
also held by independent Board members who
do not have any special interests to safeguard in
their work on the Board.
Information on the Board members’ business
relationships with shareholders or others is stated in the Annual Report’s section on Corporate
Governance. As regards the Board members’
independence, the Election Committee wishes to
state that the Deputy Chairman of the Board,
Tinius Nagell-Erichsen, represents Schibsted’s
major shareholder, Blommenholm Industrier AS.
As regards the other Board members, there is no
such direct representation, but there are
grounds for stating that the Chairman of the
Board, Ole Jacob Sunde, and the secondary
deputy member, John A Rein, are both members
of the board of the Tinius Trust, which was established by Tinius Nagell-Erichsen. The only

voting share in Blommenholm Industrier AS will
be transferred to the Tinius Trust when Tinius
Nagell-Erichsen so decides or upon his death.
The Election Committee considers the Board’s
other shareholder-elected members and deputy
members to be independent in the sense that
they cannot be said to have any particular links
to any specific group of shareholders.
The Election Committee does not believe that
the Board members’ directorships of subsidiaries
weaken their impartiality as Board members. On
the contrary, in the Election Committee’s opinion, this represents additional resources when
key issues are to be discussed.
The Election Committee has given consideration
to the forming of Board committees. The
Election Committee is aware that there is a
general trend towards committees being established in order to ensure that issues are sufficiently well prepared before they are submitted to
the Board for a decision.
The Election Committee is aware that the Board
has established a Compensation Committee that
assesses the remuneration to managers in the
Schibsted Group. The Compensation Committee
currently consists of the chairman, Ole Jacob
Sunde, Alexandra Bech and Monica Caneman.
The Election Committee understands that the
Board needs complicated, detailed issues such
as managerial salaries, bonuses, options and
pensions to be prepared separately by some of
the Board’s members and thereafter be presented to the Board for its decision. The choice of
this approach may also be linked to the fact that
Schibsted’s Board is a large one and that round
table discussions thus can be demanding.
However, the Election Committee is sceptical to
the formation of committees as this may result
in the pulverisation of the Board’s liability as a
group. The more important an issue, the more
important is that the entire prior discussion and
preparation of the decision-making basis is carried out in the Board as one group, and not by a
few of the Board members through work on a
committee. The Election Committee believes the
need for committees to prepare issues for the
Board would be less if the number of Board
members were reduced. The Election Committee
is aware that efforts are still being made to ensure such a reduction in the number of Board
members.

Board members who serve on committees
should be paid a separate fee for this work.
The Election Committee is of the opinion that the
Board recruitment of recent years, which is
being continued this year, has succeeded in specialising and widening the expertise of the shareholder-elected Board members as regards
their experience, age, gender and education.
As regards the fees to the Board’s members,
deputy members and the committee members
the Election Committee will present the proposals in the invitation to the Annual General
Meeting.
The Election Committee has received a report
from the Chairman of the Board which provides a
briefing on the Board’s work in 2004 and has
taken this into account in its evaluations and
proposals regarding elections that will be submitted at this year’s Annual General Meeting.
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“Ownership is much more significant to a newspaper than a normal industrial company". These
were the opening words of Tinius NagellErichsen when he presented his report on the
Tinius Trust in May 1996, which show what special social responsibility is involved in running
newspapers and other media. Media owners have
a special responsibility. We discuss our responsibility as a media company and the Tinius Trust
on pages 30 and 31 of this Annual Report.
Schibsted builds on the publishing tradition
which gives editorial freedom to newspapers and
other media, and emphasises the requirements
of editorial impartiality, reliability and quality.
This is an essential part of the Group’s 166-yearold tradition.

Aftenposten has actively recruited women to
leading positions, and its proportion of women in
such jobs is now 32 per cent. The corresponding
figures for Aftonbladet and Svenska Dagbladet
are 36 per cent and 53 per cent respectively.
The Group management is also working systematically to ensure a balance between men and
women, particularly in training programmes
arranged by the Group. Since their inception, the
proportion of women in these programmes has
been as follows:
• Schibsted Management Trainee Programme –
established in 1997 – 46 per cent.
• Schibsted Middle Management Programme –
established in 2003 – 38 per cent.
• Schibsted Management Programme – established in 2004 – 26 per cent.
However, much remains to be done before
Schibsted can be considered to have achieved
full equality.
At present, the proportion of women on
Schibsted’s Board of Directors is 45 per cent.

Equality

Working environment

Schibsted thrives on skilful and talented managers and employees. For this reason, it is essential for the Group to ensure that men and women
have equal development opportunities. This is an
important part of the Group’s social responsibility and the basis for further success.

Schibsted aspires to ensure a high level of satisfaction in its workplaces, as well as good cooperation among colleagues and between management and other employees. The working
environment committees in the individual companies deal with working environment issues.
With the help of the company health services,
working environment surveys are conducted
and form the basis for improvements.

Active efforts are underway to secure equal conditions for men and women, including equal access
to managerial posts and equal conditions for
recruitment and development activities in a number of the Group’s companies. Several companies
have their own equality plans and many are conducting surveys based on an equality perspective.
VG’s trainee programme for new journalists,
which was launched in 2003, is one of many
examples of how Schibsted’s subsidiaries are
actively taking steps to ensure equality. The aim
of the programme is to recruit young women
with journalistic talent to positions in maledominated editorial environments, such as sport
and news. This programme was advertised in
the autumn of 2003 and attracted criticism from
the Equal Opportunities Board, which argued
that VG was discriminating against men. The
Board called for a change to the wording and VG
acceded to this request. Four female trainees
were selected for the programme.

The sickness absence rate in the Group is approximately six per cent and has remained stable in
recent years. Some companies, such as Schibsted
Trykk, have a particularly high level of sickness
absence. Measures already carried out have reduced this, but it still remains at the high level.
Additional measures are being implemented.
Injuries in the Group’s companies are at a low
level. Operations in the printing companies are
particularly vulnerable, but active HES work is
being carried out and no accidents were recorded at any of the printing works in 2004. A total
of 10 minor accidents recorded in 2004 resulted
in slight personal injury.
The need to adapt is great in the media sector,
particularly in the newspaper industry. Major
changes in the readership and advertising markets are forcing subscription newspapers, in par-

ticular, to undergo tough reorganisation processes. These are and have been necessary in order
for the companies to create the basis for continued operations.
It is Schibsted’s responsibility to ensure that the
process is managed in a professional way, with
respect for those involved and in close cooperation
with the employees’ unions. The Group believes
that it has managed this successfully in 2004.

The external environment
Schibsted’s companies carry out their operations
in compliance with current environmental regulations. Newspaper production is digital until it
reaches the printing works. At the year-end,
Schibsted owned four printing works: Schibsted
Trykk and Harstad Tidende Trykk in Norway,
Tidningstryckarna in Sweden and Kroonpress in
Estonia. Basically, printing is a relatively clean
industry. Where contaminated materials are
used, the processes are carried out in sealed
systems.
Separation at source has been introduced for most
waste. For example, Schibsted Trykk separates 98
per cent of its waste at source. Special waste is
collected by approved transport companies.
The printing works have implemented the following projects aimed at environmental improvements:
• Schibsted Trykk – has installed treatment
plants which have reduced the waste linked to
humidity from 172 tonnes in 2000 to 26 tonnes
in 2004.
• Tidningstryckarna – has reduced the use of
solvents by 90 per cent when washing rubber
blankets. It also uses environmentally labelled
electricity.
• Kroonpress – has been awarded ISO certification for environmental processing
(ISO 14001/1996).
The different printing works’ use of newsprint,
printing ink and electricity varies slightly but is on
the whole at the same level as in 2003. In total,
they consume 113 400 tonnes of paper, 2 440 tonnes of printing ink and 36.4 GWh of electricity.
Schibsted’s printing works deal with environmental conditions in their own separate reports.
For example, Schibsted Trykk prepares an annual
environmental report. The newspaper companies
in Norway and Sweden arrange for the collection
of unsold newspapers for recycling.
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Trust is a key word for a media company. It is
essential to have mutual trust with readers, viewers and listeners, as well as employees, owners
and society at large. Trust and responsibility are
closely linked. One does not gain trust without
taking responsibility. For Schibsted, it is of vital
importance to be ethical and responsible.

Social Responsibility

Social Responsibility
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Shareholder information
“Schibsted’s shareholders shall over time take
part in the Company’s value creation by receiving a competitive return on their investment
through a combination of an increase in the
share price and dividends.” That was the shareholder strategy Schibsted adopted, in accordance with the Board’s resolution of 1992, when
the Company was listed on the Oslo Stock
Exchange. The objective is linked to the goal of
financing the Group’s investment needs without
obtaining new capital.

tion to have web pages of the highest quality,
and the Group’s presentation of information to
the market has won awards on several occasions.

A dedicated and active management and investor
relations department are in daily contact with the
investor market in order to provide it with relevant and timely information, thus ensuring that
the Schibsted share is correctly priced. Contact
with Norwegian and international investment
markets is a high priority for Schibsted. Our
objectives are to increase people’s knowledge
about the Company, establish confidence in
Schibsted among investors and increase the
liquidity of the share.

Financial goals

Schibsted’s development is monitored by the
leading brokerage houses in the Nordic countries
as well as by some international ones.
Schibsted’s goal is to achieve analytical coverage from a wide range of brokerage houses.
Contact with international investors is important
to Schibsted and meetings with investors are
held on a regular basis in Europe and the United
States.
Schibsted’s web site, www.schibsted.no, is an
important tool in the company’s communication
with the stock market. All financial information
relating to Schibsted, such as presentations,
quarterly and annual reports, stock exchange
notifications, etc, are published on the company’s
home page. As a media company with a major
focus on online activities, it is Schibsted’s ambi-

On 4 October 2004, the Oslo Stock Exchange
introduced liquidity categories and Information
and English symbols. Schibsted was placed in
the group with the most liquid shares, OBX, and
was awarded the Information and English symbols from day one.

One of Schibsted’s main goals is to ensure the
shareholders a competitive return on their
investment through a combination of an increase in share prices over time and direct dividend.
This is to be ensured through long-term growth
and clear financial goals for operating margins,
return on capital and financial soundness. The
average long-term financial goals over a business cycle are:
Net operating margin EBITA
Return on total assets
Equity ratio
Long-term goals for profitable
organic growth in revenue:

7%

Capital structure
At the end of 2004, Schibsted had, as a result of
its strong cash flow, considerable liquidity reserves (NOK 2.5 bn), a low level of net interest-bearing debt (NOK 1.2 bn) and an equity ratio of 32.7.
The required rate of return on its equity is high
and the Group’s goal is to achieve an equity ratio
of 35 over time. With its current earnings and
cash flow, the Group’s equity ratio will over time
increase to above this level. Without structural
acquisitions that can alter the Group’s capital
structure, it will be necessary to consider measures to reduce the equity ratio during the next
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12 months. Various measures that will be considered for adapting the capital structure while
also maintaining the Group’s financial flexibility
include the repurchase of own shares and the
distribution of higher dividends or the distribution of an extraordinary dividend.

Dividend
The Group achieved very good financial results
for 2004, with an equity ratio of 33 per cent. The
Board of Directors will request the Annual
General Meeting to approve a dividend of NOK
3.25 per share, an increase of around eight per
cent compared to the previous year. The objective is to maintain a high, stable dividend. The
dividend is to be competitive compared to those
from other shares on the Oslo Stock Exchange.
During periods of intensive investment, it is the
company’s objective that the dividend from
Schibsted ASA will remain at a steady, high
level. The dividend will be paid on 20 May 2005
to shareholders who are registered as such on
2 May 2005, the date of the Annual General
Meeting.

Share price development
The Schibsted share is listed on the Oslo Stock
Exchange. The price of the share at the beginning of the year was NOK 110.86. This had increased to NOK 172.00 by the end of the year, an
increase in value of 55 per cent. During the same
period, the Oslo Stock Exchange Benchmark
Index (OSEBX) rose by approx. 38 per cent. The
lowest price at which the Schibsted share was
traded on 2 January was NOK 110.86, while the
highest share price – NOK 177.50 – was noted on
2 December. The media sector experienced a
further upswing in 2004 compared to the year
before, driven by generally brighter financial prospects.
On average, around 216 200 shares were traded
each day in 2004, an increase of 47 per cent
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The Annual General Meeting on 7 May 1998 authorised the Board of Directors to repurchase
shares in Schibsted ASA. The Annual General
Meeting on 6 May 2004 decided to extend the
share repurchase authorisation, limited to

Employee stock programme

incentive schemes give employees the opportunity to take part in the value creation that takes
place within the Group.
In 2004, Schibsted’s employees were again
given the opportunity to purchase shares worth
NOK 7 500 at a 20 per cent discount, in accordance with the Norwegian Tax Act’s regulations.
Around 20 per cent of those who received the
officer accepted it in 2004, compared to 19 per
cent in 2003.

Schibsted believes that incentive schemes
attract and retain skilled employees. Various

Financial calendar 2005
Accounts 1st quarter 2005
Presentation
Webcast – English presentation
Annual General Meeting
Telephone conference call

Date
2 May
2 May
2 May
2 May

Time
4.30 pm
4.30 pm
5.30 pm
6.30 pm

Accounts 2nd quarter 2005
Presentation
Webcast – English presentation
Telephone conference call

11 August
11 August
11 August

4.30 pm
4.30 pm
5.30 pm

Accounts 3rd quarter 2005
Presentation
Webcast – English presentation
Telephone conference call

3 November
3 November
3 November

4.30 pm
4.30 pm
5.30 pm

The 10 largest shareholders
The table below shows the largest shareholders as registered in the
Norwegian Central Securities Depository.
Holdings
Share (%)
Nominee
1 Blommenholm Industrier AS
18 083 520
26.11
2 State Street Bank
7 573 130
10.94
x
3 Folketrygdfondet
4 945 000
7.14
4 JPMorgan Chase Bank
3 873 019
5.59
x
5 Mellon Bank
3 725 209
5.38
x
6 Schibsted ASA
1 320 470
1.91
7 Vital Forsikring ASA
1 232 846
1.78
8 State Street Bank
1 030 110
1.49
x
9 Goldman Sachs
896 919
1.30
x
10 Orkla ASA
880 450
1.27
Foreign ownership share
No. of shareholders
Total no. of outstanding shares
Of which own shares

47.8 %
4 425
69 250 000
1 320 470

Dividend per share (NOK)
Year
Dividend

1994
1.15

1995
1.30

1996
1.50

1997
1.75

1998
1.75

1999
1.75

2000
2.00

2001
2.00

2002
2.00

2003
3.00

2004
3.25

1996
4.25

1997
4.96

1998
6.23

1999
1.98

2000
1.68

2001
4.79

2002
1.19

2003
3.27

2004
1.21

‘RISK’ AMOUNT PER SHARE AS AT 1 JANUARY (NOK)
Year
Risk amount

1994
5.16

1995
4.31

(Risk amount = estimated adjustment to the tax basis)

Investor Relations Contacts:
Trond Berger, Chief Financial Officer – E-mail: trond.berger@schibsted.no
Gisle Glück Evensen, Investor Relations Officer – E-mail: gisle.gluck.evensen@schibsted.no
Telephone: + 47 23 10 66 00 Telefax: + 47 23 10 66 01
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Share repurchase

6 925 000 shares. During the year, Schibsted
sold 50 048 of its own shares to the Schibsted
Employees’ Share Purchase Scheme and
120 000 of its own shares in connection with
share options granted in 2001 that were exercised in 2004 relating to the option programme for
key personnel in the Group. At the end of the year,
Schibsted owned 1 320 470 of its own shares.

Shareholder information

compared to 2003. The share of foreign-resident
owners was 48 per cent at the year-end, compared to 43 per cent at the beginning of 2004.
There were 4 425 shareholders at the end of
2004, compared to 5 544 at the end of 2003.

EUROPEAN WORKS COUNCIL - "GROUP COUNCIL”
The Group management team and a negotiating
committee consisting of employees’ representatives in the Group have reached an agreement
which involves the establishment of what we have
called the “Group Council" in Schibsted. The Group
Council has been set up according to the model
stipulated by the statutory regulations regarding
the Establishment of European Works Councils.
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European Works Council
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The agreement specifies that the purpose of the
Group Council is to promote development, motivation, joint responsibility and mutual trust between the management team and employees.
The Council aims to ensure active cooperation
and represent a forum for information, discussion and dialogue in the Group. The agreement is
a supplement to the employees’ representation
in their own company.
The agreement also specifies that the parties
share a common goal to make the Group Council
a centre of excellence within the Group. The
Group Council is intended to help strengthen
employees’ Group identity and act as a forum for
the transfer and development of skills across
national boundaries and employees’ links to their
own trade unions, organisations and companies.
The Group Council currently consists of 28
employee-elected representatives. These are
chosen from 21 constituencies which are determined on the basis of the Group’s professional
and business areas. In addition, the Group
Council consists of six representatives of the
Group management. Håkon Letvik of
Aftenposten’s Editorial Staff Union, is the chairman of the Group Council. A Working Committee
has been established consisting of four representatives elected from among the employee’s representatives. The Working Committee is chaired by
the chairman of the Group Council. In addition, a
Liaison Committee has been established consisting of the members of the Working Committee
and four representatives of the Group management. The Liaison Committee is chaired by the
Group CEO. The Liaison Committee prepares the
Group Council’s meetings and helps to maintain a
dialogue in between the Group Council meetings.
The first meeting of the Group Council was held
in Oslo in September 2004. The next meeting
will take place in Tallinn in April of this year.

The Group Council consists of the following representatives

MAIN CONSTITUENCY NORWAY
Aftenposten
Editorial staff constituency
Representatives
Håkon Letvik
Hanne Lier

Deputy representative
1st Johnny Gimmestad
2st Thomas Spence

Production constituency

Svenska Dagbladet

The employees in this constituency are the members of Aftenposten’s Printing Union. No candidates were proposed by either those employees
entitled to submit a proposal or the union.

Editorial staff
Klas Tägil
Marianne Falk

Production/other employees
Verdens Gang
Editorial staff constituency

Christer B Sandberg

Representatives
Audun Solberg
Kjetil Stormark

Tidningstryckarna
Printers’ Union (GPK)

Deputy representative
1st Sven Arne Buggeland
2nd Ann K. Hanssen

Administration
Representative
Monica Andresen

Deputy representative
Geir Oterhals

Representative
Øystein Simensen

Deputy representative
Jan Tore Engebretsen

Representative
Elisabeth Ellingsen,
VG Multimedia

Deputy representative
Terje Berget, FINN cars

Production
Representative
Werner Larsen

Deputy representative
Håkon B. Mikkelsen

Salaried employees, others
Representative
Olav Aardalsbakke

Deputy representative
Asbjørn Hollund

Other employees
Representative
Marit Sollesnes

Deputy representative
Unni Hellevik

MAIN CONSTITUENCY TV, FILM
& PUBLISHING

Deputy representative
Mr. Hannes Kuusma

Production
Deputy representative
Mr. Aimar Prous

MAIN CONSTITUENCY CENTRAL
EUROPE (20 MIN)

The Group management’s representatives
on the Group Council
Kjell Aamot (Group CEO)
Trond Berger (Executive Vice President
Economy/Finance)
Birger Magnus (Executive Vice President
Newspapers)
Sverre Munck (Executive Vice President Strategic
Projects and Business Development)
Jan Erik Knarbakk (Executive Vice President TV,
Film & Publishing)
Thomas Boe Hornburg (Vice President Expertise,
Information and Management Development)

Sandrew Metronome
Salaried employees/others in the SaMe Group
Representative
Deputy representative
Annika Ingeson
Pia Nordström

SaMe (Sweden) Swedish Union of
Theatrical and Media Employees
Representative
Mikael Andersson

Deputy representative
Martin Håkansson

Metronome Film & Television AB
Temporarily appointed
Anna Jeppsson (until a new representative can
be elected) No deputy representative has currently been appointed.

Schibsted publishing houses in
Norway/Sweden
Representative
Christian Ramm

Deputy representative
Elisabeth Jangås

MAIN CONSTITUENCY SWEDEN

Representative
Calle Söderberg
Camilla Norström

Deputy representative
Ole-Sivert Prytz

Representative
Mr. Priit Pullerits

No representative has currently been elected or
appointed.

Schibsted Trykk

Representatives
Rune Gulliksen
Anne-Marie Brenaas

Representative
Frank Johansen

MAIN CONSTITUENCY ESTONIA

Representative
Mr. Gerd Lindmaa

Multimedia

Aftonbladet
Aftonbladet’s journalists’ union

The external distribution system – representative/deputy representative appointed by the Distribution Staff Union

Deputy representative
Lars Gäderblom
Odd Iversen

Editorial staff
Production

Salaried/other employees constituency
Deputy representative
1st Tone Schjetne
2nd Ragnhild Ouren

Representative
Roger Lord
Patrik Jansson

Deputy representative
Joachim Kerpner
Malin Husar

The chairman of the Group Council
Håkon Letvik

The deputy chairman of the Group
Council
Øystein Simensen

The Working Committee
Representatives
Håkon Letvik
Øystein Simensen
Calle Söderberg
Elisabeth B. Ellingsen
Deputy representatives
Mikael Andersson
Monica Andresen

The Liaison Committee
From the employees (the Working Committee)
Håkon Letvik
Øystein Simensen
Calle Söderberg
Elisabeth B. Ellingsen
Deputy representatives
Mikael Andersson
Monica Andresen

Aftonbladet’s Salaried Employees’ Union

From the Group management

Martin Ulltin
For the management
Tommy Westerberg

Kjell Aamot
Birger Magnus
Thomas Hornburg
Camilla Jarlsby (Vice President Legal Affairs)
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Schibsted ASA’s Board of Directors – from the left: Grete Faremo, Jan Reinås, Gunnar Nordby, Alexandra Bech Gjørv, Håkon Kjernsmo, Monica Caneman, Ole Jacob Sunde (Chairman of
the Board), Berit Bjerg, Cato A. Holmsen and Hilde Harbo. Tinius Nagell-Erichsen (Deputy Chairman of the Board) was not present when this picture was taken.

OLE JACOB SUNDE,
CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD
Founder and Chairman of the Board of
Formuesforvaltning ASA since 2000. Founded
Industrifinans Forvaltning ASA (1983), of which he
was Managing Director until 2000. Former consultant with McKinsey & Co (1980-83). Board appointments include the Tinius Trust and Aftonbladet AB.

TINIUS NAGELL-ERICHSEN,
DEPUTY CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD
Master of Science (1959 LSE). Board Member of
Aftenposten. Former journalist with Aftenposten,
Managing Director of Verdens Gang and Aftenposten.
Chairman of Norwegian Federation of Newspaper
Employers for several terms 1972-87. Chairman of
the Board of Schibsted for several terms. Former
Chairman of the Board of Fædrelandsvennen, Board
Member and Chairman of the Board of Verdens Gang
and Board Member of Aftonbladet AB.

BERIT BJERG
Employed by Aftenposten AS since 1987. Consultant
in the Advertising Department, Real-Estate Market.
Media Consultant BI Norwegian School of
Management (2002). General Secretary of
Aftenposten’s Union of Commercial and Office
Employees since 1992.

MONICA CANEMAN
Former Vice-President SE-Banken (1997-2001).
Employed by SE-Banken from 1977.
Education: Stockholm School of Economics (1976).
Directorships in Svenska Dagbladet AB, SJ AB
(Swedish Railways), Poolia AB, Nocom AB, Orexo AB,
Nya Livförsäkrings AB, SEB TryggLiv, EDT AS, Point
Scandinavia AS, Xponcard AB, EDB Business Partner
ASA, Citymail AB, Investment AB Öresund,
Akademikliniken AB and Interverbum AB.

GRETE FAREMO
Director for Legal and Corporate Affairs, Northern
Europe, Microsoft.
Minister of International Development, Foreign Office
(1990 - 1992), Minister of Justice and the Police,
Ministry of Justice and the Police (1992 - 1996),
Minster of Petroleum and Energy, Ministry of Trade,
Industry and Energy 1996, Member of Parliament
(1996 - 1997), Executive Vice President, Storebrand
ASA (1997 - 2003).
Law degree from the University of Oslo
Chairperson of the Boards of Statnett SF and
Norwegian People’s Aid, member of the Boards of
Norfund, Elkem ASA and Total E & P Norge AS, member of the Corporate Assembly of ABB Norge and
Deputy Chairman of the Corporate Assembly of
Bravida ASA.

ALEXANDRA BECH GJØRV
Executive VP Leadership & Culture, Norsk Hydro
ASA. Senior Vice President of Corporate Human
Resources Norsk Hydro (2000-01). Assistant Director
of Strategy & Organisational Development, Hydro
Automotive Structures, Oslo (1998-2000). Company
Secretary, Norsk Hydro ASA, Oslo (1995-98). Lawyer
with Norsk Hydro USA, Inc. (1993-95). Legal Adviser
with Edwards & Angell, Boston (1992-93). Assistant
lawyer with the law firm of Schjødt, Oslo (1991-92).
Member of the Board of Sintef (2004).

HILDE HARBO
Degree in political science. Employed by Aftenposten
since 1985. Journalist in Aftenposten’s international
news department. Formerly Deputy Member of the
Board of Schibsted (1990-93), Deputy Chair of
Aftenposten’s Editorial Staff Union, Member of the
Board of the Oslo Union of Journalists, Vice President
of the Press Corps of the Norwegian Parliament.

CATO A. HOLMSEN
MSc Eng ETH (Zurich) 1964. Chairman of the Board
and partner of FSN Capital. Formerly Deputy Group
CEO of Scancem AB and CEO of Scancem
International ANS.
Chairman of the Boards of Eiendomsspar AS, Fesil
ASA and Grieg International AS/Grieg Shipping AS.
Deputy Chairman of the Boards of Victoria Eiendom
AS and Kongsberg Automotive ASA. Member of the
Boards of Aftenposten AS, Eksportfinans ASA,
NorgesGruppen ASA, Johan G Olsen AS, Tensil
Holding Ltd and a number of other companies

HÅKON KJERNSMO
Typographer. Employed by VG since 1991. General
Secretary of VG’s Graphical Workers’ Union. Board
Member of the Oslo Union of Graphical Workers.
Deputy Representative of the Committee of the
Norwegian Union of Graphical Workers.

GUNNAR NORDBY
Employed with Aftenposten AS since 1955. General
Secretary of Aftenposten’s Printing Union. Member
of the National Committee of the Norwegian Union of
Graphic Workers.

JAN REINÅS
Former President and CEO of Norske Skog, SAS
Norge, the SAS Group, Fosen Trafikklag and
Trondheim Trafikkselskap. Chairman of the Boards of
Norske Canada, Pan Asia Paper and the Norwegian
Pulp and Paper Association. Member of the Boards of
the Federation of Norwegian Process Industries (PIL),
the Confederation of Norwegian Business and
Industry (NHO) and the Confederation of European
Paper Industries (CEPI). Former Chairman of the
Boards of Sparebanken Midt-Norge, Norway Post and
Norwegian State Railways
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Highlights in 2004:
The operating profit (EBITA) in
2004 of NOK 804 million (NOK
779 million) is the Group’s best
ever.
The Norwegian advertising
market improved, mainly due to
the recruitment market, and
Aftenposten’s results continued
to show considerable improvement.
The Group’s online activities
continued to produce good
results – growing by 212 per
cent and comprising 18 per
cent (7 per cent) of the Group’s
operating profit (EBITA) in
2004.

VG maintained its strong
results despite a fall in the
Norwegian single copy sales in
2004.
Aftonbladet’s advertising revenues increased dramatically in
2004 and the newspaper achieved its highest operating profit
(EBITA) ever.
Svenska Dagbladet’s advertising
revenues fell due to a decline in
real-estate advertisements, but
the fall in advertising revenue
was partly compensated for by
the increase in circulation revenue and reductions in costs.
20 Minutes’ revenues and
results improved considerably
in 2004 and the company achie-

ved an operating margin for
the year of 11 per cent.
2004 was a weaker year than
2003 for the TV/Film companies,
mainly as a result of Sandrew
Metronome’s Swedish cinema
operations and slightly lower
earnings in the Metronome
Group.
The publishing business area,
Schibsted Forlagene, continued
to produce good results in 2004.
Schibsted strengthened its position in the Nordic TV market
during the year through its
acquisition of 20.1 per cent of
the shares in Swedish TV channel TV4 (excluding options on
5.9 per cent).

Schibsted is one of the leading media groups in Scandinavia. The Group’s headquarters are in Oslo. Most of its activities are located in Norway and
Sweden, but the Group has operations in nine European countries.

Schibsted Annual Report 2004
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Report on the annual accounts
Profit before taxes in 2004 came to NOK 412 million (NOK 681 million). The tax expenses in 2004
amounted to NOK 171 million (NOK 197 million),
equal to 41.5 per cent. The effective tax rate for
2004, adjusted for special factors in the 4th
quarter, is still around 30 per cent. Two particular
factors in the 4th quarter 2004 affected the tax
rate in 2004:
• The write-down of Schibsted’s goodwill post
for Sandrew Metronome does not have any
effect on the Group’s tax expense and increases the effective tax percentage.
• The tax reform in Norway means that previously capitalised tax benefits relating to the writedown of shares have to be charged to expenses.
Schibsted Group
(Figures in NOK million)
Operating revenues

Pr. 31.12
2004
9 690

2003
8 555

884

779

Other items, incl. GW

(558)

(78)

Operating profit (EBIT)

326

701

Profit before taxes

412

681

Operating profit (EBITA)

works involves downsizing costs of SEK 80-90
million which will be debited to the accounts
during the first half of 2005. The total net cash
outlay in 2005 due to the move, downsizing and
sale will be SEK 20-30 million. As a result of the
sale, the printing works has debited the 2004
accounts by NOK 303 million.
There is some uncertainty linked to the sale of
Sandrew Metronome’s cinema operations in
Sweden to SF Bio now that the Swedish
Competition Authority has asked the courts to
review this matter. In addition, the loss of the
contract with Warner means changes to the
Group’s future earnings. Based on this, it was
decided to write down Schibsted’s goodwill
entry for Sandrew Metronome by NOK 72 million
to NOK 0 as at 31 December 2004.
In 2004, the income from associated companies
came to NOK 124 million (NOK 34 million). The
increase on the 2003 figure is due to a gain of
NOK 48 million on the sale of BiljettDirekt Ticnet
in May 2004 and 20 Minutes’ conversion from an
associated company to a subsidiary.

largest entry at NOK 5.2 billion (NOK 4.8 billion),
of which the Group’s printing works accounted
for NOK 1.3 billion (NOK 1.7 billion). The book value
of the printing works has been written down due
to the contract to sell the Group’s printing works
in Sweden.
Investments in shares and associated companies
were booked at NOK 1.5 billion (NOK 0.9 billion).
The increase compared to 2003 is mainly due to
the investment in TV4 AB. The market value of
the Group’s portfolio exceeds its book value.
The Group’s goodwill reflected in the balance
sheet is NOK 1.1 billion (NOK 0.8 billion). The
increase in the stake in 20 Minutes led to a rise
of NOK 370 million in the Group’s goodwill. The
goodwill reflected in the balance sheet can be
justified for all the investments on an individual
basis. 20 Min Holding AG sold its 50.50 per cent
stake in 20 Minuten (Schweiz) AG to Express
Zeitung AG in January 2005. As a result of this
sale, the Group’s goodwill will be reduced by
around NOK 200 million in 2005.

Liquidity and capital structure

The improvement in the operating profit compared to that of 2003 is mainly due to the good
results produced by Aftonbladet, 20 Minutes and
the online activities and to improvements in
Aftenposten’s results. The operating margin
(EBITA) was 9 per cent (9 per cent).
Other costs in 2004 amounted to NOK 394 million
(NOK 17 million) and were related to the Group’s
printing works in Sweden (NOK 303 million) and
restructuring costs of NOK 91 million, most of
which relate to Aftenposten and Schibsted
Trykk.
In February 2005, the Group contracted to sell its
printing works in Sweden to JMS Mediasystem.
Extensive investments in the facility would have
been required to make its operations meet customer requirements. It was difficult to justify these
investments from a financial perspective.
Aftonbladet and Svenska Dagbladet will transfer
their production operations to Tabloidtryck in the
summer of 2005, thus achieving annual savings
of SEK 60-70 million. The sale of the printing

In 2004, the Group entered into a new syndicated multi-currency loan facility with a total
loan framework of EUR 250 million. This facility
was available as from 31 July
2004 and replaced the
Group’s previous facility of
With its current earUSD 180 million. The facility
has been agreed to on favournings and cash flow,
able market terms based on
the Group’s equity
EURIBOR plus a margin.

Financial items in 2004 came to NOK -38 million
(NOK –54 million). Net other financial income
increased by NOK 31 million due to dividends
received and the rise in
the value of various share
investments.

”

In 2004, the Group invested NOK 1.1 billion in shares and NOK 215 million in
ratio over time will
tangible and intangible
increase...
Due to its strong cash flow,
fixed assets. The main
Schibsted had a considerable
investments were:
liquidity reserve (NOK 2.5 billion), little net inte• The stake in 20 Min Holding AG was increased
rest-bearing debt (NOK 1.2 billion) and an equity
from 41.5 per cent to 100 per cent
ratio of 32.7 at the end of 2004. The required rate
• The purchase of all the shares in Retriever AB.
of return on equity is high and the Group’s goal is
• The increase in the Group’s stake in Byt Bil
to have an equity ratio of 35 over time. With its
Nordic AB.
current earnings and cash flow, the Group’s
• The exercise of an option on approx. 30 per
equity ratio over time will increase to above this
cent of the shares in Multiprensa Holding SL,
level. If necessary various measures will be conwhich is the parent company for the operasidered for adapting the capital structure while
tions of 20 Minutes in Spain.
also maintaining the Group’s financial flexibility,
• Investments in TV 4 AB and Alma Media
for instance repurchase of own shares, increaCorporation.
sed dividend payments and the distribution of
The balance sheet
extraordinary dividend.
At the end of 2004, the total assets reflected in
the Group balance sheet amounted to NOK 7.3
billion (NOK 6.9 billion). Fixed assets made up the
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Business Areas
Newspapers
The Newspapers business area improved its
profitability in 2004 and achieved an operating
profit (EBITA) of NOK 858 million (NOK 628 million).
1) EBITA NOK million.
2) EBITA SEK million.
Aftenposten 1)

Pr. 31.12
2004
150

2003
66

VG 1)

356

355

Svenska Dagbladet 2)

(19)

12

Aftonbladet 2)

323

211

Online activitites
(Figures in NOK mill.)
Advertising revenues

Pr. 31.12
2004
471

2003
269

97

83

Total operating revenues

568

352

Operating expenses

(409)

(301)

Operating profit (EBITA)

159

51

Other revenues

Market risk
The Schibsted Group’s basic currency is
Norwegian krone (NOK) but, through its operations
outside Norway, it is also exposed to changes in
other countries’ currencies, mainly the Swedish
krone, the Euro and the Estonian krone. The
Group makes use of loans in foreign currencies
and forward exchange contracts in order to
reduce the currency risk relating to net assets in
these currencies. The loans in foreign currencies
and forward exchange contracts are managed
actively in line with the Group’s strategy in order
to reduce the currency risk.
The Schibsted Group has both floating and fixed
interest rates on its long-term debt. Of the
Group’s debt at the end of 2004, around 40 per
cent was at a fixed interest rate. The Schibsted
Group has considerable pension liabilities which,
unlike long-term interest-bearing debt, are positively affected by an increase in the interest rate
since this raises the discount rate. This therefore
reduces the need to hedge the interest rate on
long-term interest-bearing debt.

Changes were made to Aftenposten’s organisation in 2004, and an extensive restructuring of the
product resulted in the newspaper being published in tabloid format as from the start of 2005.
Including adjustments for the disappearance of
royalties, Aftenposten (the newspaper) improved
its results by NOK 43 million in 2004. This was
achieved despite the 10-day-long Norwegian
journalists’ strike in May. Aftenposten suffered a
net loss of NOK 27 million as a result of the strike.
Due to a continued drop in revenue, the Board of
Aftenposten decided on 27 April 2004 to implement a new profitability programme in the newspaper. The profitability programme was carried
out according to plan and the full effect of it is
expected to be seen as from 2008.

Schibsted uses newsprint and is therefore exposed
to changes in the price of this commodity.
A change in price of 1 per cent alters the Group’s
raw materials price by around NOK 9 million per
annum. The price of newsprint is negotiated
each year with the suppliers and is already fixed
for 2005.

Aftenposten’s circulation fell by 2.6 per cent on
weekdays in 2004. The change to a tabloid format has been well received by the market and is
expected to have a good effect on the circulation
figures in the future. The number of trial subscriptions taken out since the year-end supports
this assumption.

At the end of 2004, the Group had a limited
exposure to the stock market and thus a limited
risk of loss.

Aftenposten is maintaining its position and strengthening it in both the brand and retail markets.
The inserts, in particular, achieved good growth in
2004. In 2004, Aftenposten saw a reduction in its
classified ads, which are down by a total of 10 per
cent. However, the trend improved in the 2nd halfyear and the recruitment-advertising market grew
by 20 per cent in the 4th quarter. The real-estate
market, however, fell by 15 per cent in the 4th
quarter compared to the corresponding period in
2003 due to real estate being sold quickly and a
transition to online advertising.

Since many of the Group’s products are sold on
the basis of advance payments (subscription
sales) or cash payments (single copy sales), the
Group runs little credit risk.

The online activities in the Group as a whole
continued its positive development and achieved
a total operating profit (EBITA) of NOK 159 million
(NOK 51 million) in 2004, a growth of 212 per
cent. The online activities thus contributed 18
per cent (7 per cent) of the Group’s operating profit (EBITA) while their share of the Group’s operating revenues in 2004 was 6 per cent (4 per cent).
The largest contributors to this result are Finn,
VG Nett and Aftonbladet’s online activities.
Finn.no maintained its positive development and
increased its revenue by 28 per cent in 2004.
The largest increase in revenue was seen in the
car-advertising market, which rose by 47 per
cent compared to 2003. Similarly, the revenue
from the recruitment-advertising market rose by
42 per cent and real-estate advertising grew by
24 per cent. The company’s operating margin
(EBITA) came to 40 per cent (33 per cent). A new
version of www.finn.no was launched in midDecember. The new user interface has been a
success and new records in both the numbers of
unique users and page displays were set in
January 2005.
VG (group) maintained in 2004 the strong operating profit it had made in 2003 despite the 10-daylong journalists’ strike in May. Its operating margin was 21 per cent (20 per cent). The strike
caused a net loss for the newspaper of NOK 23
million. Reduced royalty to Schibsted amounted
to NOK 51 million.
VG (newspaper) maintained its strong position as
a market leader but single copy sales of newspapers experienced a general decline in Norway
in 2004. VG’s circulation on weekdays fell by 3.9
per cent in 2004. In the spring of 2004, an 80page newspaper was launched on Fridays,
Saturdays and Sundays in order to meet the
strong competition at the weekends. The news-

Schibsted Annual Report 2004

In accordance with section 3-3 of the Norwegian
Accounting Act, the Board confirms that the
Group meets the conditions for a company that
is a going concern. The annual accounts for
2004 were prepared on this assumption. The
basis for the assumption is the Group’s longterm strategic forecasts. The Group’s financial
position is sound.

The Board of Directors’ Report

Going concern

60
The Board of Directors’ Report

Schibsted Annual Report 2004

paper saw a decline of 2.6 per cent in its advertising revenues in 2004, mainly due to the negative effects of the strike.
VG Nett increased its revenues by 38 per cent in
2004 and achieved an operating margin (EBITA)
of 29 per cent (12 per cent). VG Nett maintained
its position as Norway’s most visited website in
2004. According to TNS Gallup’s Consumer and
Media Survey, VG Nett had 820 000 readers
each day in the 4th quarter. 1 637 272 unique
visitors read VG Nett in week 53. This is the
highest number of visitors to a Norwegian website recorded in the space of one week.
Aftonbladet (Group) increased its revenues by
14 per cent in 2004 and achieved its best ever
operating profit. The growth in revenue is mainly
due to increased advertising revenues from the
printed newspaper and online activities.
According to the IRM (Institute for Advertising
and Media Statistics), the evening papers’ advertising revenues increased by 28.8 per cent in
2004. The corresponding increase for
Aftonbladet (newspaper) was 32 per cent.
Aftonbladet continues to have a strong position
as regards Expressen/GT/Kvällsposten, and
achieved circulation figures that were around
90 000 higher than those of its closest competitor in 2004. Aftonbladet maintained its market
share of 56 per cent.
Aftonbladet’s online activities currently consist of
Aftonbladet Nya Medier, Blocket.se and BytBil
(as from 1 July 2004). Blocket.se increased its
number of advertisements per day by 70 per cent
in December 2004 compared to the corresponding period in 2003 and its number of unique
users was 1.2 million (Nielsen Net Ratings). BytBil
increased its number of unique visitors by 20 per
cent in 2004 compared to the year before.

pared to 2003. Svenska Dagbladet has also recently launched an upgrade of its editorial product.
SvD.se is the website that has grown the most
in Sweden over the past few months. It had 901
367 unique visitors in January 2005.
20 Minutes achieved an operating profit (EBITA)
of EUR 8.2 million in 2004 and an operating margin (EBITA) of 11 per cent. The operations in
Switzerland and Spain produced strong results
in 2004 and both made an operating profit. In
France, the company continued to make an operating loss but the operating margin improved
and 20 Minutes in Paris broke even for the first
time in November.

The TV channel Kanal 2 is winning shares in a
difficult market and achieved a growth in reveIn 2004, 20 Minutes’ revenue increased by 48
nue of 7 per cent in 2004. The company’s operaper cent in Switzerland, 63 per cent in Spain and
ting result (EBITA) is still negative and came to a
78 per cent in France. In Switzerland, 20 Minutes
loss of EEK 6 million (a loss of EEK 3 million) for
managed to become this country’s largest newsthe year.
paper in September 2004, with 782 000 readers
- 4 years after its launch. In Spain, 20 Minutes is
The magazine company in
the second-largest newspaper with 1 781 000
20 Minutes is ahead of Lithuania, ZLG, which was
acquired in 2004, has had
readers (in July 2004) and
its competitor Metro
stable operations, and the
in France 20 Minutes is
newly launched magazine
the third-largest newspa- both as regards the
per with 2 029 000
number of readers and Zmones has increased its
circulation considerably since
readers (in November
revenues...
start-up in August 2004.
2004).

”

20 Minutes is ahead of its competitor Metro both
as regards the number of readers and revenues
in Spain and France. At the end of 2004, 20
Minutes had a total circulation of 1 750 000 divided among a total of 16 towns in Switzerland,
France and Spain. 20 Minuten (Schweiz) AG was
sold to Express Zeitung AG in 2005.

TV, Film & Publishing

The Baltic Region

1) EBITA in NOK million
2) EBITA in SEK million
Metronome 2)

Baltic Region
The decline in the results of Svenska Dagbladet
was due to a reduction in the advertising revenues. This was mainly caused by the loss of
real-estate advertisements to Metro’s Hus &
Hem, which came on the market in the autumn
of 2003. A number of measures have been
implemented to compensate for the fall in advertising revenues and the outlook is slightly more
promising. The decline in advertising revenues
was partially offset by the circulation revenues
increasing by 7 per cent and the operating
expenses falling by an additional 3 per cent com-

Eesti Meedia’s revenues grew by 5 per cent in
2004 and its operating margin (EBITA) came to 11
per cent (12 per cent). This group’s newspapers
managed to maintain their circulation figures in
2004. The advertising market started off weak
but improved throughout 2004 and ended the
year 10 per cent higher than in 2003. In the
autumn of 2003, new investments were made in
the group’s printing works, Kroonpress. Some
start-up problems after the upgrade had a negative effect on the company’s results but these
problems have now been solved and the operations are stable. However, the competitive situation for the printing works is becoming more and
more difficult.

(Figures in NOK million)
Operating revenues
Operating expenses
Operating profit (EBITA)

Pr. 31.12
2004
327

2003
288

(409)

(301)

26

28

The Group’s operations in the Baltic Region consist of Eesti Meedia, Kanal 2 and ZLG. These
companies achieved a growth in revenue of 14
per cent in 2004.

In 2004, the TV and Film companies achieved a
total growth in revenue of 2 per cent and an
operating margin (EBITA) of 2 per cent (5 per
cent). The publishing company experienced a
slight decline in revenue but maintained its 2003
operating margin (EBITA) of 10 per cent.
Pr. 31.12
2004
16

2003
56

Sandrew Metronome 2)*)

18

41

Publishing 1)

34

35

175

195

TV 2 Group 2) **) (EBIT)

Metronome Film & Television is the Nordic region’s largest independent production company for
TV programmes, drama series, feature films and
commercials, with revenues that are twice as
high as its nearest competitor. The slightly
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In the 2nd half of 2004, the company agreed to
sell its cinema chain in Sweden to Svensk Film
(SF). The Swedish Competition Authority is
opposed to SF taking over these operations, which
means that this matter will be automatically
reviewed by the courts. Sandrew Metronome’s
contract with SF is still in force but, in agreement
with SF, Sandrew Metronome has contacted possible alternative buyers.
Sandrew Metronome has distributed Warner’s
video/DVD films on the Nordic market since
1999/2000. With effect from 1 June 2005, Warner
is to start its own video-distribution operations in
the Nordic region. As a result Sandrew Metronome
and Warner have agreed that Warner will distribute Sandrew Metronome’s video/DVD films. The
changed situation will require a restructuring of
Sandrew Metronome’s organisation.
The TV 2 Group’s revenues increased by 10 per
cent in 2004. However, the group’s operating
result in 2004 was slightly weaker than in 2003
due to costs relating to programmes intended to
strengthen the TV channel’s position in the
viewer market such as Euro 2004 and the summer Olympic Games. The radio channel Kanal 24
made a loss of NOK 120 million in 2004. The TV 2
Group’s share of this equals NOK 50.2 million (49
per cent). At the end of 2004, the TV 2 Group
had an exposure to Kanal 24 of NOK 9.5 million
relating to shares and loans and had provided a
guarantee of NOK 54.4 million. The sale of TV 2’s
shares in TVNorge produced an accounting gain
of NOK 82.7 million.
Schibsted Forlagene consists of a number of
small publishing houses which were merged in
2004. The Norwegian book market for sales
through bookstores declined by around 6 per
cent in 2004 compared to 2003. This reduction
applies to all the main groups of books. In a falling market, Schibsted Forlagene increased its
sales of Norwegian books.

Other operations made an operating loss of NOK
57 million in 2004 (a profit of NOK 22 million).
The disappearance of the royalty revenues payable by VG to Schibsted ASA and by Aftenposten
to Schibsted Finans as from 2004 reduced the
operating profit from other operations by a total
of NOK 73 million.
Schibsted Mobile made an operating profit
(EBITA) in 2004 of NOK 4 million (a loss of
NOK 6 million). Schibsted Mobile is the leader in
its market segments in Norway, while the
Swedish market is characterised by considerably slower developments and a more fragmented competitive situation. The Swedish
listed company Aspiro AB bought all the shares
in Schibsted Mobile in the first quarter 2005.
This purchase will be paid for by newly issued
shares in Aspiro AB and Schibsted will thereafter
be the major shareholder in the new company,
with 44.5 per cent of its shares. These two companies’ operations complement each other both
from a product and a geographical point of view,
and the new company will be the market leader
in all the Scandinavian countries. Aspiro also has
operations in Spain, the UK and the USA.

At the beginning of 2005, Schibsted entered the
Swedish catalogue market through Aftonbladet’s
acquisition of TA Teleadress Information Holding
AB, which operates the directory enquiries service www.hitta.se. With this purchase, the Group
has established itself in the advertising market
for online catalogues. This acquisition complements the Group’s strong online position.
Schibsted will continue to focus on its online
operations through the Group’s established
brands.
Aftenposten’s transition to a tabloid format at yearend has been well received by the newspaper’s
readers. Circulation is expected to increase, an
assumption that is supported by the number of
new trial subscriptions signed. The recruitmentadvertising market is expected to grow in 2005
but the overall developments in the classified
ads market also depend on how the real-estate
advertising market develops.
Single copy sales in Norway declined by 3.6 per
cent in 2004, but VG maintained its strong market position. VG is considering measures to
reverse the circulation trend in future.
Aftonbladet is expected to maintain its strong
market position and good results for both the
newspaper and the online activities. Svenska
Dagbladet envisages an improvement in its
future advertising revenues and that its circulation revenues will remain the same.

Future prospects

The Group is maintaining its main strategy and
financial target figures and is well positioned for
future growth. Schibsted will build further on the
Group’s core activities and actively consider the
Group’s growth opportunities in the future.
Growth may take place
organically and
through acquisitions,
It is anticipated that
based on the Group’s
an ever-increasing prostrong position and
portion of the Group’s
competitive advantages.
income will be from

”

net-based activities.

Schibsted wishes to
utilise the Group’s
strong position on the Internet to facilitate further growth into diversified multimedia activities. It is anticipated that an ever-increasing proportion of the Group’s income will be from netbased activities.

Schibsted’s newspapers are part of a more
mature business sector. Product innovation and
utilisation of the strong brand names will be vital
to the creation of continued profitable growth.

Schibsted will focus on further
developing 20 Minutes in Spain
and France by publishing this
newspaper both in more towns
and online. 20 Minutes was
launched in Malaga on
14 January and was launched in
Nantes in March. Competition is
expected to become stiffer in
the future.

Working environment
The Schibsted Group had 5 276 employees at the
year-end, compared with 4 690 at the end of
2003. 2 983 employees worked outside Norway.
The sickness absence rate amounted to
approximately 6 per cent of the Group’s total
working hours. The Group’s printing works at
Nydalen, where the average age of employees is
around 50 years, has implemented measures to
reduce its high rate of sickness absence and this
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Sandrew Metronome’s lower operating margin
is mainly attributable to the Swedish cinema
operations.

Other operations
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weaker result in 2004 was mainly due to a decline in the group’s interactive TV operations and
to a lower production volume in Norway. The
interactive TV operations have now been
restructured and new management of the TV
and film production operations in Norway took
over in the 2nd half of 2004.
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has fallen slightly. Further measures have been
implemented in order to bring absences down to
a normal level.
Of the Group’s companies, it is particularly the
operations at the printing companies that involve
a certain risk of injury. At year-end, Schibsted
owned four newspaper printing works: Schibsted
Trykk in Oslo, Harstad Tidende Trykk in Harstad,
Tidningstryckarna in Stockholm and Kroonpress
in Tartu, Estonia.
At Schibsted Trykk, eight workplace injuries
resulting in absence were recorded in 2004.
These were primarily slight crushing injuries and
cuts. Tidningstryckarna did not report any workplace injuries resulting in absences, while two
minor accidents involving slight personal injury
were registered in Kroonpress. No accidents
have been registered at any of the printing
works.
Schibsted stresses the importance of having
highly qualified personnel and therefore offers
competitive terms of employment as well as
good scope for development. The working
environment is considered to be good. The Board
of Directors wishes to thank all the employees
for their untiring efforts throughout the year and
for their ability and willingness to participate in
restructuring, resulting in more secure jobs and
improved profitability for the Group in the future.

External environment
The Group’s newspapers are produced digitally
up to the point where they are printed, which
means that the production process has a very
limited impact on the external environment. A
newspaper printing works is a relatively environmentally neutral industrial operation. The production processes that include the use of polluting substances take place within closed systems. Most waste is sorted at source. At Schibsted
Trykk, 98 per cent of all waste is sorted at source.
Agreements with approved transport companies
ensure that special waste is disposed of safely.
Normal operations do not involve any danger of
emissions from the printing plants.
Environmental work is in focus at the printing
works. Through a treatment process, Schibsted
Trykk has reduced the amount of fountain solution waste from 172 tonnes in 2000 to 26 tonnes
in 2004. Energy and water consumption levels are
also falling compared to the production volume.
Tidningstryckarna has reduced the use of sol-

the same period. An average of around 216 000
Schibsted shares were traded each day in 2004,
an increase of 47 per cent compared to 2003.
The Group’s ownership structure changed slightly in 2004. The number of foreign shareholders
increased to 48 per cent (43 per cent). The Group
had 4 425 shareholders at the end of 2004,
compared to 5 544 at the end of
2003. Schibsted’s largest shareholder, Tinius Nagell-Erichsen, controls
It is essential to the
26.1 per cent of the company’s shaGroup’s continued sucres through Blommenholm
cess that women are
Industrier AS.

vents by 90 per cent. Kroonpress has been
awarded ISO certification for environmental processing. In 2004, the printing works consumed
113 400 tonnes of paper, 2 440 tonnes of printing
ink and approx. 36.5 GWh of electricity – approximately the same amounts as in 2003.
The Group’s newspaper companies
in Norway and
Sweden arrange
for unsold newspapers to be
returned and sold
for recycling.

”

given the same opportunities for development as men.

The Group’s other
operations only pollute the environment only to a
very limited extent.

Equal opportunities

Schibsted relies on talent, experience and skilled
managers and employees. It is essential to the
Group’s continued success that women are
given the same opportunities for development as
men. This is an important part of the Group’s
social responsibility and of the basis for the
Group’s continued commercial success.
The Group works systematically to ensure a
balance between the sexes, among other things
through the development programmes arranged
by the Group and through Schibsted’s trainee
programme. Certain areas, for example the printing operations, have traditionally been very
male-dominated.
The Group’s subsidiaries are working actively to
ensure that men and women receive equal pay
and have equal access to management positions
and equal conditions in connection with recruitment and development activities. VG’s trainee
programme for journalists, which was established in 2003, is one of many examples of this.
32 per cent of Aftenposten’s management positions are currently held by women, while the figure
is 36 per cent for Aftonbladet and 53 per cent for
Svenska Dagbladet.

The Schibsted share
At the beginning of 2004, the Schibsted share
was priced at NOK 114.76. At the beginning of
2005, the share price was NOK 174, a rise of 52
per cent. The Oslo Stock Exchange Benchmark
Index (OSEBX) rose by around 37 per cent during

Schibsted ASA

Schibsted ASA is the parent company within the Schibsted Group.
Schibsted ASA’s operating revenues of NOK 1 million (NOK 53 million) consist mainly of accounting
fees paid by its subsidiaries. The considerable
reduction in operating revenue compared to
2003 is due to the royalty agreement with
Verdens Gang AS expiring on 31 December 2003.
The ordinary operating expenses of NOK 113 million (NOK 98 million) are related to the Group
administration services. The company made an
operating loss in 2004 of
NOK 112 million (a loss of NOK 45 million) while
profit before taxes amounted to NOK 177 million
(NOK 205 million).
Schibsted ASA had an average of 59 employees
in 2004, 11 of whom are trainees on placements
in different Group companies. The Group Chief
Executive is Schibsted ASA’s managing director.
The working environment is good and the company only pollutes the environment to a very
limited extent.

Allocation of Schibsted ASA’s profit for
the year
The Board of Schibsted ASA proposes allocating
the profit for the year as follows (NOK million):
Profit for the year
Proposed allocation:
Allocated to dividend
Transferred from other equity

177
221
-44

Group contributions to subsidiaries totalled NOK
121 million. The company’s non-restricted equity
amounted to NOK 895 million as at 31 December
2004.
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The Board is still of the opinion that the Group’s
policy of distributing a stable or gradually
increasing dividend is to be maintained and that
considerable emphasis should be placed on the
dividend in relation to the cash flow. At the same
time, it is important to maintain the Group’s
financial freedom of action. A stable increase in
the dividend, combined with the opportunity to
repurchase shares in the market in the future, is
therefore believed to be a suitable tool over time
for maintaining a capital structure that is in line
with the Group’s financial goals.
When determining the dividend to be distributed, any increase in dividend must be looked

at in relation to the Group’s strategy and growth
opportunities and the Group must maintain its
financial flexibility over time. Interesting strategic growth opportunities are expected in 2005,
through both organic growth and acquisitions.
This year’s proposal that the dividend shall be
set at NOK 3.25 per share, is made on the basis of
the Group’s financial position and a comparison
of Schibsted’s dividend ratio with those of other
listed companies in Norway and other media
companies in Europe. If the proposal is agreed to
the dividend will be 21 per cent (21 per cent) of
the Group’s cash flow and 92 per cent (42 per
cent) of its profit after tax.

Oslo, 31 March 2005
Schibsted ASA’s Board of Directors

Ole Jacob Sunde
Chairman of the Board

Tinius Nagell-Erichsen
Deputy Chairman of the Board

Alexandra Bech Gjørv

Grete Faremo

Berit Bjerg

Hilde Harbo

Cato A. Holmsen

Hakon Kjernsmo

Gunnar Nordby

Jan Reinås

Monica Birgitte Caneman

Kjell Aamot
President & CEO
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The Board will propose to the Annual
Shareholder Meeting that the dividend be set at
NOK 3.25 per share, Schibsted’s own shares not
included. When Schibsted was listed on the stock
exchange in 1992, the Board stated in relation to
dividend policy that: "The Board’s objective is to
maintain a stable, high dividend, which at least
corresponds to the distribution of the last three
years. Schibsted AS’s dividend must be competitive compared with the dividends of other companies on the Oslo Stock Exchange. In periods of
intensive investment, it is the company’s objective that the dividend from Schibsted AS will
remain at a steady, high level for shareholders."
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Dividend

64
Articles of Association

Schibsted Annual Report 2004

ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION
(Last changed at the ordinary Annual General Meeting
May 6th 2004)

§ 1 Name
The company is a public limited company with
the name Schibsted ASA.

§ 2 Registered office
The company´s registered office of business is in
Oslo, Norway.

§ 3Objectives
The objective of the Company is to carry out
information and publishing activities and commercial activities related thereto.
The shareholders shall arrange the Company´s
information and publishing business activities in
a manner which fully secures the editorial freedom and integrity of Aftenposten AS and
Verdens Gang AS in accordance with the Articles
of Association of these companies. The principle
of editorial freedom and integrity shall apply to
any media and publications within the Schibsted
Group, either in Norway or abroad.

§ 6 Restrictions on ownership and
voting rights
No shareholder may own or vote at the general
meeting in respect of more than 30% of the shares. In addition to a shareholder´s own shares,
shareholdings which are owned or acquired by
the following are included:
a) the shareholder´s spouse, minor children or
persons with whom the shareholder has a
common household
b) companies where the shareholder has an
influence as specified in § 1-2 of the
Norwegian Company´s Act of 1976
c) companies within the same group of companies as the shareholder, and
d) anyone with whom the shareholder has a binding collaboration with regard to the exercise
of their rights as shareholders.

§ 7 Changes in the Articles of Association

The Company´s nominal share capital is NOK 69
250 000 pro rated on 69 250 000 shares each of
NOK 1,-. All shares are fully paid up and registered by name. The Company’s shares shall be
registered in the Norwegian Registry of
Securities.

Resolutions concerning changes in the Articles
of Association, the sale of shares in subsidiaries
and voting concerning changes in the Articles of
Association of subsidiaries, shall be taken by the
annual general meeting and require the support
of more than ? of the share capital represented at
the annual general meeting. This is also required
for private placements, demergers and mergers
as well as the transfer of Aftenposten’s and
Verdens Gang's publishing rights.

§ 5Transferability

§ 8 Board of Directors

The Company´s shares are transferable subject
to the restrictions set out in § 6 below.

The affairs of the company shall be governed by
a Board of Directors of 11 members of whom 4
shall be elected by and among the employees
and 7 members by the shareholders.

§ 4Share capital

Voting rights in respect of shares that have been
transferred may be exercised at the earliest one
week after the share transfer has been registered in the Norwegian Registry of Securities. If the
acquisition of shares requires a concession,
voting rights in respect of the shares requires
that the concession is granted, unless the
Company´s Board of Directors has already formally recommended that the concession is
granted.

Shareholders owning 25% or more of the
Company´s share capital shall have the right to
appoint one of the Board members elected by
the shareholders. Board members shall be elected for 2 years though subject to an election
arrangement to secure that the service period
does not expire simultaneously for all shareholders’ board members.

§ 9 Execution of documents
The Chairman of the Board and one of the other
members of the Board of Directors may jointly
sign for the Company. The Board may grant
power of procuration.

§ 10 Annual General Meeting
1. In the ordinary Annual General Meeting, the
following matters shall be acted upon:
1. Adoption of the financial statements (profit and
loss account and balance sheet), resolution as
to the application of the years´ profit or coverage
of deficit pursuant the balance sheet adopted.
2. Adoption of the consolidated accounts (profit
and loss account and balance sheet).
3. Election of an Election Committee at the end of
the service period. The Election Committee
shall consist of 3 members and one deputy.
The chairman of the Election Committee is
elected by the General Meeting. The Election
Committee is elected for 2 years. The Election
Committee shall among others nominate shareholders’ board members and their deputies
whenever their respective service period expires or a by-election is needed. As far as possible, the Election Committee shall announce
its nominations in the shareholders’ notice of
the Annual General Meeting. The Election
Committee propose remunerations to the
members of the Board of Directors. The proposal shall be made in advance for a period of
one year counting from the Annual General
Meeting. The Election Committee may pass
opinions on, and may put forward proposals to
the General Meeting, in matters regarding the
Board of Directors’ size, composition and working conditions, as well as matters regarding
the Company’s auditor, including proposals
regarding the election of the Company’s auditor and the auditor’s remuneration.
4. Election of shareholders’ Board members and
deputies whenever their respective service
period expires.
5. Other matters which by law or the Company´s
Articles of Association fall within the scope of
the Annual General Meeting.
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Income Statement - Schibsted Group
(NOK MILLION)
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2004

2003

2002

Operating revenues

4,5

9 690

8 555

7 872

Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods
Personnel expenses
Depreciation and amortisation
Other operating expenses

6
7
11
8

(1 894)
(2 805)
(374)
(3 733)

(1 774)
(2 591)
(354)
(3 057)

(1 730)
(2 423)
(375)
(2 795)

884

779

549

11
3

(164)
(394)

(61)
(17)

(63)
8

4

326

701

494

12

124

34

(67)

49
(87)

92
(146)

66
(222)

(38)

(54)

(156)

412

681

271

(171)

(197)

(115)

Net income

241

484

156

Net income attributable to minority interests
Net income attributable to majority interests

68
173

15
469

1
155

2.55
2.55
9.05
9.05

6.92
6.92
7.93
7.93

2.26
2.26
3.54
3.54

Operating profit before goodwill
and other revenues and expenses

Income Statement Schibsted Group
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NOTE

Amortisation and write-downs goodwill
Other revenues and expenses
Operating profit
Income from associated companies
Financial income
Financial expenses
Net financial items

9

Profit before taxes
Taxes

Earnings per share (NOK)
Earnings per share diluted (NOK)
Earnings per share adjusted (NOK) *)
Earnings per share diluted adjusted (NOK) *)

10

19
19
19
19

*) Before amortisation and write-downs goodwill and other revenues and expenses

Balance sheet at 31 December - Schibsted Group
(NOK MILLION)

NOTE

2004

2003

2002

Deferred tax assets
Goodwill and other intangible fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets

10
11

198
1 243
1 441

87
933
1 020

98
782
880

Tangible fixed assets

11

2 238

2 650

2 652

Investments in associated companies
Investments in other shares
Other financial fixed assets
Financial fixed assets

12
13
15

1 313
165
64
1 542

828
79
259
1 166

822
81
251
1 154

5 221

4 836

4 686

106
1 416
58
532
2 112

110
1 113
47
810
2 080

103
969
57
587
1 716

7 333

6 916

6 402

69
(1)
76
5
149
2 124
123
2 396

69
(1)
76
144
2 202
184
2 530

69
(1)
76
144
1 876
162
2 182

ASSETS

16
16
17
18

Total assets

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Share capital
Own shares
Share premium reserve
Other paid in capital
Paid in capital
Retained earnings
Minority interests
Equity

19

Deferred tax liabilities
Pension liabilities
Other provisions
Provisions

10
20
21

92
479
7
578

58
447
208
713

34
461
183
678

Interest bearing long term debt
Other long term liabilities
Long term liabilities

22

1 831
85
1 916

1 624
2
1 626

1 708
4
1 712

Current liabilities

23

2 443

2 047

1 830

7 333

6 916

6 402

Total equity and liabilities
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Inventories
Receivables
Investments
Cash and bank deposits
Current assets

Balance sheet Schibsted Group

Fixed assets
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Cash flow statement - Schibsted Group
(NOK MILLION)

NOTE

2004

2003

2002

412
(78)
60
(135)
(58)

681
(34)
68
(179)
2

271
67
43
(102)
(125)

823
5
57

418
11
(13)

459
66
(90)

1 086

954

589

(215)
(502)
18
(540)
(26)

(263)
(180)
6
(2)
(18)
47

(248)
(11)
400
3
(122)
(72)

(1 265)

(410)

(50)

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
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Profit (loss) before taxes
Income from associated companies
Dividends received from associated companies
Taxes paid
Sales losses / (gains) fixed assets
Depreciation, amortisation and write-downs intangible
and tangible fixed assets
Write-downs financial fixed assets
Change in working capital
Cash flow from operating activities
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investments in intangible and tangible fixed assets
Payments for acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired
Proceeds from sale of intangible and tangible fixed assets
Proceeds from sale of subsidiaries, net of cash sold
Investments in / sale of other shares
Other investments / sales
Cash flow from investing activities
Cash flow before financing

25

(179)

544

539

352
(257)
(11)
20
(203)

935
(1 101)
2
(22)
(135)

(400)
(7)
(16)
(137)

(99)

(321)

(560)

(278)

223

(21)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January

810

587

608

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

532

810

587

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
New long term interest bearing debt
Repayment of long term interest bearing debt
Minority’s contribution and withdrawal of capital
Repurchase / sale of own shares
Dividends paid
Cash flow from financing activities
Cash flow for the year

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 1: DESCRIPTION OF ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with laws and regulations and generally accepted
accounting principles in Norway and include Schibsted ASA and companies controlled by Schibsted ASA, directly or
indirectly, either through ownership or by agreement (subsidiaries). The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the basis that the Group is a single entity and all material transactions between consolidated companies are eliminated. Subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial statements are presented in note 27.

Associated companies are defined as companies where Schibsted ASA, directly or through subsidiaries does not have
a majority interest but exercises significant management influence and has a significant ownership interest, normally
20-50 %. Associated companies are accounted for using the equity method of accounting under which Schibsted
recognises its share of the company’s net income and gains or losses on sale on a separate line in the income statement. In the balance sheet the investment is recorded at cost adjusted for share of income and dividends received.
ACCRUAL PRINCIPLES, CLASSIFICATION AND VALUATION
Revenue recognition
Advertising revenues are recognised when the ads are placed at full price less discounts. Subscription revenues are
prepaid and recognised in income upon delivery. Casual sales are recognised in income based on copies sold, i.e. copies delivered less returns.
Barter agreements are recognised in income at market value at the time of the transaction. Market value is measured
based on the value of the service delivered or received, depending on which service that can be most reliably measured.
Income related to TV/film-productions performed over more than one accounting period (construction contracts) is
recognised using the percentage-of-completion method of accounting. Under this method, income and profit are
recognised as work under the contract progresses.
Classification
Assets and liabilities connected to the business cycle are classified as current assets and liabilities. Receivables or liabilities not related to the business cycle are classified as current if they are of a short term nature, normally due within
one year. Shares and other investments not intended for continued use or ownership are classified as current assets.
Other assets are classified as fixed assets and other liabilities as long term.
Shares and bonds
Shares and bonds classified as current assets are valued at the lower of cost or market value. Shares and bonds classified as fixed assets are valued at cost or at market value if market value is lower than cost and the decline in value is
expected not to be temporary.
Tangible and intangible fixed assets
Tangible and intangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation, amortisation and write-downs.
Costs related to the development of software are capitalised as intangible assets when the asset is expected to have
sustainable value. Costs include direct and indirect costs attributable to the development of the asset. The cost of
assets constructed by the Group includes interest cost on expenditures during the construction period. Fixed assets
with limited useful life are depreciated on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life of the assets. Normal
repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred. Major improvements are capitalised and depreciated over the
remaining useful life of the asset. Environmental expenditures are expensed as they are incurred, unless the measures
increase capacity, productivity, or the remaining useful life of the related facility.
Tangible and intangible fixed assets are written down if the carrying value exceeds recoverable amount. Recoverable
amount is the higher of net sales value and net present value of future cash flows expected to be generated. The writedown is reversed if the basis for the write-down is no longer present.
Leasing
Leasing agreements are classified as financial or operational based on the actual content of the agreement.
Agreements transferring substantially all the financial rights and obligations related to the leased object to Schibsted,
are classified as financial. Assets held under financial lease agreements are capitalised and depreciated according to
plan. The present values of lease payments are included in long term interest bearing debt, and the debt is reduced by
the amount of lease payments made less the effective interest expense. Other lease agreements are classified as operational, and the annual rental fee is charged to expense as a leasing expense.
Foreign currency
Receivables and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the closing rate at the date of the balance sheet.
Exchange gains and losses arising on liabilities and other financial instruments hedging a net investment in a foreign
operation is recognised in equity until disposal of the investment. Other foreign exchange gains or losses are included
in other financial income or expenses.
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Joint ventures are defined as operations in which Schibsted ASA participate directly or through subsidiaries, and
where the participants through agreements have joint control over the operation. Joint ventures are accounted for
using pro rata consolidation where the Group’s share of income, expenses, assets and liabilities are recorded line by
line in the consolidated financial statements.
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Subsidiaries are consolidated 100 % in the consolidated financial statements from the date control is transferred to
Schibsted and until Schibsted ceases to have control. In the case of subsidiaries that are not wholly-owned, minority
interests in net income and equity are presented as separate lines in the income statement and balance sheet.
Business combinations are treated in accordance with the purchase method except in cases where there is a real pooling of interests. Under the purchase method, the Group’s cost of acquisition is allocated to identifiable assets and liabilities based on estimated fair value at the time of acquisition. Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value
of identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Goodwill is amortised on a straight-line basis over expected
useful life. Foreign subsidiaries that are included in the consolidated financial statements are all considered as independent units. In translating the financial statements from the respective foreign currencies to Norwegian kroner
(NOK), assets and liabilities are translated using the closing rate at the date of the balance sheet while income and
expenses are translated using the average exchange rate. Exchange differences are recognised in equity until disposal
of the investment.

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value.
Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable are valued at realisable value. Provisions are made for bad debts.
Own shares
Cost of acquisition and proceeds from sales of own shares are offset against equity.
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Pension cost
Pension liabilities related to benefit plans are valued at the net present value of future pension benefits earned at the
balance sheet date and calculated on the basis of assumptions for the discount rate, expected future wage growth and
pension adjustments. Pension plan assets are valued at market value. Net pension liabilities on under-funded contracts
are recorded as provisions, while the net assets of over-funded contracts are recorded in financial fixed assets. Net
periodic pension cost, which is gross pension cost less estimated return on plan assets adjusted for amortisation of
unrecognised gains and losses, is included in personnel expenses. Changes in pension liabilities due to amendments in
the terms of pension plans are included in the measurement of net periodic pension cost over the average remaining
pension-earning period. Changes in net pension liabilities due to changes in and deviations from the calculation
assumptions are included in the measurement of net periodic pension cost over the average remaining pension-earning period only if the accumulated effect exceeds 10 % of the larger of plan assets or projected benefit obligations. In
the case of pension plans that are defined for accounting purposes as contribution plans, pension costs are expensed
in line with the payment of pension premiums.
Share based payment
Any intrinsic value measured at grant date for options granted to employees are included in personnel expenses over
the vesting period. Related social security costs are charged to expense over the vesting period.
Income taxes
Income tax expense is calculated from profit (loss) before taxes and includes current taxes and change in deferred
taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated in accordance with the liability method. Deferred income tax is
provided for all temporary differences between the carrying amount in the balance sheet and the tax base of assets
and liabilities, and for unused tax losses. Deferred taxes are not provided for retained earnings of subsidiaries, joint
ventures or associated companies. Deferred tax assets are recognised only when it is expected that the benefit can be
realised through sufficient taxable profit from expected future profits. Deferred taxes are not discounted.
Restructuring costs
Expenses related to restructuring and reorganisations of operations are recognised in accordance with the matching
principle. Expenses not related to revenues in later periods are expensed as incurred. Expenses related to restructuring
and reorganisations are considered to be incurred when the implementation plan is adopted and communicated.
Other revenues and expenses
Operating revenue and expense items of a non-recurring nature and of material importance to business areas are separated from other ordinary operating revenues and expenses and reported in a separate line in the income statement.
Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities are recognised if it is more probable than not that the liability will become effective. The best estimate of amounts to be paid is included in other provisions in the balance sheet. Other obligations, for which no liability
is recognised, are disclosed in notes to the financial statements.
Cash flow statement
The cash flow statement is prepared under the indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents include cash, bank deposits and other monetary instruments with a maturity of less than three months at the date of purchase.

Note 2: SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS AND OTHER EVENTS
Investments in subsidiaries
During 2004, Schibsted has invested NOK 1,130 million in shares. The acquisitions of subsidiaries are treated in accordance with the purchase method and excess values of NOK 466 million, mainly goodwill, is recognised in the consolidated balance sheet in 2004.
In March 2004 Schibsted, Apax Funds, and a group of Swiss investors entered into an agreement whereby Schibsted
increased the stake in 20 Min Holding AG from 41.5 % to 98.7 %. The purchase of shares and loans from Apax Funds
and the Swiss investors correspond to an investment of EUR 50 million. At year end, the ownership in 20 Min Holding
AG has increased to 100 %.
During the spring of 2004, 20 Min Holding AG fulfilled its option obligations on approx. 30% of the shares in Multiprensa
Holding SL, the parent company of the Spanish operations. This led to an investment of EUR 7.5 million, which was
financed by Schibsted.
In April 2004, Aftenposten AS and Schibsted Multimedia AS acquired 100% of the shares in the media intelligence
company Retriever AB for SEK 48 million.
The owners of BiljettDirekt Ticnet AB entered into an agreement of selling the company to Ticketmaster for SEK 225
million 28th of May 2004. Schibsted had a stake in BiljettDirekt Ticnet of 34 %. The sale gave Schibsted an accounting
profit of NOK 48 million, included in the income statement as income from associated companies.
In June 2004, Aftonbladet Hierta AB and FINN.no AS acquired shares in Byt Bil Nordic AB corresponding to SEK 28 million. After this purchase Schibsted has a stake in Byt Bil of 92 %.
During 2004 Schibsted has invested in the companies Swedish TV 4 AB and Alma Media Corporation, in the total of
approx. NOK 600 million. Schibsted ASA has entered into an option agreement to buy additional 5.9 % of the shares in
TV4 from LRF. The option gives Schibsted the right, but not the obligation to buy the shares in the period 31 December
2004 to 31 May 2005 at price SEK 170.-. LRF has correspondingly the right but not the obligation to sell their shares to
Schibsted in the period 1 -15 June 2005 at price SEK 150.-. If the purchase or sales option is exercised, it will give
Schibsted 26 % ownership in TV4.

Transactions entered into after the balance sheet date
On the 24th of January, 20 Min Holding AG sold its 50.5% ownership in 20 Minuten (Schweiz) AG to Express Zeitung AG,
a subsidiary of tamedia. Express Zeitung has owned 49.5% of the shares since September 2003, and was due to
acquire the remaining 50.5% of the shares in two tranches by the end of 2006. The current agreement entails an
acceleration of the final sale. The parties have agreed to keep the terms of the agreement confidential. The effect on
Schibsted's result in the first quarter of 2005 is expected to be a gain of approx. NOK 200 million.
The 2nd of February Aftonbladet Hierta AB acquired 95 % of the shares in TA Teleadress Information Holding AB, which
operates the number information service www.hitta.se. Acquisition price equals approx. SEK 200 million.

Note 3: OTHER REVENUES AND EXPENSES
Operating revenue and expense items of a non-recurring nature and of material importance to business areas are separated from other ordinary operating revenues and expenses and reported in a separate line in the income statement.
Other revenues and expenses consist of the following items:
(NOK MILLION)

Restructuring costs Norway
Restructuring costs Sweden
Gains on sale of fixed assets
Gains on sale of subsidiaries etc.
Total

2004

(91)
(303)
(394)

2003

(11)
(6)
(17)

2002

(73)
(14)
87
8
8

In the 2004 accounts, the Swedish printing plant has been accounted for to be sold during the 1st half year of 2005,
see note 2. This has led to a write-down of the printing plant in the amount of SEK 321 million, SEK 310 million from
fixed assets and SEK 11 million from spare parts. Together with accrued sales cost, this write-down gives other cost in
the 2004 accounts amounting to SEK 329 million (NOK 303 million).
The board of Aftenposten AS approved in the spring of 2004 an improvement programme for the period 2005 to 2008.
The program will after implementation give yearly savings of NOK 180 million. The programme contains product
changes, further headcount reductions, as well as new sources of revenues.
Restructuring costs in Aftenposten AS charges the accounts of 2004 with NOK 73 million, restructuring in Schibsted
Trykk charges the accounts with NOK 14 million and other restructuring costs charges the accounts with NOK 4 million.

Note 4: BUSINESS AREA INFORMATION
Schibsted’s operations are primary reported in four business areas. The division is in accordance with the Group’s
organisation and internal management reporting. The operations of the business areas are mainly carried out through
separate companies within the business areas. Allocation of revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities and investments to
business areas are based on the financial statements for these companies. All transactions between business areas
are made at normal terms.
Financial statement items, allocated to business areas, are shown below:
OPERATING REVENUES (NOK MILLION)

2004

2003

2002

Newspapers
Subscription revenues
Casual sales revenues
Advertising revenues
Other revenues

909
2 665
3 272
641

865
2 677
2 456
513

803
2 505
2 308
466

TV / Film
Other revenues

1 282

1 258

1 131

Publishing
Subscription revenues
Casual sales revenues
Advertising revenues
Other revenues

30
20
33
261

28
14
30
277

29
13
28
269

Baltics
Subscription revenues
Casual sales revenues
Advertising revenues
Other revenues

71
31
127
98

64
23
113
88

56
21
91
74

Other operations / Eliminations
Advertising revenues
Other revenues

(4)
254

(3)
152

(10)
88
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On the 18th of February an agreement was entered into to sell Tidningstryckarna in Sweden to JMS Mediasystem.
Aftonbladet and Svenska Dagbladet will transfer the production during the summer of 2005 to Tabloidtryck. The transfer is expected to give yearly savings of SEK 60-70 million. The costs in connection with downsizing amounts to SEK
80-90 million and will be charged to the accounts during the first half of 2005. Total net cash outlays in 2005 due to
the transfer, downsizing and sale will be SEK 20-30 million. The sale of the printing plant charges the 2004 accounts
with cost of NOK 303 million, see note 3.
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Aspiro AB has on the 17th of February acquired 100% of the shares in Schibsted Mobile AS. The acquisition will be settled with newly emitted shares in Aspiro AB. Following the deal, Schibsted will be the largest shareholder in the new
company with 44.5% of the shares. The market capitalization of Aspiro was SEK 323 million at closing 16th of February.
The transaction will give Schibsted an accounting profit of approx. SEK 85 million based on closing price the 16th of
February. The final accounting profit will depend on the closing price on the day of execution.

OPERATING REVENUES (NOK MILLION) (continues)

Schibsted Group
Subscription revenues
Casual sales revenues
Advertising revenues
Other revenues
Total operating revenues

OPERATING EXPENSES* (NOK MILLION)

72

2004

2003

1 010
2 716
3 428
2 536
9 690

957
2 714
2 596
2 288
8 555

2004

2003

2002

888
2 539
2 417
2 028
7 872

2002
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Newspapers
(6 378)
(5 641)
(5 350)
TV / Film
(1 198)
(1 138)
(1 054)
(306)
(310)
(301)
Publishing
(288)
(249)
(215)
Baltics
Other operations / eliminations
(262)
(84)
(28)
Schibsted Group
(8 432)
(7 422)
(6 948)
* Include raw materials, work in progress and finished goods, personnel expenses and other operating expenses.

DEPRECIATION, AMORTISATION AND WRITE-DOWNS* (NOK MILLION)

2004

Newspapers
(311)
TV / Film
(143)
(13)
Publishing
Baltics
(26)
Other operations / eliminations
(45)
Schibsted Group
(538)
* Include depreciation and amortisation and amortisation and write-downs goodwill.

OTHER REVENUES AND EXPENSES (NOK MILLION)

Newspapers
Publishing
Other operations / eliminations
Schibsted Group

2004

(393)
(1)
(394)

2003

2002

(266)
(70)
(13)
(24)
(42)
(415)

(280)
(67)
(13)
(29)
(49)
(438)

2003

2002

(17)
(17)

(73)
81
8

OPERATING PROFIT (LOSS) (EBIT) (NOK MILLION)

2004

2003

2002

Newspapers
TV / Film
Publishing
Baltics
Other operations / eliminations
Schibsted Group

405
(59)
24
13
(57)
326

587
50
26
15
23
701

379
10
25
(2)
82
494

ASSETS (NOK MILLION)

2004

2003

Newspapers
TV / Film
Publishing
Baltics
Other operations / eliminations
Schibsted Group

LIABILITIES (NOK MILLION)

Newspapers
TV / Film
Publishing
Baltics
Other operations / eliminations
Schibsted Group

7 076
1 001
282
232
(1 258)
7 333

2004

5 261
596
200
144
(1 264)
4 937

6 513
1 046
378
322
(1 343)
6 916

2003

4 643
602
321
482
(1 662)
4 386

INVESTMENTS IN INTANGIBLE AND TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS (NOK MILLION)

2004

2003

Newspapers
TV / Film
Publishing
Baltics
Other operations
Schibsted Group

122
71
2
10
10
215

145
59
2
50
7
263

2002

5 986
899
365
261
(1 109)
6 402

2002

4 453
562
331
436
(1 562)
4 220

2002

184
46
4
15
48
297

Note 5: GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION
Operating revenues, assets and investments divided geographically based on the location of the operations are shown
below. Operating revenues divided by location of the customers do not deviate materially from operating revenues divided based on Group companies’ locations.
OPERATING REVENUES (NOK MILLION)

4 668
3 487
93
306
5
(4)
8 555

2002

4 440
3 063
115
247
7
7 872

Included in operating revenues is a press subsidy (Svenska Dagbladet) amounting to NOK 60 million in 2004, NOK 57
million in 2003 and NOK 54 million in 2002.
ASSETS (NOK MILLION)

Norway
Sweden
Other Nordic countries
Baltics
Other European countries
Eliminations
Total

2004

4 453
1 771
256
333
596
(76)
7 333

2003

4 388
2 409
56
323
90
(350)
6 916

2002

4 313
1 878
49
262
113
(213)
6 402

INVESTMENTS IN INTANGIBLE AND TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS (NOK MILLION)

2004

2003

2002

Norway
Sweden
Other Nordic countries
Baltics
Other European countries
Total

113
65
17
10
10
215

108
104
1
50
263

165
116
1
15
297

Note 6: RAW MATERIALS, WORK IN PROGRESS AND FINISHED GOODS
Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods consist of the following items:
(NOK MILLION)

Raw materials and purchased goods
TV / Film production expenses
Total

2004

2003

2002

984
910
1 894

919
855
1 774

961
769
1 730

Note 7: PERSONNEL EXPENSES AND AVERAGE NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES
Personnel expenses consist of the following items:
(NOK MILLION)

2004

2003

2002

Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Net pension cost (note 20)
Other personnel expenses
Total

2 119
424
161
101
2 805

1 930
403
152
106
2 591

1 824
366
122
111
2 423

Average number of employees

4 983

4 725

4 830

The Board of Directors and Schibsted Group Management
Schibsted ASA has in 2004 paid NOK 1 824 000 in remuneration to the Board of Directors. Members of the Board have
also received a total amount of NOK 325 000 in director’s fees from subsidiaries.
The Chief Executive officer has a fixed salary of NOK 2 410 000. Schibsted ASA has in 2004 paid NOK 3 373 000 in salaries, including cash bonus and director’s fees from subsidiaries to the Chief Executive Officer. He has also received NOK
195 000 in other taxable remuneration and NOK 888 000 in pension plan payments. The other members of Group
Management have received NOK 8 797 000 in salaries, including cash bonus and director’s fees from subsidiaries.
They have also received NOK 585 000 in other taxable remuneration and NOK 1 729 000 in pension plan payments.
Under certain conditions the company is obliged to pay termination compensation to the CEO and the Executive Vice
Presidents amounting to 24 and 18 months’ salary respectively. The CEO and the Executive Vice Presidents may choose to leave their positions at the age of 65 and receive a pension amounting to 90 % of his salary in the period 65-67
years. The Chairman of the Board has no remuneration if he chooses to leave his position. Remuneration to the Deputy
Chairman of the Board is deducted from his pension benefits earned in his previous position in the Group. The CEO and
the Executive Vice Presidents are members of the groups pension scheme, see note 20. In addition they are given an
insured top-pension which, if fully vested, secures 66 % of salaries above 12 G (social security base).
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4 809
3 444
512
353
572
9 690

2003
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Norway
Sweden
Other Nordic countries
Baltics
Other Europe
Eliminations
Total

2004

Schibsted ASA’s Group Management has an incentive programme that is divided in two, a bonus programme related to
achievement of financial goals and an option programme. Annual cash bonus for the Group Management is maximum
four months salaries. Schibsted ASA has in 2004 paid NOK 703 000 in cash bonus to the Chief Executive Officer and
NOK 1 838 000 to the Executive Vice Presidents. In 2000, Schibsted established an option programme targeted at key
personnel in Group management and some of the subsidiaries. Those who are included in the programme are given an
opportunity to earn options in the Schibsted share over a three years period. Each year’s options are vested over three
years.The options must be exercised within a year after completed earning period. Upon termination of employment
vested options not exercised in connection with the termination, as well as options not vested, will forfeit. The strike
price for options granted in 2002, 2003 and 2004 was NOK 93 and NOK 98 and NOK 120 respectively. For Group management, the option programme comprises the following persons: CEO Kjell Aamot, 30 000 shares p.a., Executive Vice
Presidents Trond Berger, Sverre Munck, Jan Erik Knarbakk and Birger Magnus, 15 000 shares p.a.
Options granted in 2001 were exercised in 2004:
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EXERCISED

STRIKE

MARKET PRICE

TAXABLE

OPTIONS 2004

PRICE

AT EXECUTION

GAIN

30 000
15 000
15 000
15 000
15 000

NOK 100
NOK 100
NOK 100
NOK 100
NOK 100

NOK 155
NOK 155
NOK 141
NOK 141
NOK 141

NOK 1.7 million
NOK 0.8 million
NOK 0.6 million
NOK 0.6 million
NOK 0.6 million

Kjell Aamot
Sverre Munck
Trond Berger
Jan Erik Knarbakk
Birger Magnus
The Auditors
The Group auditors 2004 fee consist of:
STATUTORY

OTHER

TAX

OTHER

(NOK 1 000. EXCL. VAT)

AUDIT

CONFIRMATIONS

ASSISTANCE

SERVICES

TOTAL

Schibsted Group
Ernst & Young AS
Other auditors
Total

4 590
4 985
9 575

18
33
51

974
710
1 684

436
1 735
2 171

6 018
7 463
13 481

-

105

-

813

2004

2003

2002

907
724
345
375
354
226
246
123
4
429
3 733

717
694
348
330
234
192
145
105
3
289
3 057

685
600
369
264
226
171
144
118
218
2 795

(NOK MILLION)

2004

2003

2002

Interest income
Interest expense
Net foreign exchange gains (losses)
Net other financial income (expenses)
Net financial items

21
(76)
4
13
(38)

34
(71)
1
(18)
(54)

Schibsted ASA
Ernst & Young AS

708

Note 8: OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES
Other operating expenses consist of the following items:
(NOK MILLION)

Distribution
Commissions
Rent, maintenance, office expenses and energy
PR, advertising and campaigns
Printing contracts
Editorial material
Professional fees
Travelling expenses
Write-downs intangible and tangible fixed assets
Other operating expenses
Total

Note 9: NET FINANCIAL ITEMS
Financial income and expenses consist of the following items:

33
(115)
(2)
(72)
(156)

Net other financial income (expenses) mainly include income from financial investments through gains and losses on
sale, change in unrealised losses and dividends received.

Note 10: TAXES
Tax expenses consist of the following items:
(NOK MILLION)

2004

2003

2002

Current income taxes
Deferred income taxes
Effect hedge accounting foreign currency
Taxes

215
(43)
(1)
171

139
39
19
197

157
(29)
(13)
115

Net deferred tax liabilities (assets) consist of the following items:
(NOK MILLION)

2002

(142)
11
(471)
318
(284)

(123)
6
(427)
472
(72)

(135)
9
(441)
377
(190)

(955)
(1 239)

(601)
(673)

(604)
(794)

Calculated net deferred tax liabilities (assets)
Unrecognised deferred tax assets
Net deferred tax liabilities (assets)

(346)
240
(106)

(188)
159
(29)

(221)
157
(64)

Of which deferred tax liabilities
Of which deferred tax assets

92
(198)

58
(87)

34
(98)

(77)

35

(32)

Taxable (deductible) temporary differences:
Current assets and liabilities
Prepaid pension cost
Accrued pension liabilities
Other long term differences
Total temporary differences
Unused tax losses
Total differences

Change in net deferred tax liabilities (assets)

Approximately 95 % of unused tax losses are related to operations located outside Norway. The main part of the losses
expires after 2009.
The change in net deferred tax liability (asset) is allocated between the following items:
(NOK MILLION)

2004

Ordinary income tax expense
Effect of acquisitions and sales of subsidiaries etc.
Change in net deferred tax liabilities (assets)

(43)
(34)
(77)

2003

39
(4)
35

2002

(29)
(3)
(32)

Below is set out the differences between profit (loss) before taxes and the basis for income taxes:
(NOK MILLION)

2004

2003

2002

Profit (loss) before taxes
Amortisation and write-downs goodwill without tax effect
Change in basis for unrecognised deferred tax assets
Difference income and tax basis from associated companies
Tax reform Norway
Other permanent differences
Basis for income taxes

412
155
84
(124)
58
26
611

681
52
7
(80)
44
704

271
54
69
3
15
412

Taxes

171

197

115

The basis for income taxes may deviate materially from profit (loss) before taxes. The reasons for such deviations are:
• Amortisation and write-downs of goodwill that only to a limited extent affects the tax basis.
• Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is expected that the benefit can be realised through sufficient taxable
income from expected future profits. The basis for income taxes is increased by new losses and temporary differences for which no deferred tax assets are recognised. The basis for income taxes is reduced by previously unrecognised tax assets being utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets as per December 31, 2004 are mainly related to
Svenska Dagbladet, other subsidiaries in Sweden and 20 Minutes Group.
• Deferred taxes are not provided for retained earnings of Norwegian associated companies. For foreign associated
companies, deferred tax assets are recognised provided that it is expected that the benefit can be realised through
sufficient taxable income from future profits or through sale of the investment.
• The tax reform in Norway means that previously capitalised tax benefits relating to write-down of shares has been
expensed.
• Other permanent differences such as non-deductible expenses and non-taxable revenues.

Note 11: INTANGIBLE AND TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

(NOK MILLION)

GOODWILL

Cost at 31 December 2003
Reclassifications
Additions
Disposals at cost
Translation differences 2004
Cost at 31 December 2004

OTHER

BUILDINGS

CONSTRUC-

EQUIPMENT,

INTANGIBLE

AND

TION IN

FURNITURE,

ASSETS

LAND

PROGRESS

MACHINERY

VEHICLES

TOTAL

1 236
1
466
(1)
(8)
1 694

450
6
63
(18)
(7)
494

1 615
14
28
(27)
(8)
1 622

97
(58)
4
(2)
41

1 464
49
71
(7)
(12)
1 565

1 014
(12)
125
(48)
(8)
1 071

5 876
757
(101)
(45)
6 487

Acc. depreciation,
amortisation and write-downs
at 31 December 2004
(620)
Book value at
31 December 2004
1 074

(325)

(512)

(5)

(780)

(764)

(3 006)

169

1 110

36

785

307

3 481

(52)
(1)

(69)
(101)

(5)

(113)
(178)

(140)
-

(466)
(357)

Depreciation and
amortisation 2004
Write-downs 2004

(92)
(72)
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2004

Depreciation method
Estimated useful life

OTHER

BUILDINGS

CONSTRUC-

EQUIPMENT,

INTANGIBLE

AND

TION IN

FURNITURE,

GOODWILL

ASSETS

LAND

PROGRESS

Straight
line
10-20
years

Straight
line
3-10
years

Straight
line
25-50
years

MACHINERY

VEHICLES

Straight
line
5-20
years

Straight
line
3-10
years

Other intangible assets include film rights. Film rights with a limited license period and self-produced films are amortised over a three-year period according to a 60-20-20 distribution. Film rights with an unlimited license period are
amortised annualy with an amount reflecting actual revenue in proportion to total expected revenue.
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Write-downs 2004
There is some uncertainty with the sale of the Sandrew Metronome’s cinema operations, while the discontinuation of
the Warner contract will involve changes in the Group’s future earnings. Based on the effect of this on expected future
cash flows Schibsted's goodwill item against Sandrew Metronome has been written down by NOK 72 million to 0 as of
31st December 2004.
In the 2004 accounts, the Swedish printing plant has been accounted for to be sold during the 1st half year of 2005,
see note 2 and 3. This has led to a write-down of fixed asset in the printing plant of SEK 310 million (NOK 285 million.)
Rental agreements
Tangible fixed assets include assets held under financial lease agreements. The related tangible fixed assets have a
cost of NOK 64 million and a book value of NOK 54 million. Depreciation in 2004 amounts to NOK 5 million. The main
part of the financial lease agreements will be redeemed during 2005 as a consequence of the sale of the Swedish printing plant.
The Schibsted Group has operating lease agreements mainly related to office buildings and cinemas. Annual rent related to agreements in force is approximately NOK 180 million, of which NOK 70 million relates to rental agreements in
Norway, NOK 96 million rental agreements in other Scandinavian countries and NOK 14 million rental agreements in
other European countries.
The table below specifies goodwill by company:
ACCUMULATED
BUSINESS(NOK MILLION)

AREA

AMORTISATI
ACQUIRED

ON PERIOD

AMORTISATION

AMORTISATION AND

BOOK

AND WRITE

WRITE DOWNS

VALUE

DOWNS 2004

COST

370
(26)
344*)
20 Min Holding AG
Newspapers
2004 10-15 years
Aftonbladet Hierta AB Newspapers
1995
20 years
338
(168)
170
AS Eesti Meedia
Baltics
1998
20 years
139
(49)
90
Blocket AB
Newspapers
2003
20 years
159
(8)
151
Sandrew Metronome AB
TV/Film
1998
20 years
112
(112)
Schibsted Forlagene AS Publishing
1997
20 years
175
(65)
110
Other
10-20 years
401
(192)
209
Total
1 694
(620)
1 074
*) Sale of 20 Minuten (Schweiz) AG in 2005 will reduce group goodwill with approx. NOK 200 million.

(27)
(17)
(7)
(8)
(77)
(9)
(19)
(164)

Goodwill is amortised over the useful life. Useful life is estimated based on the financial assessments made in connection with the valuation of each company that is acquired. These assessments are normally based upon the assumption
that goodwill related to the acquired company has an expected useful life exceeding 5 years. Schibsted generally uses
an estimated useful life of 20 years for companies that are considered to have strong market positions or which are of
significant strategic importance.

Note 12: INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATED COMPANIES
2004 changes in book value related to investments in associated companies were as follows:
INCOME

(NOK MILLION)

OWNER-

BOOK

FROM

SHIP

VALUE

ASSOCIATED

DIVIDEND

31.12.03 ADDITIONS COMPANIES

RECEIVED

LOCATION

31.12.04

20 Minutes France S.A.S
Paris
20 Minutes Holding AG
Zürich
Trondheim
Adresseavisen ASA
AS Harstad Tidende
Harstad
Bergens Tidende AS
Bergen
BiljettDirekt Ticnet AB
Stockholm
Fædrelandsvennen AS
Kristiansand
Pressens Morgontjänst KB Stockholm
Stavanger Aftenblad ASA
Stavanger
TV 2 AS
Bergen
TV 4 AB
Stockholm
Other
Total

50 %
100 %
32 %
50 %
24 %
0%
25 %
50 %
32 %
33 %
20 %

COST

105
79
15
86
60
169
540
59
1 113

23
(202)
120
52
110
23
43
72
92
272
21
626

(9)
(1)
17

(68)

9
48
2

BOOK
VALUE
OTHER

(14)
203
(11)
(1)
(7)
(3)
(3)

(51)

(7)
1
1
540
2
476

15
40
3
124

(5)
(25)
(2)
(3)
(60)

16
147

31.12.04

126
112
42
65
103
288
538
39
1 313

Reclassified to other
provisions (note 21)

202

-

Book value investments
in associated companies

828

1 313

Excess values included in book value of investments in associated companies at 31 December, 2004 amounts to NOK
527 million, of which approx. NOK 390 million is related to the acquisition of TV 4 which took place towards the end of
2004. The excess value is mainly related to goodwill being amortised over the estimated useful life. Depreciation and
amortisation in 2004 amounted to NOK 15 million.

Schibsted ASA has entered into an option agreement to buy additional 5.9 % of the shares in TV4 from LRF, see note 2.
“Other” is mainly related to the transition of investments in associated companies to joint ventures and to subsidiaries.
20 Minutes charges associated companies with results for January and February and are included as subsidiary / joint
venture from the 1st of March, 2004. Harstad Tidende is included as subsidiary from 1st of August, 2004, while
BilljettDirekt Ticnet was sold in May 2004.

Note 13: INVESTMENTS IN OTHER SHARES
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Investments in other shares consist of the following items:
MARKET VALUE

31.12.04

31.12.04

31.12.04

16.6 %
0.5 %
2.0 %
10.2 %
5.0 %
4.8 %
3.3 %
15.0 %
4.2 %

7
12
75
21
10
6
5
5
9
15
165

*)
12
112
42
13
6
5
7
9
*)

*) There are no quoted market values

Note 14: JOINT VENTURES
Joint ventures are accounted for using pro rata consolidation. The Group’s share of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities are recorded line by line in the consolidated financial statements.
Significant operations accounted for as joint ventures are specified below:
OWNERSHIP SHARE
OF CONTROL PER 31.12.04

Sandrew Metronome AB
20 Minutes France S.A.S
AS Ajakirjade Kirjastus (Estonian Magazine Group)
AS SL Õhtuleht
Fellesdistribusjonen Østfold AS
Finn Tech AS

BUSINESS
LOCATION

AREA

50.0 % Stockholm
TV / Film
50.0 %
Paris Newspapers
50.0 %
Tallinn
Baltics
50.0 %
Tallinn
Baltics
50.0 % Fredrikstad Newspapers
50.0 %
Oslo Newspapers

Key figures for joint ventures included in the consolidated financial statements are presented below:

(NOK MILLION)

Sandrew Metronome AB
20 Minutes France S.A.S
AS Ajakirjade Kirjastus
AS SL Õhtuleht
Fellesdistribusjonen Østfold AS
Finn Tech AS
Other
Total

(NOK MILLION)

Sandrew Metronome AB
20 Minutes France S.A.S
AS Ajakirjade Kirjastus
AS SL Õhtuleht
Fellesdistribusjonen Østfold AS
Finn Tech AS
Other
Total

SHARE OF

SHARE OF

SHARE OF

OPERATING

OPERATING

OPERATING

PROFIT

REVENUES

EXPENSES

PROFIT (EBITA)

BEFORE TAXES

598
82
43
31
25
10
15
804

590
125
37
25
24
13
15
829

8
(43)
6
6
1
(3)
(25)

SHARE OF

4
(53)
6
6
1
(3)
1
(38)

SHARE OF

SHARE OF

SHARE OF

FIXED

CURRENT

LONGTERM LIABILITIES

SHARE OF
CURRENT

ASSETS

ASSETS

AND PROVISIONS

LIABILITIES

197
3
1
1
8
1
211

169
51
17
13
6
5
12
273

33
37
2
72

165
45
9
5
5
2
7
238
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ABC Startsiden AS
Acta Holding ASA
Alma Media Corporation
Asker og Bærums Budstikke ASA
Aspiro AB
Coastal Contacts Inc
Digital Ventures II Ltd
iVisjon AS
Telenor Venture II ASA
Other shares
Total

BOOK VALUE

Notes – Schibsted Group

(NOK MILLION)

OWNERSHIP

Note 15: OTHER FINANCIAL FIXED ASSETS
Other financial fixed assets consist of the following items:
(NOK MILLION)

Prepaid pension cost (note 20)
Receivables from joint ventures and associated companies
Other long term receivables
Total

78

2004

2003

2002

11
26
27
64

6
230
23
259

9
218
24
251

In 2002 and 2003 consisted receivables from joint ventures and associated companies mainly of loans given to 20 Min Holding
AG. From the 1st of March, 2004, 20 Min Holding AG is included in the consolidated accounts as subsidiary,see note 2.

Notes – Schibsted Group
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Note 16: INVENTORIES AND RECEIVABLES
Inventories per 31 December, 2004 amounting to NOK 106 million consist mainly of newsprint, books and
videotapes/DVDs.
Receivables consist of the following items:
(NOK MILLION)

Accounts receivable
Prepayments to suppliers
Other receivables
Total

2004

2003

2002

987
143
286
1 416

799
96
218
1 113

725
39
205
969

Other receivables include among others accrued revenues, receivables from public authorities and prepaid expenses.

Note 17: INVESTMENTS
Investments consist of the following items:
(NOK MILLION)

Interest bearing investments

2004

2003

2002

58

47

57

Note 18: CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS
Schibsted Group has a cash pool agreement with Danske Bank in which all the Norwegian subsidiaries and most of the
Swedish and Danish subsidiaries are included. The cash pool system is created to optimise cash management within
the Group. The Group has a bank overdraft limit of NOK 400 million. As at 31 December, 2004 this overdraft limit is not
used.

Note 19: EQUITY
Changes in equity were as follows in 2004:

(NOK MILLION)

SHARE

OTHER

SHARE

OWN

PREMIUM

PAID IN

RETAINED

MINORITY

CAPITAL

SHARES

EARNINGS

CAPITAL

EARNINGS

INTERESTS

TOTAL

(1)

76

-

2 202
173
(221)
15

184
68

(22)

2 530
241
(221)
20
(22)

(128)
21
123

(128)
(24)
2 396

Equity at 31 December 2003
Net income
Dividends from Schibsted ASA
Repurchase / sale of own shares
Dividends from subsidiaries
Share issue and changed
share of interest in subsidiaries
Translation differences and other
Equity at 31 December 2004

69

5

69

(1)

76

5

(45)
2 124

The increase in the stake in 20 Min Holding AG has led to a reduction in the Group’s equity. The reduction is mainly due
to the consolidation of negative minority interests in 20 Min Group relating to Express Zeitung AG’s 49.5 % shareholding in 20 Minuten (Schweiz) AG.
The Annual Shareholders' meeting has authorised the Board of Directors to repurchase shares in Schibsted ASA limited to 6 925 000 shares (10 %). The Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on 6th of May 2004 approved an extension of the
share repurchase authorisation for a period of 12 months. The Board of Directors’ will place a motion that this authorisation is extended until The Annual Shareholders meeting in May 2006.
Per 31 December, 2004 Schibsted held 1 320 470 shares at a cost of NOK 108 million. The reason for the repurchase is
that the Board of Directors assesses the repurchase as a favourable investment and in order to optimize the Groups
capital structure. Parts of the shares are acquired in order to be used in connection with the employees share programmes.
Schibsted ASA has in 2004 sold 170 048 of its own shares. Schibsted has established a rolling options programme targeted at key persons within the Group. The programme includes the Group Management (see note 7) and Managing
directors and Editors in Chief of Aftenposten, VG and Svenska Dagbladet. Within this programme 120 000 options granted in 2001 has been exercised in 2004, which has led to a sale of 120 000 own shares from Schibsted ASA at a share
price of NOK 100. - In connection with employees being given the opportunity to purchase shares at a discounted price,
50 048 shares were sold to the Schibsted Employees’ Share Purchase Fund in the 2004 at a price of NOK 121 per share.

Cost of acquisition of own shares in excess of par value is deducted from retained earnings. Net gain on sale of own
shares are classified as other paid in capital.
Earnings per share are calculated using an average number of shares of 67 841 038 in 2004, 67 823 899 in 2003 and 68 204
378 in 2002. Average diluted numbers of shares outstanding is 67 934 030 in 2004, 67 851 552 in 2003 and 68 204 378 in
2002. In periods the market price of Schibsted shares has been higher than the strike price, implying that the options have a
dilutive effect on earnings per share. The dilutive effect is immaterial, hence earnings per share and earnings per share, diluted are both NOK 2.55 (NOK 6.92). Earnings per share adjusted is calculated based on net income attributable to majority interests adjusted for amortisation and write-downs goodwill other revenues and expenses and relevant tax items.
For additional information related to the Group’s equity see shareholder information on pages 52-53
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In addition to the funded pension obligations, the Group has unfunded obligations. These obligations relate to persons
not included in the pension scheme, pensions for salaries above 12G (social security base), early retirement pensions
(AFP) and uninsured disability pensions.
The subsidiaries outside Norway have pension schemes based on local practise and regulations. These pension schemes are accounted for as defined contribution plans.

Breakdown of net pension cost:
(NOK MILLION)

2004

2003

2002

Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Amortisation of actuarial (gains) losses and past service cost

84
114
(106)
(2)

79
99
(95)
(4)

73
95
(97)
(2)

Net pension cost – defined benefit plans
Net pension cost – defined contribution plans
Net pension cost

90
71
161

79
73
152

69
53
122

In addition to the above net pension cost NOK 45 million has been charged as other cost in connection with early retirements, see note 3.

Breakdown of net pension liabilities at 31 December:
(NOK MILLION)

Projected benefit obligation
Plan assets
Calculated net pension liabilities
Unrecognised actuarial (gains) losses and past service cost
Net pension liabilities
Of which prepaid pension cost
Of which accrued pension liabilities
Assumptions:
Discount rate
Expected return on plan assets
Wage growth
Social security base adjustment
Pension adjustment

2004

2003

2002

(2 159)
1 618
(541)
73
(468)

(1 905)
1 440
(465)
24
(441)

(1 749)
1 415
(334)
(118)
(452)

11
(479)

6
(447)

9
(461)

6.0 %
7.0 %
3.5 %
3.0 %
3.0 %

6.0 %
7.0 %
3.0 %
2.0 %
2.0 %

6.0 %
7.0 %
3.0 %
2.0 %
1.6 %

2004

2003

2002

17 %
18 %
17 %
12 %
33 %
3%
100 %

13 %
27 %
9%
12 %
33 %
6%
100 %

11 %
24 %
22 %
11 %
25 %
7%
100 %

Breakdown of plan assets at 31 December:

Shares
Short-term bonds
Money market investments
Real estate
Long-term bonds
Other
Total

Actual return on plan assets (value-adjusted return in Vital) was in 2004 approximately 7 %, in 2003 approximately 10 %
and in 2002 approximately 1 %.
The Union of Graphic Workers at Verdens Gang AS has instituted legal proceedings against Verdens Gang AS regarding
the company’s pension plan. The dispute is about what elements of wages that are to be included in the pension base.
The case has been tried before the conciliation board without success, and is due in court (Oslo Tingrett) in May 2005.
Should the Union’s views be accepted, and given that any change is applied also to other employees in Verdens Gang
AS and given that the pension plan in other respects remain unchanged, the annual net pension cost may increase by
approximately NOK 5-6 million. Projected benefit obligations may increase by approximately NOK 40 million.
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Norwegian companies within the Schibsted Group maintain their collective pension schemes with Vital. The plans are
mainly defined benefit plans, but some companies have established defined contribution plans. The individual companies’ policies related to defined benefit plans are approximately uniform. The main conditions are 30-years salaried
employment to obtain full pension, approximately 66 % retirement pension from the age of 67, and spouse and child
pensions. At 31 December, 2004 the pension plan had 2 569 (2 386) working members.

Notes – Schibsted Group

Note 20: PENSION PLANS

Note 21: OTHER PROVISIONS
Other provisions consist of the following items:
(NOK MILLION)

2004

2003

2002

7
7

202
6
208

174
9
183

Investments in associated companies
Other provisions
Total

Investments in associated companies included in other provisions in the years 2002 and 2003, are related to the shareholding in 20 Min Holding AG. From 1st of March, 2004 20 Min Holding AG is included in the consolidated accounts as
subsidiary, see note 2.
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Note 22: INTEREST BEARING LONG TERM DEBT
Interest bearing long term debt allocated by lenders and currency:
(NOK MILLION)

Den Nordiske Investeringsbank
Den Nordiske Investeringsbank
Syndicated loan
Syndicated loan
Bond issues
Svenska Handelsbanken
Financial lease agreements
Other
Total

CURRENCY

2004

2003

2002

EUR
USD
Multi-currency
SEK
NOK
SEK
SEK

412
118
146
900
119
50
86
1 831

211
147
900
121
194
51
1 624

182
177
1 027
117
185
20
1 708

Loan from Den Nordiske Investeringsbank consists of two loans, total of EUR 50 million. One loan of EUR 25 million has
a maturity of 10 years from 1999. The interest rate is Euribor plus a margin. In 2004 an addition loan was given in the
amount of EUR 25 million. The maturity is 12 years and the interest rate is Euribor plus a margin.
Loan from Den Nordiske Investeringsbank in USD has a maturity of 12 years from 1996. The loan amounts to USD 18
million and instalments and interest payments are hedged against NOK through a currency- and interest rate swap.
The hedge entails an interest rate of NIBOR plus a margin.
In 2004, the Group entered into a new syndicated multi-currency credit facility with a total borrowing limit of EUR 250
million. This facility was available as from 31 July 2004 and replaced the company’s current facility of USD 180 million.
The facility consists of a five-year drawing facility of EUR 150 million and a 364-day facility of EUR 100 million. In connection with the 364-day facility, options have been entered into that enable the facility to be extended by 364-day
periods up to four times, or to be converted into a long-term loan with a term of up to five years. The facility has been
entered into on favourable market conditions based on EURIBOR plus a margin.
In October 2003, the Group issued bonds in the Norwegian bond market for a total of NOK 900 million as part of the
refinancing of the Group’s long term debt. The bonds issued are divided in a NOK 600 million fixed rate loan and a NOK
300 million floating rate loan. The fixed rate loan has a maturity of four years, an interest rate of 4.98 % pa. and the
loan is listed at Oslo Stock Exchange (ticker SCHF01). The floating rate loan has a maturity of three years, the interest is
three months NIBOR plus a margin of 0.50 and the loan is listed at Oslo Stock Exchange (ticker SCHF02).
Loan from Svenska Handelsbanken of SEK 130 million will be redeemed in 2005 in connection with the sale of the
Swedish printing plant, see note 2.
Schibsted has one financial lease agreement related to printing machinery in Sweden with floating interest rate that
expires in 2013. In connection with the sale of the printing plant, this agreement will be redeemed during 2005.
See note 24 Financial market risk, regarding interest rate risk, liquidity reserves and refinancing of long term debt.
Interest bearing long term debt as of 31 December, 2004 is due for repayment as follows:
YEAR

(NOK MILLION)

2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010 and later
Total

287
376
675
73
215
205
1 831

Note 23: CURRENT LIABILITIES
Current liabilities consist of the following items:
(NOK MILLION)

Trade creditors
Public duties payable
Taxes payable
Dividends payable
Accrued wages
Prepayment from customers
Other current liabilities
Total

2004

2003

2002

502
291
180
235
335
366
534
2 443

345
254
101
207
348
308
484
2 047

299
243
139
140
294
224
491
1 830

Note 24: FINANCIAL MARKET RISK
Foreign exchange risk
NOK is Schibsted’s base currency, but through activities outside Norway the Group is exposed to changes in foreign
exchange rates, mainly Swedish kroner (SEK), euro (EUR) and Estonian kroons (EEK). The Group uses debt denominated
in foreign currencies and forward contracts in order to reduce the foreign exchange exposure related to net assets in
these currencies. Net assets consist of receivables and debt in foreign currency and net investments in foreign operations (associated companies, joint ventures and subsidiaries). The balance of loans in foreign currency and forward
contracts are managed in accordance with the Group’s foreign exchange risk strategy in order to reduce the risk. At
December 31, 2004, the Group held several forward contracts which involves sale of SEK and EUR, with purchase of
corresponding amount in NOK entered into for hedging purposes. Unrealised foreign currency loss related to these
contracts amounted to NOK 6 million at 31 December, 2004.

Interest rate risk
Schibsted has debt with both fixed and floating interest rates, see note 22 Interest bearing long term debt. In addition,
Schibsted Finans entered into a 10-year NOK 100 million 7 % interest rate cap in April 1997. As today’s interest level is
material below 7 %, this cap is considered to be of no value for the Group. Approximately 40 % of the Group’s debt as of
31 December, 2004 has fixed interest rates.
Schibsted has substantial pension liabilities which, opposed to interest bearing debt, are affected positively by an
increase in the interest rate due to a corresponding increase in the discount rate. This reduces the need to hedge the
interest rate on interest bearing long term debt.
Raw material risk
The Group has substantial costs related to newsprint and is therefore exposed to changes in prices. A change in the
price of 1 % will give a change in raw material costs of approximately NOK 9 million per year. Newsprint prices are negotiated with suppliers on a yearly basis and the level is determined for 2005.
Stock price risk
The Group has limited exposure towards the equity market at the end of 2004 and therefore limited risk of loss in the
event of fall in the market prices.
Credit risk
As many of the Group’s products are sold based on prepayments (subscription) or by cash payment (single-copy sale)
the risk related to credit is limited.
Liquidity risk
At the end of 2004, the Group’s liquidity reserves amounted to approximately NOK 2.5 billion, corresponding to 26 % of
Group operating revenues. The Group’s target is a liquidity reserve corresponding to at least 10 % of the expected operating revenues for the next 12 months. The Group established a new 5-year facility in the spring 2004, and the risk related to
refinancing is considered to be very limited.
Schibsted’s loan agreements contain covenants concerning the Group’s net interest bearing debt related to operating
profit before depreciation (EBITDA). The ratio should not exceed 3.0. The agreements state that the level can be as far
as 4.0 in four corresponding quarters in the term to maturity of the facility. At 31 December, 2004 the Group was far
within the mentioned requirements.

Note 25: ADDITIONAL INFORMATION TO CASH FLOW STATEMENT
The consolidated cash flow statement shows payments related to acquisition of subsidiaries and joint ventures net of
cash acquired. Non-cash transactions in connection with the acquisitions are:
(NOK MILLION)

Cash in companies acquired
Fair value of other current assets
Fair value of fixed assets
Total fair value of assets acquired
Minority interests and liabilities assumed
Deferred payment shares in Byt Bil Nordic AB
Cash paid for equity
Cash in companies acquired
Payments for acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired

2004

2003

109
132
562
803
(192)
611
(109)
502

11
5
174
190
(12)
13
191
(11)
180

2002

6
4
78
88
(58)
(13)
17
(6)
11

Note 26: IMPLEMENTATION OF INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (IFRS) (UNAUDITED)
Schibsted will, in accordance with the requirements applicable to listed companies, from 1st quarter 2005 report its
consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). In order to
present comparable figures for 2004, an opening balance sheet as per January 1, 2004 in accordance with IFRS is prepared. In addition, income statement for 2004 and balance sheet as per December 31, 2004 in accordance with IFRS is
prepared. Below is a description of the material differences between the accounting principles applied previously by
Schibsted (NGAAP) and IFRS. In addition, reconciliations between financial statements prepared in accordance with
NGAAP and restated financial statements in accordance with IFRS are presented. The figures presented may change
as a consequence of new information and changes in interpretations of IFRS during 2005.
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Exchange gains and losses arising on liabilities and other financial instruments hedging a net investment in a foreign
operation is recognised in equity until disposal of the investment.
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Cash flows in foreign currencies related to investments and other significant transactions are hedged using financial
instruments. Gains or losses on such instruments are deferred and included in income as part of the hedged transaction. At year-end, the Group did not hold such financial instruments.

Dividends
Dividends, as proposed by the Board of Directors, are in accordance with NGAAP recognised as a liability as per
December 31. In accordance with IFRS, dividends are not recognised as a liability until approved by the Annual
Shareholders Meeting in the following year.
Share based payment
In accordance with IFRS, fair value of options granted after November 11, 2002 is charged to expense over the vesting
period. Under NGAAP, the intrinsic value would only be charged to expense.
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Pension cost
Under IFRS pension obligations at January 1, 2004 are measured at present value less fair value of plan assets.
Differences between the net present value and the amount recognised as an obligation under NGAAP at December 31,
2003 are charged to equity. The actuarial assumptions applied in calculating pension obligations under IFRS as per
January 1, 2004 deviates from the assumptions applied under NGAAP as per December 31, 2003. Among other, the discount rate is reduced mainly as an effect of the NGAAP discount rate being determined by reference to long term market yields on high quality corporate bonds while the IFRS discount rate is determined by reference to long term market
yields on government bonds. Net pension cost for 2004 increases due to increase in pension obligations and reduction
in expected rate of return on plan assets.
Associated companies
Reporting in accordance with IFRS also implies that financial statements of associated companies have to be restated
in accordance with IFRS. In addition, cost of acquisition in excess of share of equity in the associated company should
be treated in accordance with IFRS, including that excess allocated to goodwill should not be amortised.
The amount charged to equity at January 1, 2004 reflects Schibsted’s share of estimated IFRS-adjustments to equity
in associated companies, mainly related to pension obligations. Net profit for 2004 is effected by Schibsted’s share of
IFRS-adjustments to net profit of associated companies and the fact that goodwill related to associated companies are
not amortised under IFRS.
Business combinations / goodwill
Under NGAAP, goodwill is amortised over expected useful life. Under IFRS goodwill is not amortised, but an impairment
loss should be recognised if the recoverable amount is less than the carrying value. Amortisation of goodwill as recognised in the NGAAP financial statements are excluded from the IFRS financial statements. Impairment loss related to
goodwill reflected in the NGAAP financial statements are increased in the IFRS financial statements to reflect effect of
no amortisation in 2004.
Goodwill and other excess values related to business combinations prior to January 1, 2004 are under NGAAP recognised as assets nominated in the functional currency of the acquiring company. Under IFRS such assets are recognised
as assets nominated in the functional currency of the acquired company. The accumulated translation effect as per
January 1, 2004 is charged to equity.
Other differences
Other differences are related to fixed assets. Generally such assets are recognised in the IFRS balance sheet as per
January 1, 2004 at depreciated cost as recognised under NGAAP. Following the requirement under IFRS to separately
depreciate any significant item of property, plant and equipment, a requirement which is not fully in line with NGAAP
practise, depreciation related to certain material components of property plant and equipment is recalculated and the
difference between accumulated recalculated depreciation and actual accumulated depreciation under NGAAP is
charged to equity at January 1, 2004. Adjusted depreciation periods lead to increased depreciation charge under IFRS
in 2004.
Borrowing costs related to assets constructed by the Group is included in the cost of fixed assets under NGAAP. Under
IFRS such borrowing costs are recognised as an expense when incurred.
Deferred taxes
No differences between NGAAP and IFRS are identified in relation to deferred taxes.
Some of the adjustments described above create adjusted temporary differences and thereby also effect deffered
taxes. Those adjustments are presented net of tax in the reconciliations of net income 2004 and equity at January 1,
2004 and December 31, 2004.
Classification and presentation
When preparing income statement and balance sheets in accordance with IFRS certain reclassifications compared to
previous NGAAP presentation will be made. First year repayment of long term debt, which under NGAAP has been classified under long term liabilities, will under IFRS be classified under current liabilities. Income from associated companies, which under NGAAP have been presented as a financial item, will under IFRS be included in operating profit.
The reconciliation of reported equity in accordance with Schibsted’s annual financial statements (NGAAP) and the opening balance as per January 1, 2004 can be summarized as follows:

(NOK MILLION)

Equity as per 31.12.2003 NGAAP
IFRS-adjustments:
Dividends accrued
Pension obligations (net of tax)
Associated companies
Business combinations / goodwill
Other differences (net of tax)
Equity as per 01.01.2004 IFRS

MAJORITY

MINORITY

SHARE

SHARE

TOTAL

2 346

184

2 530

203
(189)
(52)
(9)
(16)
2 283

4

207
(189)
(52)
(9)
(16)
2 471

188

The reconciliation of reported equity in accordance with Schibsted’s annual financial statements (NGAAP) and the
balance sheet as per December 31, 2004 under IFRS can be summarized as follows:

(NOK MILLION)

Equity as per 31.12.2004 NGAAP
IFRS-adjustments:
Dividends accrued
Pension obligations (net of tax)
Associated companies
Business combinations / goodwill
Other differences (net of tax)
Equity as per 31.12.2004 IFRS

MAJORITY

MINORITY

SHARE

SHARE

TOTAL

2 273

123

2 396

221
(209)
(46)
70
(18)
2 291

15
(2)

236
(211)
(46)
74
(18)
2 431

4
140

MINORITY

SHARE

SHARE

Net income 2004 NGAAP
IFRS-adjustments:
Share based payment
Net pension cost (net of tax)
Associated companies
Business combinations / goodwill
Other differences (net of tax)
Net income 2004 IFRS
Earnings per share NGAAP (NOK)
Earnings per share IFRS (NOK)

173
(1)
(18)
6
82
(1)
241
2.55
3.55

68

4
72

TOTAL

241
(1)
(18)
6
86
(1)
313

Note 27: CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES
The following subsidiaries, owned directly or indirectly by Schibsted ASA are included in the consolidated financial
statements at 31 December, 2004:
BUSINESS AREA NEWPAPERS

20 Min Holding AG
20 Min GP Ltd
20 Min International B.V.
20 Minuten (Schweiz) AG
20 Minutos España S.A.
Indice Multiprensa S.L.
Multiprensa Holding S.L.
Multiprensa Y M@s S.L.
Aftenposten AS
Aftenposten Annonseguiden AS
Aftenposten Forbruker AS
Aftenposten Multimedia AS
Distribution Innovation AS
FINN Bil.no AS
FINN Eiendom.no AS
FINN Jobb.no AS
FINN Vekst AS
FINN.no AS
Gardermoen Avisdistribusjon AS
Mediearkivet.no AS
Mediearkivet AB
Planet Golf ASA
Retriever Holding AB
Retriever Norge AS
Retriever Sverige AB
Aftonbladet Hierta AB
Aftonbladet Kolportage AB
Aftonbladet Nya Medier AB
ASF Sverige AB
Blocket AB
Byt Bil Nordic AB
Hierta Affärsutveckling AB
Hierta Förlag AB
Svenska Skivklubben AB
Tabloiden Förvaltnings AB
Harstad Tidende Gruppen AS
Bladet Tromsø AS
Brønnøysund Avis AS
Framtid i Nord AS
Harstad Tidende AS
HTG Multimedia AS
HTG Trykk AS
Nordlandsposten AS
Ofoten Tidende AS
Radio 10 BA
Troms Avistrykk AS
Troms Folkeblad AS
TV 10 Harstad AS

OWNERSHIP

SHARE OF

LOCATION

%

CONTROL %

Zürich
St. Helier
Rotterdam
Zürich
Madrid
Madrid
Madrid
Madrid
Oslo
Oslo
Oslo
Oslo
Oslo
Oslo
Oslo
Oslo
Oslo
Oslo
Oslo
Oslo
Stockholm
Oslo
Stockholm
Oslo
Stockholm
Stockholm
Stockholm
Stockholm
Stockholm
Stockholm
Stockholm
Stockholm
Stockholm
Stockholm
Stockholm
Harstad
Tromsø
Brønnøysund
Nordreisa
Harstad
Harstad
Harstad
Harstad
Narvik
Harstad
Tromsø
Finnsnes
Harstad

100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
50.50 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
60.00 %
62.00 %
51.29 %
62.00 %
62.00 %
62.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
94.21 %
68.58 %
80.30 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
51.00 %
100.00 %
50.32 %
47.85 %
25.18 %
47.30 %
50.32 %
50.32 %
50.32 %
50.32 %
50.32 %
50.32 %
50.32 %
50.32 %
50.32 %

100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
50.50 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
60.00 %
62.00 %
51.29 %
62.00 %
62.00 %
62.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
49.90 %*)
49.90 %
49.90 %
59.14 %
43.05 %
49.59 %
49.90 %
49.90 %
25.45 %
49.90 %
50.32 %
47.85 %
25.18 %
47.30 %
50.32 %
50.32 %
50.32 %
50.32 %
50.32 %
50.32 %
50.32 %
50.32 %
50.32 %

*) Aftonbladet Hierta AB is owned by Schibsted and Swedish LO (the Swedish Labour Union). LO holds 50.1% of the
voting shares through preferred shares with a fixed annual return (SEK 3.6 million). Schibsted holds 49.9 % of the
voting shares and is in charge of the industrial and financial development of Aftonbladet.
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MAJORITY
(NOK MILLION)

Notes – Schibsted Group

The reconciliation of reported net income in accordance with Schibsted’s annual financial statements (NGAAP) and the
net income 2004 under IFRS can be summarized as follows:
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Scanpix Scandinavia AB
OÜ Scanpix Baltics
Scanpix Sverige AB
Scanpix Norge AS
Svenska Dagbladet Holding AB
Annonsmaterial AB
HB Svenska Dagbladets AB & Co
Headhunter AB
Svensk Radiobokning AB
Svenska Dagbladets AB
Svenska Dagbladet Annons AB
Svenska Dagbladet Distribution AB
Svenska Dagbladet Executive Club AB
Svenska Dagbladet Venture AB
Svenskan Svenska Dagbladet AB
Tidningstryckarna Holding Sweden AB
Tidningstryckarna Aftonbladet
Svenska Dagbladet AB
Fastighets AB Tidningsfabriken
Verdens Gang AS
Avisretur AS
Radio VG AS
VG Multimedia AS
VG Pluss AS
European Media Ventures AB
European Media Ventures AS
Gratisavisen avis1 AS
Osloavisen AS
Schibsted AG
Schibsted Print Media AS
Schibsted Trykk AS

OWNERSHIP

SHARE OF

LOCATION

%

CONTROL %

Stockholm
Tartu
Stockholm
Oslo
Stockholm
Stockholm
Stockholm
Stockholm
Stockholm
Stockholm
Stockholm
Stockholm
Stockholm
Stockholm
Stockholm
Stockholm

74.99 %
83.57 %
74.99 %
37.57 %
99.41 %
99.41 %
99.41 %
99.41 %
99.41 %
99.41 %
99.41 %
99.41 %
99.41 %
99.41 %
99.41 %
100.00 %

74.99 %
83.57 %
74.99 %
37.57 %
99.41 %
99.41 %
99.41 %
99.41 %
99.41 %
99.41 %
99.41 %
99.41 %
99.41 %
99.41 %
99.41 %
100.00 %

Stockholm
Stockholm
Oslo
Oslo
Oslo
Oslo
Oslo
Stockholm
Oslo
Oslo
Oslo
Berlin
Oslo
Oslo

100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
50.10 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %

100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
50.10 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %

OWNERSHIP

SHARE OF

BUSINESS AREA BALTICS

LOCATION

%

CONTROL %

AS Eesti Meedia
AS Kroonpress
AS Litero
AS Postimees
AS Pärnu Postimees
AS Viru Press
OÜ Meediasüsteemid
AS Schibsted Baltics
UAB Zurnalu Leidybos Grupe (ZLG)
AS Kanal 2

Tartu
Tartu
Valga
Tallinn
Pärnu
Rakvere
Tartu
Tallinn
Vilnius
Tallinn

92.50 %
92.20 %
82.05 %
92.50 %
92.50 %
49.14 %
92.50 %
100.00 %
66.67 %
100.00 %

92.50 %
92.20 %
82.05 %
92.50 %
92.50 %
49.14 %
92.50 %
100.00 %
66.67 %
100.00 %

OWNERSHIP

SHARE OF

BUSINESS AREA TV / FILM

LOCATION

%

CONTROL %

Stockholm
Copenhagen
Copenhagen
Copenhagen
Stockholm
Oslo
Stockholm
Stockholm
Stockholm
Copenhagen
Stockholm
Copenhagen
Gothenburg
Oslo
Stockholm
Stockholm
Tallin
Stockholm
Stockholm
Copenhagen
Helsinki
Copenhagen
Stockholm
Oslo
Copenhagen
Oslo
Stockholm
Copenhagen
Oslo
Helsinki
Stockholm
Copenhagen
Oslo
Stockholm
Oslo

65.00 %
65.00 %
65.00 %
65.00 %
65.00 %
33.15 %
65.00 %
32.50 %
65.00 %
65.00 %
39.00 %
65.00 %
65.00 %
36.40 %
65.00 %
65.00 %
65.00 %
65.00 %
65.00 %
65.00 %
63.05 %
61.75 %
65.00 %
53.95 %
65.00 %
65.00 %
65.00 %
65.00 %
65.00 %
65.00 %
65.00 %
65.00 %
65.00 %
65.00 %
65.00 %

65.00 %
65.00 %
65.00 %
65.00 %
65.00 %
33.15 %
65.00 %
32.50 %
65.00 %
65.00 %
39.00 %
65.00 %
65.00 %
36.40 %
65.00 %
65.00 %
65.00 %
65.00 %
65.00 %
65.00 %
63.05 %
61.75 %
65.00 %
53.95 %
65.00 %
65.00 %
65.00 %
65.00 %
65.00 %
65.00 %
65.00 %
65.00 %
65.00 %
65.00 %
65.00 %

Metronome Film & Television AB
Blarke Sonne Levring A/S
Brand Selskapet A/S
Bullet Productions A/S
C. Wikander Produktion AB
Cosmo Televisjon AS
Decimeter Film & TV AB
Drivankaret AB
Endemol Entertainment Produktion AB
European Film Group A/S
Filmlance International AB
Helikopter A/S
Helikopter Digital Media AB
Intrige Television AS
Mekano Enterprise AB
Mekano Film & Television AB
Meteor Films Oü
Meter Fakta AB
Meter Film & Television AB
Metronome Aps
Metronome Film & Television Oy
Metronome Productions A/S
Metronome Spartacus AB
Metronome Spartacus AS
Moland Film Company A/S
Moland Film Company AS
Mutter Media AB
Nordic Entertainment A/S
Nordic Entertainment AS
Otto Tuotanto Oy
Peter Emanuel Falck Produktion AB
Post Selskabet A/S
Rubicon TV AS
Studios Mekaniken AB
Studios AS

BUSINESS AREA TV / FILM

Studios A/S
TV Spartacus AB
TV Spartacus KB
Tvålkoppen AB
Metronome AS
Schibsted TV/Film og Forlag AS

BUSINESS AREA PUBLISHING

Schibsted Eiendom AS
Akersgaten 55 AS
AS Akersgaten 34
Jenagade 22 A/S
Sandakerveien 121 AS
Schibsted Multimedia AS
Be Ep AB
Beep Telekommunikasjon AS
Bokkilden AS
Inpoc AB
Inpoc ApS
Inpoc AS
Inpoc Baltics AS
Inpoc Latvia SIA
Inpoc UAB
Memento SOL AS
Schibsted Interactive Studio AS
Schibsted Mobile AB
Schibsted Mobile AS
SI Företagstjänster AB
SI Företagstjänster Holding AB
SMS A/S
SMS Selskabet af 2001 ApS
Schibsted Finans AS

CONTROL %

Copenhagen
Stockholm
Stockholm
Stockholm
Oslo
Oslo

63.31 %
65.00 %
43.55 %
43.55 %
100.00 %
100.00 %

63.31 %
65.00 %
43.55 %
43.55 %
100.00 %
100.00 %

OWNERSHIP

SHARE OF

LOCATION

%

CONTROL %

Oslo
Helsingborg
Stockholm
Stockholm
Stockholm
Stockholm
Stockholm
Oslo
Oslo

100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %

100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %

OWNERSHIP

SHARE OF

LOCATION

%

CONTROL %

Oslo
Oslo
Oslo
Copenhagen
Oslo
Oslo
Oslo
Oslo
Oslo
Stockholm
Herlev
Oslo
Tallinn
Riga
Vilnius
Oslo
Oslo
Stockholm
Oslo
Stockholm
Stockholm
Copenhagen
Copenhagen
Oslo

100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
99.96 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
99.96 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %

100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
80.42 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
80.42 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
100.00 %
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OTHER OPERATIONS

SHARE OF

%

Notes – Schibsted Group

Schibsted Forlagene AS
Boknöje AB
Bullhead AB
Full Stop Media AB
Maison Sverige AB
Svenska Förlaget Holding AB
Svenska Förlaget AB
Stålfjæra 5 ANS
Cesam Bok ANS

OWNERSHIP
LOCATION

Income statement – Schibsted ASA
(NOK MILLION)

NOTE

2004

2003

Operating revenues

2

1

53

Personnel expenses
Depreciation
Other operating expenses

3
4
5

(55)
(1)
(57)

(48)
(2)
(48)

(112)

(45)

346
(9)
337

355
(41)
314

225

269

(48)

(64)

Net income

177

205

Information about:
Dividends
Group contribution payable

(221)
(121)

(203)
(187)

Operating profit (loss)
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Financial income
Financial expenses
Net financial items

6
6

Profit before taxes
Taxes

7

Balance sheet at 31 December – Schibsted ASA
(NOK MILLION)

2003

ASSETS
Deferred tax asset
Other intangible fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets

7
4

9
1
10

7
7

Tangible fixed assets

4

6

7

8
8
8
9,14

1 075
388
26
1 489

989
386
25
1
1 401

1 505

1 415

294
9
303

386
6
392

1 808

1 807

Share capital
Own shares
Share premium reserve
Other paid in capital
Paid in capital

69
(1)
76
5
149

69
(1)
76
144

Other equlty
Retained earnings

927
927

957
957

Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in associated companies
Investments in other shares
Other financial fixed assets
Financial fixed assets
Fixed assets
Receivables
Cash and bank deposits
Current assets

10
11

Total assets
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

13

1 076

1 101

Pension liabilities
Provisions

14

21
21

17
17

Current liabilities

15

711

689

1 808

1 807

Total equity and liabilities
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2004

Balance sheet – Schibsted ASA

NOTE

Cash flow statement – Schibsted ASA
(NOK MILLION)

2004

2003

225
1
(287)
95
10
4

269
(4)
2
30
(284)
49
(372)
2

48

(406)

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before taxes
Taxes paid
Depreciation
Write-downs financial fixed assets
Group contribution included in financial income
Change in short term receivables
Change in current liabilities
Difference between pension cost and cash flow related to pension plans

88
Cashflow statement – Schibsted ASA

Schibsted Annual Report 2004

Cash flow from operating activities
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investments in tangible fixed assets
Investments in equity investments
Sale of equity investments

(1)
(2)
1

-

Cash flow from investing activities

(2)

-

44
97
(203)
19

124
58
(135)
(22)

(43)

25

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
New short term interest bearing debt
Group contribution received (net)
Dividends paid
Net purchase of own shares
Cash flow from financing activities
Cash flow for the year

3

(381)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January

6

387

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

9

6

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – SCHIBSTED ASA
Note 1: Accounting principles
Schibsted ASA follows the accounting principles described in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements except for
the treatment of investments in subsidiaries and associated companies. Investments in subsidiaries and associated
companies are accounted for using the cost method in the parent company financial statements and are written down
if the carrying value exceeds recoverable amount. The write-down is reversed if the basis for the write-down is no
longer present. Group contribution receivable is included in financial income provided that the group contribution
receivable does not represent a repayment of paid in capital. Group contribution receivable which represent a repayment of paid in capital is accounted as a reduction in the cost of investments in subsidiaries. Net group contribution
payable (gross group contribution less tax effect) is included in the cost of investments in subsidiaries. Dividends from
associated companies are included in financial income.

(NOK MILLION)

Revenues
Other operating income
Total

2004

2003

1
1

2
51
53

Revenues consist of accounting fees and other fees for assistance to other group companies. Other operating income
consists of royalty related to the publishing rights of VG. The royalty agreement expired 31 December 2003.

Note 3. PERSONNEL EXPENSES AND AVERAGE NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES
Personnel expenses consist of:
(NOK MILLION)

Salaries and wages
Social security cost
Net pension cost (note 14)
Other benefits
Total

2004

2003

33
11
6
5
55

32
7
4
5
48

Average number of employees has been 59 in 2004 included trainees.

Note 4. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
OTHER

EQUIPMENT /

INTANGIBLE

FURNITURE

ASSETS

VEHICLES

Cost at 1 January 2004
Additions
Disposals at cost
Cost at 31 December 2004

1
1

37
37

Accumulated depreciation at 1 January 2004
Depreciation 2004
Disposals
Accumulated depreciation at 31 December 2004

-

(30)
(1)
(31)

Book value at 31 December 2004

1

6

(NOK MILLION)

Depreciation method
Estimated useful life

Straight line Straight line
3 – 5 years 3 – 10 years

Annual operating lease payments amounts to NOK 13 million.
Depreciation in 2004 includes depreciation of leasehold improvements with NOK 0.8 million.

Note 5. OTHER OPERATING EXPENCES
Other operating expenses consist of:
(NOK MILLION)

Rent, maintenance etc.
Office- and administrative expenses
Professional fees
Travel, meetings and marketing
Total

2004

2003

15
12
20
10
57

15
10
13
10
48
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Operating revenues consists of:

Notes – Schibsted ASA

Note 2. OPERATING REVENUES
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Note 6. NET FINANCIAL ITEMS
Financial income consists of:

90

2004

2003

Interest income
Group contribution receivable
Dividends from associated companies
Other financial income
Total

287
50
9
346

1
284
70
355

2004

2003

9
9

11
30
41

(NOK MILLION)

2004

2003

Profit before taxes
Permanent differences
Change in temporary differences
Taxable income

225
(57)
6
174

269
31
(43)
257

28 %

28 %

2004

2003

Financial expenses consist of:

Notes – Schibsted ASA
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(NOK MILLION)

(NOK MILLION)

Interst expense cash pool system (note 11)
Write-downs investments in subsidiaries
Total

Note 7. TAXES
Below is set out the difference between profit before taxes and taxable income:

Tax rate

Income taxes and taxes payable are calculated as follows:
(NOK MILLION)

Calculated taxes payable
Tax credit on dividends
Current income taxes
Taxes payable related to group contribution payable
Taxes payable

49
49
(34)
15

72
(20)
52
(52)
-

Current income taxes
Deferred income taxes
Tax on own shares credited equity
Taxes

49
(2)
1
48

52
12
64

Deferred tax asset consists of the following:
(NOK MILLION)

2004

Temporary differences related to:
Tangible fixed assets
Prepaid pension cost
Accrued pension liabilities
Own shares
Current liabilities
Total temporary differences
Tax rate
Deferred tax asset

2003

(5)
(21)
(7)
(33)

(6)
1
(17)
2
(7)
(27)

28 %

28 %

(9)

(7)

Note 8: INVESTMENTS IN SHARES
OWNERSHIP %
(NOK 1 000)

31.12.04

LOCATION

BOOK VALUE

Investments in subsidiaries
Aftenposten AS
Metronome AS
Osloavisen AS
Schibsted Eiendom AS
Schibsted Finans AS
Schibsted Multimedia AS
Schibsted Print Media AS
Schibsted TV, Film & Forlag AS
Verdens Gang AS
Total

100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00

Oslo
Oslo
Oslo
Oslo
Oslo
Oslo
Oslo
Oslo
Oslo

30
124
116
290
118
332
40
25
1 075

OWNERSHIP %
(NOK 1 000)

31.12.04

LOCATION

BOOK VALUE

Investments in associated companies
Adresseavisen ASA
Bergens Tidende AS
Fædrelandsvennen AS
Fædrelandsvennen Trykkeri AS
Stavanger Aftenblad ASA
TV 2 AS
Total

31.86 Trondheim
22.67
Bergen
25.00 Kristiansand
25.00 Kristiansand
31.57
Stavanger
33.34
Bergen

105
79
15
61
128
388

Investments in other shares
Asker og Bærums Budstikke ASA
Harstad Tidende AS
Scanpix Scandinavia AB
Stålfjæra ANS
Total

10.20
11.21
13.32
0.10
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Ownership (%) equals share of control.
Group contribution payable to subsidiaries, NOK 87 million (net), is capitalised as part of the investments in subsidiaries.

Note 9. OTHER FINANCIAL FIXED ASSETS
Other financial fixed assets consist of:
(NOK MILLION)

2004

2003

-

1
1

(NOK MILLION)

2004

2003

Short term receivables group companies
Other receivables
Total

292
2
294

383
3
386

Prepaid pension cost (note 14)
Total

Note 10. RECEIVABLES
Receivables consist of:

Note 11. CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS
Schibsted ASA's bank accounts are part of the Schibsted Group’s cash pool with Danske Bank. The cash pool system is
created to optimise cash management within the Group. The cash pool is led and administrated by Schibsted Finans
AS. Schibsted ASA has per December 31, 2004 an overdraft of NOK 322 million in the cash pool system. The overdraft
is included in Current liabilities.

Note 12. OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE
Shareholders at 31 December, 2004:
NUMBER OF SHARES

SHARE %

Blommenholm Industrier AS - Tinius Nagell-Erichsen
State Street Bank & Trust Co
Folketrygdfondet
JP Morgan Chase Bank
Mellon Bank
Schibsted ASA
Vital Forsikring ASA
State Street Bank & Trust Co
Goldman Sachs Intern Equity Nontreaty Cus
Orkla ASA
JP Morgan Chase Bank Fidelity Lending Acc
JP Morgan Chase Bank Schroeders Lux Exclus
Morgan Stanley and C Clients Safe Custody
Guri Scotford’s Schibsted Trust
The Northern Trust C Treaty Account
Morgan Stanley & Co. S/A Customer Segr.
Bank of New York, BR BNY GCM Client Acc
The Northern Trust Treaty Acc
Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken
Avanse Fondsforvaltning

18 083 520
7 573 130
4 945 000
3 873 019
3 725 209
1 320 470
1 232 846
1 030 110
896 919
880 450
854 550
713 000
694 814
650 000
547 480
523 570
502 250
493 107
472 961
465 616

26.11
10.94
7.14
5.59
5.38
1.91
1.78
1.49
1.30
1.27
1.23
1.03
1.00
0.94
0.79
0.76
0.73
0.71
0,68
0.67

20 largest shareholders

49 478 021

71.45

Berit Bjerg
Monica Birgitta Caneman

742
-
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3
2
26
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Billingstad
Harstad
Stockholm
Oslo

NUMBER OF SHARES
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Grete Faremo
Alexandra Bech Gjørv
Hilde Harbo
Cato A. Holmsen
Håkon Olav Kjernsmo
Gunnar Nordby
Jan Reinås
Ole Jacob Sunde
Kjell Aamot
Trond Berger
Jan Erik Knarbakk
Birger Magnus
Sverre Munck

705
3 200
77
705
50 000
16 705
5 529
4 479
9 002
3 452

Total Board of Directors and Group Management

94 596

Total number of shares outstanding as per December 31, 2004 is 69 250 000 and number of shareholders is 4 425.
Foreign ownership is 47.8%. Schibsted ASA holds 1 320 470 own shares per 31 December, 2004.

Note 13: EQUITY
Changes in shareholders’ equity were as follows in 2004:

(NOK MILLION)

Shareholders’ equity at 31 Dec 2003
Sale of own shares
Net income
Dividends
Shareholders’ equity at 31 Dec 2004

SHARE

OTHER

SHARE

OWN

PREMIUM

PAID IN

OTHER

CAPITAL

SHARES

RESERVE

CAPITAL

EQUITY

69

(1)

76

5

69

(1)

76

5

957
14
177
(221)
927

TOTAL

1 101
19
177
(221)
1 076

Schibsted ASAs share capital consists of 69 250 000 shares par value NOK 1. Par value of own shares is presented in a
separate line within Paid in capital. Cost of acquisition of own shares in excess of par value is deducted from other
equity. Net gain on sale of own shares are classified as other paid in capital.

Note 14: PENSION PLANS
For description and assumptions of the pension plans and a breakdown of plan assets for Schibsted ASA, see note 20
to the consolidated financial statements.
As per December 31, 2004 the pension plan had 52 members.
Breakdown of net pension cost:
(NOK MILLION)

Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Net pension cost

2004

6
3
(3)
6

2003

5
2
(3)
4

Breakdown of net pension liabilities at 31 December:
(NOK MILLION)

2004

2003

Accumulated benefit obligation
Value of future wage growth
Projected benefit obligation
Plan assets
Calculated net pension liabilities
Unrecognised gains and losses
Net pension liabilities

(62)
(17)
(79)
50
(29)
8
(21)

(44)
(10)
(54)
43
(11)
(5)
(16)

Of which prepaid pension cost
Of which accrued pension liabilities

(21)

1
(17)

Note 15. CURRENT LIABILITIES
Current liabilities consist of following items:
2003

Trade creditors
Taxes payable (note 7)
Public duties payable
Dividends payable
Short term liabilities group company (cash pool system) (note 11)
Short term liabilities group companies
Other current liabilities
Total

5
15
7
221
322
122
19
711

3
4
203
277
187
15
689

2004

2003

3 889
126
14
4 029

2 859
211
14
3 084

Note 16. GUARANTEES
(NOK MILLION)

Guarantees in respect of loans to group companies
Other guarantees in respect of group companies
Other guarantees
Total

Of total committed loans of NOK 3.9 billion to group companies guaranteed by Schibsted ASA, NOK 1.6 billion was
drawn at December 31, 2004. NOK 1.9 billion was drawn at December 31, 2003. Other guarantees in respect of group
companies includes guarantees of up to NOK 125 million towards Danske Bank in respect of guarantiees for tax withholdings and other guarantees issued by Danske Bank in respect of subsidiaries. Schibsted ASA has issued guarantees in
respect of loans to employees in the Schibsted Group totalling NOK 10 million, and issue guarantees in respect of
unfunded pension liabilities totalling NOK 4 million.

Note 17. GUARANTEES IN RESPECT OF EMPLOYEES
Schibsted ASA has issued guarantees in respect of loans to employees in the Group totalling NOK 10 million of which
guarantees in respect of members of the Group Management amounts to NOK 2 million. The loans have an optional
repayment plan and an interest rate of 1 % under marked interest in 2004.
Guarantees in respect of the Group Management are allocated as follows:
(NOK 1000)

Kjell Aamot
Trond Berger
Sverre Munck
Total

800
803
394
1 997
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Company Structure

NEWSPAPERS

FILM- AND TV-PRODUCTIONS

>

>

>

>
>
>

>
>

Aftenposten AS
• Retriever AS
• Aftenposten Multimedia AS
• FINN.no AS
Verdens Gang AS
• VG Multimedia AS
• Avisretur AS
Aftonbladet Hierta AB *
• Hierta Förlag AB
• Aftonbladet Nya Medier AB
Svenska Dagbladet Holding AB
Gratisavisen Avis 1 AS
20 Min Holding AG
• 20 Minuten (Schweiz) AG
• Multiprensa Holding SL
20 Minutes France S.A.S.
Blocket AB
• Byt Bil Nordic AB

NO
NO/SE
NO
NO
NO
NO
NO
SE
SE
SE
SE
NO
CH
CH
ES
FR
SE
SE

100 %
100 %
100 %
62 %
100 %
100 %
50 %
49 %
100 %
100 %
99 %
100 %
100 %
50,5 %
100 %
50 %
72,8 %
92 %

REGIONAL NEWSPAPERS

>
>
>
>
>

Harstad Tidende Gruppen AS
Stavanger Aftenblad ASA
Fædrelandsvennen AS
Bergens Tidende AS
Adresseavisen ASA

>

>

AS Kanal 2
AS Eesti Meedia
• AS Postimees
• AS Ajakirjade Kirjastus
(Estonian Magazine Group)
• AS SL Õhtuleht
ZLG

>

Schibsted Trykk AS
AS Kroonpress
Tidningstryckarna Aftonbladet
Svenska Dagbladet AB
Harstad Tidende Gruppen Trykk

>
>

Scanpix Scandinavia AB
• Scanpix Danmark AS
• Scanpix Norge AS
• Scanpix Sverige AB
• Scanpix Baltics
Norsk Telegrambyrå AS (NTB)
Tidningarnas Telegrambyrå AB

*) Schibsted controls 100 %

65 %

60 %
100 %
100 %
100 %
50 %
100 %
83 %
56 %
94 %
95 %
97 %
75 %
100 %
100 %
100 %
100 %
100 %

Sandrew Metronome AB
• Sandrew Metronome Sverige AB
• Sandrew Metronome Distribution Sverige AB
• Sandrew Metronome International AB
• Sandrew Metronome Danmark AS
• Sandrew Metronome Video Danmark AS
• Sandrew Metronome Bio Danmark AS
• Sandrew Metronome Finland OY AB
• Sandrew Metronome Distribution Finland OY AB
• Sandrew Metronome Norge AS

SE
SE
SE
SE
DK
DK
DK
FI
FI
NO

50 %
100 %
100 %
100 %
100 %
100 %
100 %
95 %
100 %
100 %

TV 2 Gruppen AS
• TV 2 Interaktiv AS
• TV 2 Nettavisen AS
• TV 2 Invest AS
• Kanal 24 Norge AS

NO
NO
NO
NO
NO

33 %
88 %
100 %
100 %
34 %

NO
SE
SE
SE
SE
NO

100 %
100 %
100 %
100 %
50 %
50 %

Filmlance International AB
Meter Fakta AB
Meter Film & Television AB
Mutter Media AB (Mekaniken)
Big Brother KB
Rubicon TV AS
Metronome Spartacus AS
Intrige Television AS
Metronome Film & Television OY
Metronome Productions AS
Metronome Studios AS
European Film Group AS
Blarke, Sonne Levring AS
Bullet Productions AS
Moland Film Company AS
Moland Film Company AS
Otto Tuanato OY

DISTRUBUTION AND RIGHTS

NO
NO
NO
NO
NO

50 %
31 %
25 %
24 %
32 %

EE
EE
EE
EE

100%
93 %
100 %
50 %

EE
LT

50 %
66,7%

NO
EE

100 %
99,7 %

SE
NO

100%
50%

SE
DK
NO
SE
EE
NO
SE

75 %
49 %
50 %
100 %
100 %
22 %
30 %

PICTURES AND NEWS AGENCIES

>

SE

SE
SE
SE
SE
SE
NO
NO
NO
FI
DK
DK
DK
DK
DK
DK
NO
FI

•
•
•

>

TV

>

PRINTING PLANTS

>
>
>

Metronome Film & Television AB

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

SCHIBSTED IN BALTICS

>
>
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SCHIBSTED PUBLISHING COMPANIES

>

Schibsted Forlagene AS
• Full Stop Media AB
• Svenska Förlaget AB
• Boknöje AB
• Manga Media AB
• Dagens Medisin AS

>

Schibsted Ownership
• Subsidiary’s Ownership
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Aftenposten
Biskop Gunnerus gate 14
P.O. Box 1
NO-0159 OSLO
Telephone: + 47 22 86 30 00
Fax: + 47 22 86 40 39
E-mail: aftenposten@aftenposten.no
www.aftenposten.no
AFTONBLADET
Arenavägen 63, Globen City
SE-105 18 STOCKHOLM
Telephone: + 46 8 725 20 00
Fax: + 46 8 600 01 70 (adm.) + 46 8 600 01 77
(editorial office)
E-mail: ettan@aftonbladet.se (tips),
lesarservice@aftonbladet.se (readers’ service)
www.aftonbladet.se
avis1
Biskop Gunnerus gate 14
P.O. Box 1
NO-0159 OSLO
Telephone: + 47 22 33 10 00
Mobile/Fax: + 47 949 58 896
E-mail: avis1@avis1.com
www.avis1.no

BOKKILDEN
Grensen 16
P.O. Box 1178 Sentrum
NO-0107 OSLO
Telephone: + 47 23 31 77 00
Fax: + 47 23 31 77 01
E-mail: kundeservice@
bokkilden.no
www.bokkilden.no

HARSTAD TIDENDE GROUP

Storgata 11
P.O. Box 80
NO-9480 HARSTAD
Telephon: + 47 77 01 80 00
Fax: + 47 77 01 80 06
METRONOME FILM & TELEVISION
Magasin 5, Frihamnen
P.O. Box 27 837
SE-115 93 STOCKHOLM
Telephone: + 46 8 459 73 40
Fax: + 46 8 459 73 49
E-mail: ingemar.olsson@metronome.se
www.metronome.se
SANDREW METRONOME
Floragatan 4
P.O. Box 5612
SE-114 86 STOCKHOLM
Telephone: + 46 8 762 17 00
Fax: + 46 8 762 17 80
E-mail: morten.kongrod@
sandrewmetronome.com
www.sandrewmetronome.se
www.sandrewmetronome.no
www.sandrewmetronome.dk
www.sandrewmetronome.fi
SCANPIX SCANDINAVIA
Smedjegatan 6
P.O. Box 860
SE-131 25 NACKA
Telephone: + 46 8 52 72 50 00
Fax: + 46 8 52 72 50 01
E-mail: info@scanpix.com
www.scanpix.com

DAGENS MEDISIN
Apotekergaten 12
P.O. Box 6970 St. Olavs plass
NO-0130 OSLO
Telephone: + 47 24 14 68 70
Fax: + 47 24 14 68 71
E-mail: post@
dagensmedisin.no
www.dagensmedisin.no

SCHIBSTED FORLAGENE

EESTI MEEDIA GROUP
Maakri 23a
EE-10145 TALLIN
Telephone: + 372 666 2350
Fax: + 372 666 2351
E-mail: mart.kadastik@eestimeedia.ee
www.eestimeedia.ee

SCHIBSTED MOBILE
Pilestredet 10
P.O. Box 1178 Sentrum
NO-0107 OSLO
Telephone: + 47 23 10 67 80
Fax: + 47 23 10 67 81
E-mail: administrasjon@inpoc.com
www.inpoc.com

FINN.NO
Grensen 5
P.O. Box 1178 Sentrum
NO-0107 OSLO
Telephone: + 47 22 86 44 10
Fax: + 47 22 82 78 23
E-mail: kundesenter@finn.no
www.finn.no

Apotekergaten 12
P.O. Box 6974 St. Olavs plass
NO-0130 OSLO
Telephone : + 47 24 14 68 00
Fax: + 47 24 14 68 01
E-mail:
schibstedforlagene@schibstedforlagene.no
www.shchibstedforlagene.no

SCHIBSTED TRYKK
Sandakerveien 121
P.O. Box 4583 Nydalen
NO-0404 OSLO
Telephone: + 47 23 39 10 00
Fax: + 47 23 39 10 01
E-mail: schibsted.trykk@strykk.no

SVENSKA DAGBLADET
Mäster Samuelsgatan 56
SE-105 17 STOCKHOLM
Telephone: + 46 8 13 50 00
Fax: + 46 8 13 58 50
E-mail: webmaster@svd.se
www.svd.se
SVENSKA FÖRLAGET
Döbelnsgatan 21
P.O. Box 3313
SE-103 66 STOCKHOLM
Telephone: + 46 8 412 27 00
Fax: + 46 8 411 41 30
E-mail: lena.kjellgren@svenskaforlaget.com
www.svenskaforlaget.com
TIDNINGSTRYCKARNA AFTONBLADET
SVENSKA DAGBLADET
Vandagatan 3, Akalla
Box 45
SE-164 93 KISTA
Telephone: + 46 8 703 43 00
Fax: + 46 8 703 90 04
E-mail: headquarter@ttab.se
VERDENS GANG
Akersgaten 55
P.O. Box 1185 Sentrum
NO-0107 OSLO
Telephone: + 47 22 00 00 00
Fax: + 47 22 42 67 80
E-mail: info@vg.no
www.vg.no
20 MIN HOLDING
Thurgauerstrasse 40
CH-8050 ZÜRICH
Telephone: + 41 1 307 42 82
Fax: + 41 1 307 42 81
E-mail: info@20minutes.com
www.20minuten.ch
www.20minutes.fr
www.20minutos.es
SCHIBSTED ASA
Apotekergaten 10
P.O. Box 490 Sentrum
NO-0105 OSLO
Telephone + 47 23 10 66 00
Fax + 47 23 10 66 01
E-mail: schibsted@schibsted.no
www.schibsted.no

The addresses of all Schibsted’s subsidiaries
can be found at www.schibsted.no
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